UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF
1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-40205
EQUINIX, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
Delaware 77-0487526
(State of incorporation) (L.LR.S. Employer Identification No.)
One Lagoon Drive, Redwood City, California 94065
(Address of principal executive offices, including 2P code)
(650) 598-6000
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code)
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered
Common Stock, $0.001 EQIX The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
0.250% Senior Notes due 2027 The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
1.000% Senior Notes due 2033 The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
3.650% Senior Notes due 2033 The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
3.250% Senior Notes due 2031 The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC
3.625% Senior Notes due 2034 The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes No [J

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [1 No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such
filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes No [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405
of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such
files). Yes No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or
an emerging growth company. See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,"
"accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company," and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.

Large accelerated filer Accelerated filer O
Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O
Emerging growth company O

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any
new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its internal
control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared
or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in
the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements. [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation
received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to § 240.10D-1(b). [

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes [1 No
The aggregate market value of the woting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the price at which the

common stock was last sold as of the last business day of the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter was approximately $71.8
billion. As of February 11, 2025, a total of 97,332,005 shares of the registrant's common stock were outstanding.



DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Part lll — Portions of the registrant's definitive proxy statement to be issued in conjunction with the registrant's 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which is expected to be filed not later than 120 days after the registrant's fiscal year ended December 31, 2024. Except as expressly incorporated by
reference, the registrant's proxy statement shall not be deemed to be a part of this report on Form 10-K.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

g
3

7

©oceP N O

9A.
9B.

15.
16.

EQUINIX, INC.
FORM 10-K
December 31, 2024

PART |

Forward-Looking Statements
Summary of Risk Factors
Business

Risk Factors

Unresolved Staff Comments
Cybersecurity

Properties

Legal Proceedings

Mine Safety Disclosures

PART Il

Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Resened

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Controls and Procedures

Other Information

Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

PART Il

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Executive Compensation

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Principal Accounting Fees and Senvices

PART IV

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
Form 10-K Summary
Signatures

50

52
73
75
75
75
76

76

4
4

4
4

78

86



Table of Contents

PART |

Forward-Looking Statements

The words "Equinix”, "we", "our", "ours", "us" and the "Company" refer to Equinix, Inc. All statements in this discussion that are not historical are
forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, including statements regarding
Equinix's "expectations”, "beliefs", "intentions", "strategies", "forecasts", "predictions”, "plans" or the like. Such statements are based on
management's current expectations and are subject to a number of factors and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ matenally from
those described in the forward-looking statements. Equinix cautions investors that there can be no assurance that actual results or business conditions
will not diiffer materially from those projected or suggested in such forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including, but not limited to,
the risk factors discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Equinix expressly disclaims any obligation or undertaking to release publicly any updates
or revisions to any forward-looking statements contained herein to reflect any change in Equinix's expectations with regard thereto or any change in
events, conditions, or circumstances on which any such statements are based.

Summary of Risk Factors

Our business is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties that make an investment in our securities speculative or risky, any one of which could
materially adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition or business. These risks include, but are not limited to, those listed below. This
list is not complete, and should be read together with the section titled “Risk Factors” in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as well as the other
information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the other filings that we make with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).

Risks Related to the Macro Environment

+  Geopolitical events and political changes, including the recent change in administration in the U.S., contribute to an already complex and
ewlving regulatory landscape. If we cannot comply with the evolving laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate, we may be
subject to litigation and/or sanctions, adverse revenue impacts and increased costs, and our business and results of operations could be
negatively impacted.

+ Inflation in the global economy, increased interest rates, political dissension and adverse global economic conditions, like the ones we are
currently experiencing, could negatively affect our business and financial condition.

»  Our business could be harmed by increased costs to procure power, prolonged power outages, shortages or capacity constraints as well as
insufficient access to power.

+ The ongoing military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East could negatively affect our business and financial condition.

Risks Related to our Operations

»  We experienced a cybersecurity incident in the past and may be winerable to future security breaches, which could disrupt our operations and
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition.

* Any failure of our physical infrastructure or negative impact on our ability to meet our obligations to our customers, or damage to customer
infrastructure within our IBX data centers, could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenue and harm our business
reputation and financial condition.

*+  We are currently making significant investments in our back-office information technology systems and processes. Difficulties from or
disruptions to these efforts may interrupt our normal operations and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

» The lewel of insurance cowerage that we purchase may prove to be inadequate.

+ If we are unable to successfully implement our current leadership transition, or if we are unable to recruit or retain key qualified personnel, our
business could be harmed.

» The failure to obtain favorable terms when we renew our IBX data center leases, or the failure to renew such leases, could harm our business
and results of operations.
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We depend on a number of third parties to provide intemet connectivity to our IBX data centers; if connectivity is interrupted or terminated, our
results of operations and cash flow could be materially and adversely affected.

The use of high-power density equipment may limit our ability to fully utilize the space in our older IBX data centers.

The development and use of artificial intelligence in the workplace presents risks and challenges that may adwversely impact our business and
operating results.

We hawe been, and in the future may be, subject to securities class action and other litigation, which may harm our business and results of
operations.

Risks Related to our Offerings and Customers

Our offerings hawve a long sales cycle that may harm our revenue and results of operations.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

If we cannot continue to dewelop, acquire, market and provide new offerings or enhancements to existing offerings that meet customer
requirements and differentiate us from our competitors, our results of operations could suffer.

We hawe government customers, which subjects us to revenue risk and certain other risks including early termination, audits, investigations,
sanctions and penalties, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Because we depend on the development and growth of a balanced customer base, including key magnet customers, failure to attract, grow and
retain this base of customers could harm our business and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Financial Results

The market price of our stock may continue to be highly volatile, and the value of an investment in our common stock may decline.

Our results of operations may fluctuate.

We may incur goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges, or impairment charges to our property, plant and equipment, which could
result in a significant reduction to our eamings.

We hawe incurred substantial losses in the past and may incur additional losses in the future.

Risks Related to Our Expansion Plans

Our construction of new IBX data centers, IBX data center expansions or IBX data center redevelopment could inwolve significant risks to our
business.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may not realize the financial or strategic goals that were contemplated at the time of any transaction.
The anticipated benefits of our joint ventures may not be fully realized, or take longer to realize than expected.

Joint venture investments could expose us to risks and liabilities in connection with the formation of the new joint ventures, the operation of such
joint ventures without sole decision-making authority, and our reliance on joint venture partners who may have economic and business interests
that are inconsistent with our business interests.

If we cannot effectively manage our intemational operations and successfully implement our intemational expansion plans, our business and
results of operations would be adversely impacted.

We continue to invest in our expansion efforts, but may not have sufficient customer demand in the future to realize expected retums on these
investments.

Risks Related to Our Capital Needs and Capital Strategy

Our substantial debt could adversely affect our cash flows and limit our fiexibility to raise additional capital.

Sales or issuances of shares of our common stock may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

If we are not able to generate sufficient operating cash flows or obtain extemnal financing, our ability to fund incremental expansion plans may be
limited.

Our derivative transactions expose us to counterparty credit risk.

Risks Related to Environmental Laws and Climate Change Impact

Environmental regulations may impose upon us new or unexpected costs.
Our business may be adwersely affected by physical risks related to climate change and our response to it.
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*  We may fail to achieve our sustainability objectives, or may encounter objections to them, either of which may adversely affect public perception
of our business and affect our relationship with our customers, our stockholders and/or other stakeholders.

Risks Related to Certain Regqulations and Laws, Including Tax Laws

+  Gowernment regulation related to our business or failure to comply with laws and regulations may adwersely affect our business.

» Changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof, including changes to tax rates, may adwersely affect our financial
statements and cash taxes.

»  Our business could be adwersely affected if we are unable to maintain our complex global legal entity structure.

Risks Related to Our REIT Status in the U.S.

*  We hawe a number of risks related to our qualification as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes ("REIT"), including the
risk that we may not be able to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT which could expose us to substantial corporate income tax and
have a materially adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

ITEM1. Business
Overview: Enabling Innovation for the Digital World

Equinix (Nasdag: EQIX) is the world's digital infrastructure company®. Digital leaders hamess our trusted platform to bring together and interconnect
the foundational infrastructure that powers their success. Equinix enables organizations to access all the right places, partners and possibilities they
need to accelerate their advantage. Platform Equinix combines a global footprint of Intemational Business Exchange™ (IBX®) and xScale® data centers
in the Americas, Asia-Pacific, and Europe, the Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") regions, infrastructure and interconnection offerings, unique business
and digital ecosystems and expert consulting and support.

Equinix was incorporated on June 22, 1998 as a Delaware corporation and operates as a REIT for federal income tax purposes. Al Avery and Jay
Adelson founded Equinix as a network-neutral, multi-tenant data center ("MTDC") provider, where competing networks could connect and share data
traffic to help scale the rapid growth of the early intemet. The company’s name, Equinix (composed from the words "equality,” "neutrality" and "intemet
exchange"), reflects that vision. The founders believed they not only had the opportunity, but also the responsibility to create a company that would be
the steward of some of the most important digital infrastructure assets in the world. Over two and a half decades later, we have expanded upon that
vision to build Platform Equinix®, which we believe is unmatched in scale and reach.

Our data centers around the world allow our customers to bring together and interconnect the infrastructure they need to fast-track their digital
advantage. With Equinix, they can scale with agility, accelerate the launch of digital offerings, deliver world-class experiences and multiply their value.
We enable them to differentiate by distributing infrastructure and removing the distance between clouds, users and applications in order to reduce
latency and deliver a superior customer, partner and employee experience. The Equinix global platform, and the quality of our offerings, have enabled us
to establish a critical mass of customers. As more customers choose Platform Equinix for bandwidth cost and performance reasons, it benefits their
suppliers and business partners to colocate in the same data centers and connect directly with each other. This adjacency creates a network effect that
attracts new customers, continuously enhances our existing customers' value and enables them to capture further economic and performance benefits
from our offerings.
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In 2024, we opened 16 new data centers, inclusive of new xScale sites via our joint ventures. Our new data center openings included sites in the
following metros: Barcelona, Istanbul, Johannesburg, Johor, Kuala Lumpur, Madrid, Mumbai, New York, Osaka, Paris, Rio de Janeiro, Seoul, Silicon
Valley, Tokyo and Warsaw. When including an additional data center which opened in February 2025, this results in an increase in our total number of
data center facilities to 268. Additional 2024 highlights include:

In April, we sold the Silicon Valley 12 (“SV12”) data center site in connection with the formation of a new joint venture ("JV") to dewelop and
operate the first xScale data center in the U.S. The facility will be built out in two phases and is expected to provide more than 28 MW of power
capacity when completed.

In July, we announced our entry into the Philippines with the planned acquisition of three data centers in Manila for a stated purchase price of
$180 million, subject to certain adjustments. The transaction is expected to close in the first half of 2025, subject to customary closing
conditions, and is expected to add more than 1,000 cabinets of capacity. This follows our recent expansions into Indonesia and Malaysia,
enabling us to help businesses expand and capitalize on the digital opportunity of the fast-growing Southeast Asia region.

In October, we entered into an agreement to form a joint venture to dewelop and operate data centers in the Americas region, subject to
regulatory approval and other closing conditions which were satisfied on October 30, 2024. With the $15.0 billion of capital expected to be raised
through this joint venture, we expect to accelerate xScale deployment in the U.S., eventually adding more than 1.5 gigawatts of new capacity for
hyperscale customers.

In November, we announced plans to build our sixth data center in Singapore. This new high performance data center will feature a design built
to efficiently compute intensive workloads like artificial intelligence ("Al"), supported by capabilities such as advanced liquid cooling. Expected to
open in Q1 2027, the 9-story facility was awarded as part of Singapore's pilot Data Centre - Call for Application and will provide 20MW of power
capacity when fully built.

Industry Trends: The rise of intelligent ecosystems

The digital economy is advancing rapidly, driven by exponential data growth, ecosystem collaboration and edge-to-cloud innovations. Interconnected
networks are transforming business operations and enabling organizations to scale, innovate and thrive. Emerging trends shaping this landscape include:

The digital shift: Industries are becoming smarter, faster and more adaptable as Al enhances decision-making and automates tasks.
Businesses are shifting from traditional, siloed models to interconnected ecosystems, where collaboration and seamless integration of senices
drive value at scale. Digital-first strategies are empowering businesses to transition from static product offerings to dynamic, outcome-based
senices, hamessing real-time data and ecosystem interconnections as competitive advantages.

The interconnection imperative: This digital shift is fostering collaboration and data sharing, forming tightly connected networks of
businesses and partners. These networks are reshaping supply and value chains into intelligent, senice-based systems, with rapidly growing
data and participant ecosystems driving efficiency and innovation. Interconnection is becoming the backbone of the digital economy, enabling
real-time collaboration, operational scale and faster decision-making. Businesses investing in high-speed, low-atency connections are leading in
adapting to these complex, data-driven demands.
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* Ecosystem scalability: Organizations are leveraging interconnected ecosystems to expand market reach, streamline senice delivery and
unlock new revenue streams. Revenue is increasingly tied to participation in electronic ecosystems rather than standalone transactions. The
emergence of dynamic producer-consumer relationships, where businesses act as senice providers, consumers and intermediaries is gaining
traction. This adaptability enables businesses to meet ewvolving market demands while optimizing resource allocation and driving growth.

» Edge-tocloud transformation: Built upon the foundation of connectivity, edge-to-cloud workflows are enabling businesses to mowe data and
compute closer to where value is created. This layered strategy supports efficient data flows, reduces latency, and optimizes costs. By
introducing an authoritative data core distributed across areas of digital density—uwith low latency access to multiple clouds and Saa$S platforms
—businesses can achieve scalability and compliance. This approach, paired with a data edge for Retrieval-Augmented Generation ("RAG")
inference models, enables efficient Al and real-time applications in proximity to customers, business operations and endpoints of value delivery
and revenue generation.

+ Sustainability by design: Sustainability is a key priority for global organizations, as market expectations and regulations demand greener
practices. Interconnection and efficient digital infrastructures are critical in supporting net-zero goals. By adopting innovative, energy-efficient
technologies, businesses are not only reducing carbon footprints, but also building long-term resilience and value.

Interconnection remains the foundation of the digital economy, facilitating seamless data exchange and collaboration. Our research estimates that
private interconnection capacity will grow at a compound annual growth rate ("CAGR") of 29% by 2027, potentially nearing 40,000 terabits per second of
data exchanged annually. The growth reflects the increasing demand for scalable, high-performance networks to support Al, edge computing and
distributed ecosystem business models.

Worldwide Interconnection Bandwidth Capacity CAGR (2023-2027) in Terabits per Second (Tbps)
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Equinix Business Proposition: To Be the Platform Where the World Comes Together

In 2024, we continued to build new offerings to further our mission to make digital infrastructure more powerful, accessible and sustainable. On
Platform Equinix, businesses can reach the most strategic markets with scalable, navigable infrastructure that blends physical and virtual options on our
one-of-a-kind global ecosystem. We enable competitive advantage for our customers and partners by creating the foundational infrastructure capabilities
that hamess innovation and create value. We offer a comprehensive, integrated suite of infrastructure and interconnection solutions and products to over
10,000 enterprise and senice provider customers worldwide.
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Our global, state-of-the-art data centers meet strict standards of security, reliability, certification and sustainability. Our footprint consists of 268 data
centers worldwide:

IBX Data Centers are our carmier-neutral colocation data centers, providing our customers with the secure, reliable and robust environments
(including space and power) necessary to aggregate and distribute information and connect digital and business ecosystems globally. IBX data
centers provde access to \ital ecosystems where enterprises, network, cloud and SaaS providers, and business partners, can directly and
securely interconnect to each other.

xScale Data Centers are designed to serne the unique core workload deployment needs of a targeted group of hyperscale companies, which
include the world's largest cloud senice providers. Hyperscalers require infrastructure to support demanding workload requirements for cloud and
Al initiatives. With xScale data centers, which are deweloped and operated through our joint venture partnership arrangements, hyperscale
customers add to their core hyperscale data center deployments and existing customer access points at Equinix, allowing streamlined
expansion with a single global vendor.

The following are the leading revenue-generating products and other offerings that collectively make up Platform Equinix:

Infrastructure Offerings

Equinix infrastructure offerings include a suite of comprehensive solutions that provide all the components required by a customer to house its IT
infrastructure or equipment. These offerings are designed to speed and streamline data center deployments for our customers. These offerings are
typically billed based on the space and power a customer consumes in our IBX data centers, are delivered under a fixed duration contract and generate
monthly recurring revenue ("MRR").

Private Cages are typically designed and built to order for a single customer, with space assigned based on purchased power allocations and
planned cabinet quantity. A cage typically includes steel mesh walls with a locking door, interconnection provision such as a demarcation rack
with patch panels, and cabling systems such as a ladder rack and fiber raceway. Available security accessories include dedicated cameras,
biometric hand scanners and more.

Secure Cabinets are steel-framed cabinets sized to industry standards and typically configured to order, with lockable, fully ventilated doors.
Secure cabinets provide a private, secure, smaller-footprint altemative to a Private Cage. Each cabinet includes an integrated, interconnection-
ready demarcation panel and power circuitry sufficient to support planned utilization requirements. Secure cabinets are typically housed in a
shared, secured cage within the data center facility.

Secure Cabinet Express are ready for senice secure cabinets that are preconfigured to fit Equinix recommendations and most modem IT
deployment requirements, providing a simplified and globally consistent colocation module for cabinet-sized deployments.

Equinix offers a variety of enabling solutions that support a customer's need to implement, operate and maintain its colocated deployments. These
solutions include both on-consumption and subscription senices that may generate MRR as well as non-recurring revenue ("NRR").
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Equinix Smart View® is a fully integrated monitoring software that provides customers \isibility into the operating data relevant to their specific
Equinix footprint as if they were in-house. The software provides online access to real-time environmental and operating data through the Equinix
Customer Portal or via either REST (application programming interfaces ("APIs") that provide customers the ability to retrieve information about
their assets from every IBXlocation) or streaming API integrations. With real-time alerts and configurable reporting, Equinix SmartView allows
customers to maintain their IBX operations and plan for future growth.

Equinix Smart Hands® provides around-the-clock, on-site operational support senice for remote management, installation and troubleshooting
of customer data center equipment. Using Equinix IBX data center technicians, Smart Hands allows customers to manage their Platform
Equinix data center operations from anywhere in the world.

Equinix Smart Build ("ESB") provides customers with an easy way to accelerate and simplify world-class data center deployments with expert
support. ESBs are repeatable, proven processes that address larger, more complex data center jobs, including installation and implementation
of new builds and planned migrations. ESB practices deliver Equinix expertise in colocation design to optimize our customers’ data center
needs, including structured cabling, labeling and documentation, procurement recommendations and coordination, and secure de-installation.

Equinix Managed Solutions and Enablement Services offer fiexible and easy-to-consume managed platforms for cloud, storage, backup

and firewall, built on top of neutral, leading technology. Combined with simplified implementation of Equinix Fabric and Network Edge, these
managed senices leverage customer hybrid and multicloud experiences, allowing organizations to prioritize their core business functions.

Interconnection Offerings

Our interconnection solutions connect businesses directly, securely and dynamically within and between our data centers across our global
platform. These solutions are typically billed based on the outbound connections from a customer and generate MRR.

Equinix Fabric® provides secure, on-demand, software-defined interconnection. Built specifically for digital infrastructure, Equinix Fabric
enables businesses to connect globally to their choice of thousands of networking, storage, compute and application senice providers in the
industry’s largest infrastructure ecosystem. As the foundation of Platform Equinix’s interconnection capability, Equinix Fabric also enables
customers to quickly and easily connect between the physical and virtual digital infrastructures they have deployed in Equinix data centers
globally.

Equinix Fabric Cloud Router makes it easy to connect applications and data across different clouds. With high-performance and secure
private connections, protecting data from exposure to the public intemet, these enterprise-grade connections offer virtually unlimited bandwidth
and built-in resiliency. Fabric Cloud Router also reduces networking costs, lowers cloud egress charges and enables elastic bandwidth
consumption so customers pay for only what they need.

Equinix Cross Connects provide a point-to-point cable link between two Equinix customers in the same data center. Cross connects deliver
fast, convenient, affordable and highly reliable connectivity and data exchange with business partners and senice providers within the Equinix
ecosystem.

Equinix Internet Exchange enables networks, content providers and large enterprises to exchange intemet traffic through the largest global
peering solution. Senice providers can aggregate traffic to multiple counterparties, called peers, on one physical port and handle multiple small
peers while moving high-traffic peers to private interconnections. This reduces latency for end users when accessing content and applications.

Equinix Internet Access is an agile, scalable, resilient and high-performing managed intemet access solution. Offering multiple upstream Tier 1
provders per metro and connections to all Equinix and major third-party intemet exchanges, with over 300 private peering relationships, it
delivers superior availability and performance. Intemet Access senes as a one-stop shop for businesses, offering both physical and virtual
connection options with Equinix Fabric and Network Edge to deliver primary and secondary intemet access solutions. Available in 60+ markets,
Internet Access allows scalable bandwidth to meet growing usage needs, empowering businesses to innovate in the digital age.

Fiber Connect provides dark fiber links between customers and partners between multiple Equinix data centers. Fiber Connect enables fast,
conwenient and affordable integration with partners, customers and
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senice providers across the global Equinix digital ecosystem. It supports highly reliable, extremely low-latency communication, system
integration and data exchange.

*  Metro Connect® provides direct, dedicated, carrier-grade network links between customers in one IBX and partners in another IBX within the
same metro. Metro Connect provides integration with customers, partners and senice providers within the Equinix digital ecosystem, supplying
highly reliable, extremely low-latency communication, system integration and data exchange.

* Equinix Network Edge allows customers to modemize networks within minutes, by deploying network functions \irtualization ("NFV") from
multiple vendors across Equinix metros. Companies can select, deploy and connect \rtual network solutions at the edge quickly, with no
additional hardware requirements.

Competition

While a large number of enterprises and senice providers, such as hyperscale cloud senice providers, own their own data centers, we believe the
industry is shifting away from single-tenant solutions to customers outsourcing some or all of their IT housing and interconnection requirements to third-
party facilities, such as those operated by Equinix. This shift is being accelerated by the increasing adoption of hybrid multi-cloud architectures and the
adoption of Al.

Historically, the outsourcing market was senved by large telecommunications carriers that bundled their products and senices with their colocation
offerings. The data center market landscape has ewolved to include private and carier-neutral multi-tenant data centers, public and private cloud
providers, managed infrastructure and application hosting providers, large hyperscale cloud providers and systems integrators. It is estimated that
Equinix is one of more than 2,400 companies that provide MTDC offerings around the world. The global MTDC market is highly fragmented. Each of
these data center solution providers can bundle various colocation, interconnection and network offerings, outsourced IT infrastructure solutions and
managed senices. We believe that this outsourcing trend has accelerated and is likely to continue to accelerate in the coming years, especially in light
of the movement to digital business, the use of multiple cloud senice providers and the adoption of Al

Equinix is differentiated in this market by offering customers a global platform that reaches over 30 countries and contains the industry’s largest and
most active ecosystem of partners in our sites, including access to a leading share of cloud on-ramps and an increasingly diverse ecosystem of
networks and cloud and IT senice providers. This ecosystem creates a network effect, which improves performance and lowers the cost for our
customers, enabling them to innovate and fast-track their digital success. This is a significant source of competitive advantage for Equinix. Additionally,
as Al and cloud innovations fuel workload demands for hyperscale infrastructure and optimization across enterprises, our scalable, neutral, global
platform offers one-of-a-kind solutions to the most pressing digital challenges in today’s market. Our platform enables customers to bring together
physical and programmable technologies like compute, storage, network and applications to build the foundation for their company's digital success.

Customers

Our customers include telecommunications carriers, mobile and other network senices providers, cloud and IT senices providers, digital media and
content providers, financial senices companies, and global enterprise ecosystems in various industries. We provide each company with access to a
choice of business partners and solutions based on their colocation, interconnection and managed IT senice needs, and we delivered 99.999%+
operational uptime across our global data centers in the previous fiscal year. As of December 31, 2024, we had over 10,000 customers worldwide. No
one customer made up 10% or more of our total business revenues for the year ended December 31, 2024.

10
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The following companies represent some of our leading customers and partners:

We sene our customers with a direct sales force and channel marketing program. We organize our sales force by customer type, as well as by
establishing a sales presence in diverse geographic regions, which enables efficient senicing of the customer base from a network of regional offices.
We also support our customers with a global customer care organization.

Human Capital

As of December 31, 2024, we had 13,606 employees worldwide with 5,952 based in the Americas, 4,653 based in EMEA and 3,001 based in Asia-
Pacific. Of those employees, 43% of employees were in engineering and operations, 15% of employees were in sales and marketing and 42% of
employees were in management, finance and administration. As of December 31, 2024, approximately 71% of our workforce identified as men, 28%
identified as women and less than 1% declined to identify.

Equinix remains steadfast in its commitment to create a thriving workplace where we foster belonging for all— where every one of our colleagues is
valued and respected for who they are and what they contribute. Our objective is to continue to make our culture a critical competitive advantage,
engaging every leader and every employee in the process.

Our talent strategies focus on attracting, deweloping and retaining a diverse, global workforce; building leadership capability and accountability; and
empowering employees to do the best work of their lives. We continue to leverage and expand our recruiting pathways to attract qualified talent from
adjacent industries and reach emerging talent pools. For example, in 2024, we welcomed our second neurodiverse intem cohort in partnership with
Disability:IN and the Global Military Pathways program continues to hire military candidates across all regions. Dewveloping and retaining talent is \ital to
our continued success and in 2024, we focused on leadership development, starting with our VP+ leaders, by offering programs that feature extemal
experts to speak on topics ranging from strategic alignment, team leadership, and industry relevant topics. We also ewolved our performance
management approach, increasing simplicity and clarity through consistent feedback between employees and their managers.

We believe in equal pay and equal opportunity for everyone. Equinix remains committed to ensuring we hawe consistent practices in place to
recognize, reward and promote all employees, regardiess of gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation, or other protected class. Equinix operates a rigorous
govemnance framework to manage pay and other compensation elements to ensure that all reward decisions are made equitably and without
discrimination or bias. All roles are mapped and graded to one consistent global organizational framework. Each grade has a specific pay range informed
by benchmarking against the extemal market in the country in which the role is located. This global framework is also used to determine target lewvels for
annual bonuses and long-term incentives. We strive to update annually our global market data where information is available.

Our employee engagement efforts differentiate Equinix's culture and accelerate our competitive advantage as they lead to more inclusive and high
performing teams, higher employee satisfaction and owerall organizational innovation and success. In 2024, employee satisfaction scores resulted in an
awerage score of 81 for Equinix, followed by our average belonging score of 83 and average well-being score of 86. Our Employee Connection

11



Table of Contents

Networks ("EECNs") are a strategic comerstone of our inclusive culture, fostering a sense of belonging that drives engagement and business impact.
Open to all employees, our nine EECNs are designed to provide meaningful leaming opportunities, raise awareness of diverse perspectives, and
strengthen connections across the organization.

We recognize that creating the best workplace and culture requires a global effort with localized approaches. As of 2024, we hawe 40 global
WeAreEquinix teams, led by employee wlunteers, who are empowered to create and promote belonging in locations across the world. Through both
virtual and in-person connection, and in collaboration with the business and their local communities, these volunteer leaders create opportunities to
support Wellbeing, Sustainability, and Community engagement. Across our EECNs and WeAreEquinix teams, we currently have 853 wolunteer leaders
who are working on strengthening community and belonging for our workforce.

The Equinix Foundation and Equinix Community Impact program promote connection and belonging by enabling employees to give back through
wolunteer senices, donations and more, to the communities in which we work and live. In 2024, our employees wolunteered over 37,500 hours,
representing an increase of approximately 50% year-over-year. Since the launch of the Equinix Foundation in 2022, we have continued to focus on the
advancement of digital inclusion— from access to technology and connectivity to the skills needed to thrive in today's digitally-driven world.

We believe our commitment to the highest standards of honesty, integrity and ethical behavior differentiates our business as much as our
technology. We promote these high standards through a number of policies including the Equinix Code of Business Conduct. All employees are required
to complete training in ethics and the company’s anti-bribery and corruption policies. In addition, we maintain a confidential ethics helpline where
employees are encouraged to speak up if they have any questions or concems that our code of conduct is being violated. We hawe a zero-tolerance,
non-retaliation policy that protects our employees when they speak up.

Our comprehensive approach to health and safety combines global palicies, rigorous inspections and targeted training to foster a safe and supportive
work environment. This approach upholds our commitment to employee well-being across all our operations and limits senice disruptions, ensuring we
meet customer needs. Well-being is weawved into our employee experience and benefit offerings, driven globally through health programs, ergonomic
support, technology reimbursements, and a company-wide wellness day.

Our investment in furthering our human capital efforts aligns with our business strategy and enables Equinix's impact and success. We are
committed to creating a workplace that allows individuals to contribute their unique strengths, share their varied perspectives, and grow their skills
leading to meaningful and fulfilling careers.

Sustainability

At Equinix, our Future First sustainability strategy rallies our people and partners to envision a better future and then do what it takes to make it
happen. As the world’s digital infrastructure leader, we hawe the responsibility to hamess the power of technology to create a more connected and
sustainable future. The sustainability initiatives comprising our Future First strategy focus on material issues that hawe the greatest impact on our
stakeholders and our business. We continue to progress on our sustainability goals and look to build a business and world that reflects our purpose to
bring the world together on our platform to create innovations that will enrich our work, life and planet. We document our sustainability progress in our
Annual Report and in our annual Corporate Sustainability Report located on our corporate website.

In 2021, we set a validated near-term science-based target (“SBT’) for emissions reduction across our global operations and supply chain. Our
climate commitments are a critical step to ensure that we continue to advance investments and innovations to reduce greenhouse gas ("GHG")
emissions and keep global warming to 1.5 degrees Celsius in alignment with the Paris Climate Agreement. In addition, we published an Environmental
Sustainability and Global Climate Change Policy to detail our approach and practices related to the environment, climate change, resource efficiency
and reporting.

In 2022, we undertook a climate-related scenario analysis based on the Task Force on Climate Related Financial Disclosures ("TCFD")
recommendations. The analysis modeled physical risks across multiple climate change scenarios and time horizons. In 2023, we completed a transition
risk scenario analysis across several global decarbonization scenarios. The analysis indicated that our climate commitments directly reduce our risk
exposure to different future carbon policy environments that are aligned with the Paris Climate Agreement. We are continuing our work to embed climate
change risk management into our business where relevant.
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Environmental Performance

Equinix was the first data center company to set a long-term goal of 100% clean and renewable energy coverage across our global portfolio of IBXs.
Our purchasing principles include the use of clean and renewable energy, securing local renewable energy sources where possible, advocating for
favorable renewable energy policies, and considering renewable energy availability when locating new data centers. Since 2017, we have cowered 100%
of our U.S. load annually from a portfolio of renewable energy projects, utility green tariffs, and Renewable Energy Certificates ("RECs"), including 225
MW of wind power under long-term power purchase agreements ("PPAs") located in Oklahoma and Texas. As of December 31, 2024, we have executed
25 PPAs in 10 countries, which brings our total portfolio to 1,289 MW of new wind and solar capacity in Australia, Finland, France, India, ltaly, Portugal,
Singapore, Spain, Sweden, and the United States. In 2023, 96% of our global electricity consumption, and 100% of U.S. and European electricity
consumption, was covered by renewable energy sources.

We are committed to measuring and reporting our global Greenhouse Gas ("GHG") footprint across direct ("Scope 1"), indirect energy ("Scope 2")
and indirect value chain ("Scope 3") emission. As of 2023, we have achieved a 24% absolute reduction in operational GHG emissions from a 2019
baseline year (Scope 1 and Scope 2 market-based metric tons of carbon dioxide-equivalent ("mtCO2e")), even as the company increased its electricity
consumption by 43% over the same period. In 2024, Equinix achieved an 'A' leadership score within the CDP Climate Change Suney for the third
consecutive year. CDP is a global non-governmental organization dedicated to helping investors and companies measure and manage their climate
risks.

We are leweraging technology and innovation to encourage commercialization of solutions that will enable the “Data Center of the Future”. Since
2020, we hawe issued 10 tranches of green bonds approximating $6.9 billion to support our sustainability initiatives. In 2024, we updated our Green
Finance Framework, refreshing our eligibility criteria and introducing new categories, such as climate change adaptation. Our Green Finance Framework
aligns our sustainability commitments with our long-term financing needs and highlights our pipeline of sustainability projects and data center
innovations. As of December 31, 2023, we hawe allocated the net proceeds from $4.9 billion in issued green bonds to finance or refinance projects in
categories of green buildings, renewable energy and energy efficiency.

We are also advancing environmental progress across other areas of our operations. In 2024, to address the growing importance of water and
following the launch of the Sustainable Water Management Program in 2021, we launched a Water Focus Program. This program is driving the
collaboration of engineering functions to identify and implement best practices in water management for cooling purposes. In 2023, Equinix started
reporting on its Water Usage Effectiveness ("WUE") annually.

Sustainability Accounting Standards Board ("SASB") Disclosures

The following metrics are aligned with SASB Real Estate Standard version 2023-06 and represent the performance of our colocation facilities in the
calendar years specified. Energy, renewable energy and GHG emissions are independently assured to ISO 14064-3:2019 Standards for the
quantification and reporting of GHG emissions (Scope 1, 2 and 3). Calendar year data for 2024 will become available in Q2 2025 and will be published in
our annual Corporate Sustainability Report located on our corporate website.
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Energy Management: Energy Consumption

Like-for-Like
Total Energy Like-for-Like Change in Energy
Consumed by Change in Energy Consumption from
Energy Portfolio Area Consumption of  Grid Bectricity Energy Renewable Sources
Consumption Data  with Data Portfolio Area Consumptionasa Consumption Renewable Energy of Portfolio Area Renewable Ener:
as a %of Floor Coverage with Data % of Energy from Renewable as a%of Energy with Data Coverage as a % of Bectricity
Year Area (MWh) ®  Coverage (MWh) @ Consumption  Sources (MWh)©  Consumption (MWh) @ @) Consumption
2022¢415) 96.3% 7,820,000 29.1% 94.2% 6,995,000 90% 32.1% 91%
202360 92.2% 8,217,000 4.9% A.7% 7,770,000 95% 5.2% %%

The scope of energy includes energy used onsite and energy procured.

Like-for-like cormputed for stabilized asset list for the overlapping list of sites designated as stabilized in 2022 and 2023.

Equinix procures renew able energy to cover for the entire electricity consunrption of sites.

Recently constructed or acquired sites for which no utility data is available are excluded, including LM1, ST1, ST2, ST3, ST4, AB1, AC1, LG1, LG2, PA10. Reseller sites are

also excluded in the energy metrics (DA99, OS99, SH1).

®) 2022 portfolio coverage excludes xScale™ sites: IZBSx SYOX.

®) Recently constructed or acquired sites for which no ut|||ty data is available are excluded. These include BG2, DC16, NY3, JH1, KL1, MB4, SL4, TY 15, FR13, IL4, JN1, MD6.
Reseller sites are also excluded in both the gross floor area and the energy metrics (DA99, OS99, SH1).

@ 2023 portfolio coverage excludes xScale™ sites: DB6x, FROx, OS4x, SL2x, SV12x.

Energy Management: Green Building Ratings

Our data centers are designed with high operational excellence standards and energy efficiency in mind. Our data centers are planned holistically to
incorporate the needs of our customers and communities, while minimizing the use of natural resources in our operations.

Our Energy Efficiency Center of Excellence is driving a global approach to improving operational efficiency across our IBXlocations from lighting and
airflow management to efficient cooling innovations. The program also engages customers to manage their implementations more sustainably at our
facilities, leading to overall improved site efficiencies.

We certify our data centers to green buildings and energy management certifications and schemes. These include USGBC LEED green buildings
certifications, 1ISO 14001:2015 Environmental Management Standard, ISO 50001:2011 Energy Management Standard, BCA Green Mark, U.S. EPA
Energy Star for Data Centers and others. In 2021, Equinix became a U.S. Green Building Council ("USGBC") Gold member, aligning with the developer
of the LEED rating system and furthering our commitment to green buildings. Data centers receiving green building ratings in 2024 covered 696,390
gross sq. ft across Bogotd, Dublin, Osaka, Seoul, Warsaw and Zurich.

In 2024, we had 31.3 million gross sq. ft., or 95.9% of our global footprint, in operation with green buildings and energy management certifications.
Within the U.S., we had 11.1 million gross sq. ft., or 100% of our footprint, under certification, including 1.8 million gross sq. ft., or 16.1% of U.S.
footprint, having achieved U.S. EPA Energy Star for Data Centers. We disclose these and other site-level details about our data centers on our
sustainability website.

Total Gross sq. ft. Area of Higible Portfolio with Green Building Bigible Portfolio with Green Building
Year (million)" Rating (million sq. ft.)» Rating (%)
Global Total through 2024 32.6 31.3 95.9%
U.S. Total through 2024 1.1 1.1 100%
- 9 : 1.8 (Energy Star) 16.1% (Energy Star)

) Ratings included in our totals: ISO 50001 Energy Managemrent, ISO 14001 Environmental Managerrent, LEED green buildings certifications, U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
Energy Star for Data Centers, BCA Green Mark, NABERS and Green Globes.

@ As of Decenrber 2024, ten sites received Energy Star for Data Centers recognition, representing 16.1% of our U.S. portfolio. In contrast, our U.S. portfolio has 22 LEED-
certified data centers or 46.7% of the U.S. portfolio by gross square footage.
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Our Business Segment Financial Information

We currently operate in three reportable segments comprised of our Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific geographic regions. Information attributable
to each of our reportable segments is set forth in Note 18 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Available Information

Equinix owns and maintains intellectual property in the form of trademarks, patents, application programming interfaces, customer portals and a
variety of products and other offerings.

We were incorporated in Delaware in June 1998. We are required to file reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"). The SEC maintains an intemet website at http://www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy and
information statements and other information.

You may also obtain copies of our annual reports on Form 10-K, our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and our current reports on Form 8-K, and any
amendments to such reports, free of charge by vsiting the Investor Relations page on our website, www.equinix.com. These reports are available as
soon as reasonably practical after we file them with the SEC. Information contained on or accessible through our website is not part of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM1A. Risk Factors

In addition to the other information contained in this report, the following risk factors should be considered carefully in evaluating our business:
Risk Factors

Risks Related to the Macro Environment

Geopolitical events and political changes, including the recent change in administration in the U.S., contribute to an already complex and
evolving regulatory landscape. If we cannot comply with the evolving laws and regulations in the countries in which we operate, we may
be subject to litigation and/or sanctions, adverse revenue impacts and increased costs, and our business and results of operations could be
negatively impacted.

In light of the recent change in administration in the U.S., there is considerable uncertainty and potential conflict regarding and among existing laws,
judicial orders and bans, new presidential executive orders, regulatory frameworks, leadership changes and enforcement priorities and strategies.
Penalties for non-compliance with any of these orders or regulations may be significant. Proposed tariffs to be imposed by the U.S. on imports from
certain countries and potential counter-tariffs in response, could lead to increased costs and supply chain disruptions. If we are not able to navigate
these changes, it could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations, as well as on the price of our common stock.

Additionally, geopolitical events, such as the trade war between the U.S. and China, the war between Russia and Ukraine, the ongoing conflict in the
Middle East, could have a negative effect on our business domestically and/or intemationally. While some time has passed since some of these events
first occurred, it remains unpredictable how these events will continue to develop and impact the environment in which we do business.

With respect to the ongoing trade war between the U.S. and China, we hawe seweral Chinese customers who are named in restrictive executive
orders ("EOs"), and while a majority of these EOs are typically only applicable to transactions and/or senices provided to these Chinese customers in
the U.S. today, it is uncertain if the new U.S. administration would further expand the applicability of such EOs to transactions and businesses outside
of the U.S. If Equinix is required to cease business with these companies, or additional companies in the future, our revenues could be adversely
affected. Similarly, current relations between the U.S. and China hawe created increased supply chain risk due to successive U.S. legislation promoting
decoupling from China on semiconductors and specific telecommunications equipment makers, and having to source for altemative suppliers for key
components outside of China.

Additionally, laws and regulations related to economic sanctions, export controls, anti-bribery and anti-corruption, and other intemational activities
may restrict or limit our ability to engage in transactions or dealings with certain counterparties, in or with certain countries or teritories, or in certain
activities. We cannot guarantee compliance with all such laws and regulations, and failure to comply with such laws and regulations could expose us to
fines, penalties, or costly and expensive investigations.

Violations of any of applicable domestic or intemational laws and regulations that could result in significant fines, criminal sanctions against us, our
officers or our employees, and prohibitions on the conduct of our business. Any such \iolations could include prohibitions on our ability to provide our
offerings in one or more countries, could delay or prevent potential acquisitions, and could also materially damage our reputation, our brand, our
intemational expansion efforts, our ability to attract and retain employees, our business and results of operations.

Inflation in the global economy, increased interest rates, political dissension and adverse global economic conditions, like the ones we
are currently experiencing, could negatively affect our business and financial condition.

Inflation is impacting various aspects of our business. We are also experiencing an increase in our costs to procure power and supply chain issues
globally. Rising prices for materials related to our IBX data center construction and our data center offerings, energy and gas prices, as well as rising
wages and benefits costs negatively impact our business by increasing our operating costs. Further, disagreement in the U.S. Congress on
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government spending lewels could increase the possibility of a government shutdown, further adversely affecting global economic conditions. The adverse
economic conditions we are currently experiencing may cause a decrease in sales as some customers may need to take cost cutting measures or
scale back their operations. This could result in chum in our customer base, reductions in revenues from our offerings, adwerse effects to our days of
sales outstanding in accounts receivable ("DSO"), longer sales cycles, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price competition, which
could adwersely affect our liquidity. Customers, vendors and/or partners filing for bankruptcy could also lead to costly and time-intensive actions with
adwerse effects, including greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection. The uncertain economic environment could also have an impact on
our foreign exchange forward contracts if our counterparties' credit deteriorates or if they are otherwise unable to perform their obligations. Further,
wlatility in the financial markets and rising interest rates like we are currently experiencing could affect our ability to access the capital markets at a
time when we desire, or need, to do so which could have an impact on our flexibility to pursue additional expansion opportunities and maintain our
desired lewel of revenue growth in the future. We also could be exposed to hyperinflation in certain economies as a result of potential expansion into
deweloping countries.

Our efforts to mitigate the risks associated with these adverse conditions may not be successful and our business and growth could be adversely
affected.

Our business could be harmed by increased costs to procure power, prolonged power outages, shortages or capacity constraints as well as
insufficient access to power.

Any power outages, shortages, capacity constraints, limits on access or significant increases in the cost of power may have an adwerse effect on
our business and our results of operations.

In each of our markets, we contract with and rely on third parties, third party infrastructure, governments, and global suppliers to provide a sufficient
amount of power to maintain our IBX data centers and meet the needs of our current and future customers. In certain instances, we havwe experienced
difficulties in securing the energy supply we hawe contracted for or that we need for our expansion plans. Any such limitations may hawe a negative
impact on a given IBX data center and may limit our ability to grow our business which could negatively affect our financial performance and results of
operations. Furthermore, the inability to supply customers with their contracted power for any reason could harm customer and/or joint venture
relationships as well as cause reputational harm.

Each new facility requires access to significant quantities of electricity. Limitations on generation, transmission and distribution may limit our ability
to obtain sufficient power capacity for potential expansion sites in new or existing markets. Utility companies and other third-party power providers may
impose onerous operating conditions to any approval or provision of power or we may experience significant delays, unfavorable contractual terms, and
substantial increased costs to provide the level of electrical senice required by our current or future IBX data center designs. Our ability to find reliable
partners and appropriate sites for expansion may also be limited by access to power, especially as we design our data centers to the specifications of
new and ewohing technologies, such as Al, which are more power-intensive, and further prepare to sene the power demands in the future that are
expected from the electrification of the economy.

Our IBX data centers are affected by problems accessing electricity sources, such as planned or unplanned power outages and limitations on
transmission or distribution of power. Unplanned power outages, including, but not limited to those relating to large storms, earthquakes, fires, tsunamis,
cyber-attacks, physical attacks on utility infrastructure, war, and any failures of electrical power grids or intemal systems more generally, and planned
power outages by public utilities, such as Pacific Gas and Electric Company's practice of planned outages in Califomia to minimize fire risks, could
harm our customers and our business. Employees working from home could be subjected to power outages at home which could be difficult to track and
could affect the day-to-day operations of our non-IBX data center employees. Our intemational operations are sometimes located outside of developed,
reliable electricity markets, where we are exposed to some insecurity in supply associated with technical, regulatory and reliability problems, as well as
transmission constraints. Some of our IBX data centers are located in leased buildings where, depending upon the lease requirements and number of
tenants involved, we may or may not control some or all of the infrastructure including generators and fuel tanks. As a result, in the event of a power
outage, we could be dependent upon the landlord, as well as the utility company, to restore the power. We attempt to limit our exposure to system
downtime by using backup generators, which are in tum supported by onsite fuel storage and through contracts with fuel suppliers, but these measures
may not always prevent downtime or solve for long-term or large-
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scale outages. Any outage or supply disruption could adversely affect our business, customer experience and revenues.

We are currently experiencing inflation and volatility pressures in the energy market globally. Various macroeconomic factors are contributing to the
instability and global power shortage including severe weather events, governmental regulations, government relations and inflation. While we have aimed
to minimize our risk, via hedging, consenvation, and other efficiencies, we expect the cost for power to continue to be wlatile and unpredictable and
subject to inflationary pressures. We believe we have made appropriate estimates for these costs in our forecasting, but the current unpredictable energy
market could materially affect our financial forecasting, results of operations and financial condition.

The ongoing military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and in the Middle East could negatively affect our business and financial
condition.

The war in Ukraine has led to market disruptions, including significant wolatility in commaodity prices, credit and capital markets, an increase in
cybersecurity incidents as well as supply chain disruptions.

Additionally, various Russian actions have led to sanctions and other penalties being levied by the U.S., the European Union, the United Kingdom,
and other countries, as well as other public and private actors and companies, against Russia and certain other geographic areas, including agreement
to remowe certain Russian financial institutions from the Society for Worldwide Interbank Financial Telecommunication payment system and restrictions
on imports of Russian ail, liquified natural gas and coal. We do not have operations in Russia or Ukraine and historically we have had a limited number of
Russian and Ukrainian customers, which we continue to screen against applicable sanctions lists per our standard processes. Although we continue to
dewte resources to this screening effort, including the use of software solutions, the sanctions screening process remains partially manual, and the
sanctions lists continue to ewolve and vary by country. We continue to address necessary changes in global sanctions laws and modify our processes
as necessary in light of these ewolving laws. A material failure to comply with global sanctions laws could hawe a negative effect on our reputation,
business and financial condition.

In addition to compliance with applicable sanctions laws, we are currently limiting the ability of Russian customers to place orders for our offerings
unless, after reviewing these orders, we believe they are aligned with our stated objectives in support of Ukraine. We do not allow purchases from
Russian partners or suppliers and have committed to not make any direct or indirect investment in Russia absent an end to this conflict. In addition, for
our customers located in Ukraine, we are currently provding offerings free of charge and may continue to do so in the future.

The associated disruptions in the oil and gas markets have caused, and could continue to cause, significant increases in energy prices, which could
have a material effect on our business. Additional potential sanctions and penalties have also been proposed and/or threatened. If Russia further reduces
or tumns off energy supplies to Europe, our EMEA operations could be adwersely affected. Russian military actions and the resulting sanctions could
further affect the global economy and financial markets and lead to instability and lack of liquidity in capital markets, potentially making it more difficult
for us to obtain additional debt or equity financing on attractive terms in the future.

In the case of the Middle East conflict, the current situation is extremely volatile. It is possible that such events will continue to adversely impact the
level of economic activity globally and that we will face increased regulatory and legal complexities in the regions affected thus impacting our business
and employees, our financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, any sustained military action in the area of the Red Sea could contribute
to supply chain challenges as well as potential issues with subsea cables.

Prolonged unfavorable economic conditions or uncertainty, including as a result of the military conflict between Russia and Ukraine or in the Middle
East, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. Any of the foregoing may also magnify the impact of other risks
described in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Risks Related to our Operations

We experienced a cybersecurity incident in the past and may be vulnerable to future security breaches, which could disrupt our
operations and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operation and financial condition.

Despite our efforts to protect against cyber-attacks, we are not fully insulated from such threats. We have experienced cybersecurity attacks and
security incidents to varying degrees, and in some cases threat actors have gained unauthorized access to our systems and data. For example, in
September 2020, we discovered ransomware on certain of our intemal systems. While this and other incidents have been resolved, and their impacts
have been immaterial, we expect we will continue to face risks associated with unauthorized access to our computer systems, loss or destruction of
data, computer \viruses, ransomware, malware, distributed denial-of-senice attacks or other malicious activities, and the impact of such events in the
future may be material. In the course of our business, we utilize vendors and other partners who are also sources of cyber risks to us. In addition, our
adaptation to a hybrid working model, that includes both work from home and in an office, could expose us to new security risks.

We offer professional solutions to our customers where we consult on data center solutions and assist with implementations. We also offer
managed senices in certain of our foreign jurisdictions outside of the U.S. where we manage the data center infrastructure for our customers. The
access to our clients' networks and data, which is gained from these solutions, creates some risk that our clients' networks or data could be improperly
accessed. We may also design our clients' cloud storage systems in such a way that exposes our clients to increased risk of data breach. If we were
held responsible for any such breach, it could result in a significant loss to us, including damage to our client relationships, harm to our brand and
reputation, and legal liability.

As techniques used to breach security change frequently and are generally not recognized until launched against a target, we may not be able to
promptly detect that a cyber breach has occurred, or implement security measures in a timely manner or, if and when implemented, we may not be able
to determine the extent to which these measures could be circumvented. Recent dewvelopments in the cyber threat landscape include use of Al and
machine leaming, as well as an increased number of cyber extortion and ransomware attacks, with the potential for higher financial ransom demand
amounts and increasing sophistication and variety of ransomware techniques and methodology. Further, any adoption of Al by us or by third parties may
pose new security challenges. A party who is able to compromise the security measures on our networks or the security of our infrastructure could
misappropriate the proprietary or sensitive information of Equinix, our customers, including govemment customers, or the personal information of our
employees, or cause interruptions or malfunctions in our operations or our customers' operations. As we provide assurances to our customers that we
provide a high lewel of security, such a compromise could be particularly harmful to our brand and reputation. We also may be required to expend
significant capital and resources to protect against such threats or to alleviate problems caused by cyber breaches in our physical or virtual security
systems. Any breaches that may occur in the future could expose us to increased risk of lawsuits, regulatory penalties, loss of existing or potential
customers, damage relating to loss of proprietary information, harm to our reputation and increases in our security costs, which could have a material
adwerse effect on our financial performance and results of operations. The cybersecurity regulatory landscape continues to ewolve and compliance with
the proposed reporting requirements could further complicate our ability to resolve cyber-attacks. We maintain insurance coverage for cyber risks, but
such coverage may be unavailable or insufficient to cover our losses.

Any failure of our physical infrastructure or negative impact on our ability to meet our obligations to our customers, or damage to customer
infrastructure within our IBX data centers, could lead to significant costs and disruptions that could reduce our revenue and harm our
business reputation and financial condition.

Our business depends on providing customers with highly reliable solutions. We must safeguard our customers' infrastructure and equipment
located in our IBX data centers and ensure our IBX data centers and non-IBX business operations remain operational at all times. We own certain of our
IBX data centers, but others are leased by us, and we rely on the landlord for basic maintenance of our leased IBX data centers and office buildings and,
in some cases, the landlord is responsible for the infrastructure that runs the building such as power connections, UPSs and backup power generators. If
such landlord has not maintained a leased property sufficiently, we may be forced into an early exit from the center which could be disruptive to our
business. Furthermore, we continue to acquire IBXdata centers not built by us. If we discover that these buildings and their infrastructure assets are not
in the condition we expected when they were acquired, we may be required to incur substantial additional costs to
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repair or upgrade the IBX data centers. Newly acquired data centers also may not have the same power infrastructure and design in place as our own IBX
data centers. These legacy designs could require upgrades in order to meet our standards and our customers’ expectations. Until the legacy systems
are brought up to our standards, customers in these IBX data centers could be exposed to higher risks of unexpected power outages. We hawe
experienced power outages because of these legacy design issues in the past and we could experience these in the future.

Problems at one or more of our IBX data centers or corporate offices, whether or not within our control, could result in senice interruptions or
significant infrastructure or equipment damage. These could result from numerous factors, including but not limited to:

human error;

equipment failure;

physical, electronic and cybersecurity breaches;

fire, earthquake, hurricane, flood, tomado and other natural disasters;
extreme temperatures;

water damage;

fiber failures, subsea cable damage and other network interruptions;
software updates;

power loss;

terrorist acts;

sabotage and vandalism;

global pandemics such as the COVID-19 pandemic;

inability of our operations employees to access our IBX data centers for any reason; and
failure of business partners who provide our resale products.

We hawe senice level commitment obligations to certain customers. As a result, senice interruptions or significant equipment damage in our IBX
data centers could result in difficulty maintaining senice level commitments to these customers and potential claims related to such failures. Because
our IBX data centers are critical to many of our customers' businesses, senice interruptions or significant equipment damage in our IBX data centers
could also result in lost profits or other indirect or consequential damages to our customers. We cannot guarantee that a court would enforce any
contractual limitations on our liability in the event that one of our customers brings a lawsuit against us as a result of a problem at one of our IBX data
centers and we hawe in the past and may decide in the future to reach settlements with affected customers imespective of any such contractual
limitations. Any such settlement may result in a reduction of revenue under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). In addition, any
loss of senice, equipment damage or inability to meet our senice level commitment obligations could reduce the confidence of our customers and could
consequently impair our ability to obtain and retain customers, which would adwersely affect both our ability to generate revenues and our results of
operations.

Furthermore, we are dependent upon intemet senice provders, telecommunications carriers and other website operators in the Americas, Asia-
Pacific and EMEA regions and elsewhere, some of which have experienced significant system failures and electrical outages in the past. We also rely
on a number of third-party software providers in order to deliver our offerings and operate our business. Our customers may in the future experience
difficulties due to system failures unrelated to our systems and offerings. If, for any reason, these providers fail to provide the required senices, our
business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely impacted.

Our IBX data center employees are critical to our ability to maintain our business operations and reach our senice level commitments. Although we
hawe redundancies built into our workforce, if our IBX employees are unable to access our IBX data centers for any reason, we could experience
operational issues at the affected site. Pandemics, weather and climate related crises or any other social, political, or economic disruption in the U.S. or
abroad could prevent sufficient staffing at our IBX data centers, or at our corporate offices, and have a material adverse impact on our operations.
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We are currently making significant investments in our back-office information technology systems and processes. Difficulties from or
disruptions to these efforts may interrupt our normal operations and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

We hawe been investing heamily in our back-office information technology systems and processes for a number of years and expect such investment
to continue for the foreseeable future in support of our pursuit of global, scalable solutions across all geographies and functions that we operate in. These
continuing investments include ongoing improvements to the customer experience from initial quote to customer billing and our revenue recognition
process; integration of recently acquired operations onto our various information technology systems; and implementation of new tools and technologies
to either further streamline and automate processes, or to support our compliance with evolving U.S. GAAP and intemational accounting standards. As a
result of our continued work on these projects, we may experience difficulties with our systems, management distraction and significant business
disruptions. For example, difficulties with our systems may interrupt our ability to accept and deliver customer orders and may adwersely impact our
owrall financial operations, including our accounts payable, accounts receivables, general ledger, fixed assets, revenue recognition, close processes,
internal financial controls and our ability to otherwise run and track our business. We may need to expend significant attention, time and resources to
correct problems or find alternative sources for performing these functions. All of these changes to our financial systems also create an increased risk of
deficiencies in our intemal controls over financial reporting until such systems are stabilized. Such significant investments in our back-office systems
may take longer to complete and cost more than originally planned. In addition, we may not realize the full benefits we hoped to achieve and there is a
risk of an impairment charge if we decide that portions of these projects will not ultimately benefit us or are de-scoped. Finally, the collective impact of
these changes to our business has placed significant demands on impacted employees across multiple functions, increasing the risk of errors and
control deficiencies in our financial statements, distraction from the effective operation of our business and difficulty in attracting and retaining
employees. Any such difficulties or disruptions may adwversely affect our business and results of operations.

The level of insurance coverage that we purchase may prove to be inadequate.

We carry liability, property, business interruption and other insurance policies to cover insurable risks to our company. We select the types of
insurance, the limits and the deductibles based on our specific risk profile, the cost of the insurance coverage versus its perceived benefit and general
industry standards. Our insurance policies contain industry standard exclusions for events such as war and nuclear reaction. We purchase earthquake
insurance for certain of our IBX data centers, but for our IBX data centers in high-risk zones, including those in California and Japan, we hawe elected to
selfinsure. The earthquake and flood insurance that we do purchase would be subject to high deductibles. Any of the limits of insurance that we
purchase, including those for flood or cyber risks, could prowe to be inadequate, which could materially and adversely impact our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

If we are unable to successfully implement our current leadership transition, or if we are unable to recruit or retain key qualified
personnel, our business could be harmed.

On June 3, 2024, Adaire Fox-Martin became our new Chief Executive Officer and our prior CEO, Charles Meyers, became our new Executive
Chairman of the Board. Our new CEO will be critical to executing on and achieving our evolving business strategy and our success depends, in part, on
the effectiveness of this transition. If we are unable to execute this transition successfully, our operations and financial conditions may be adversely
affected.

Our future performance also depends on the contributions of our extended leadership team and other key employees to execute on our strategic
plans and certain key roles remain to be hired. Our talent strategy could continue to evolve with the future direction of the business. We must continue to
identify, hire, train and retain key personnel who maintain relationships with our customers and who can provide the technical, strategic and marketing
skills required for our company's growth. There is a shortage of qualified personnel in these fields, and we compete with other companies for the limited
pool of talent. The failure to recruit and retain necessary key personnel could cause disruption, harm our business and hamper our ability to grow our
company.
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The failure to obtain favorable terms when we renew our IBX data center leases, or the failure to renew such leases, could harm our
business and results of operations.

While we own certain of our IBX data centers, others are leased under long-term arrangements. These leased IBXdata centers hawe all been subject
to significant development by us in order to convert them from, in most cases, vacant buildings or warehouses into IBX data centers. Most of our IBX
data center leases have renewal options available to us. Howewer, many of these renewal options provide for the rent to be set at then-prevailing market
rates. To the extent that then-prevailing market rates or negotiated rates are higher than present rates, these higher costs may adversely impact our
business and results of operations, or we may decide against renewing the lease. There may also be changes in shared operating costs in connection
with our leases, which are commonly referred to as common area maintenance expenses. In the event that an IBX data center lease does not have a
renewal option, or we fail to exercise a renewal option in a timely fashion and lose our right to renew the lease, we may not be successful in negotiating
a renewal of the lease with the landlord. A failure to renew a lease or termination by a landlord of any lease could force us to exit a building prematurely,
which could disrupt our business, harm our customer relationships, impact and harm our joint venture relationships, expose us to liability under our
customer contracts or joint venture agreements, cause us to take impairment charges and affect our results of operations negatively.

We depend on a number of third parties to provide internet connectivity to our IBX data centers; if connectivity is interrupted or
terminated, our results of operations and cash flow could be materially and adversely affected.

The presence of diverse telecommunications carriers' fiber networks in our IBX data centers is critical to our ability to retain and attract new
customers. We are not a telecommunications camier, and as such, we rely on third parties to provide our customers with carrier senices. We believe
that the availability of carrier capacity will directly affect our ability to achieve our projected results. We rely primarily on revenue opportunities from the
telecommunications carriers' customers to encourage them to invest the capital and operating resources required to connect from their data centers to
our IBX data centers. Carriers will likely evaluate the revenue opportunity of an IBX data center based on the assumption that the environment will be
highly competitive. We cannot provide assurance that each and every carrier will elect to offer its senices within our IBX data centers or that once a
carier has decided to provide intemet connectivity to our IBX data centers that it will continue to do so for any period of time.

Our new IBX data centers require construction and operation of a sophisticated redundant fiber network. The construction required to connect
multiple carier facilities to our IBXdata centers is complex and involves factors outside of our control, including regulatory processes and the availability
of construction resources. Any hardware or fiber failures on this network, either on land or subsea, may result in significant loss of connectivity to our
new IBX data center expansions. This could affect our ability to attract new customers to these IBX data centers or retain existing customers.

To date, the network neutrality of our IBXdata centers and the variety of networks available to our customers has often been a competitive advantage
for us. In certain of our markets, the limited number of carriers available reduces that advantage. As a result, we may need to adapt our key revenue-
generating offerings and pricing to be competitive in those markets.

If the establishment of highly diverse intemet connectivity to our IBX data centers does not occur, is materially delayed or is discontinued, or is
subject to failure, our results of operations and financial condition will be adversely affected.

The use of high-power density equipment may limit our ability to fully utilize the space in our older IBX data centers.

Sener technologies continue to evolve and in some instances these changes can result in customers increasing their use of high-power density
equipment in our IBX data centers which can increase the demand for power on a per cabinet basis. Additionally, the workloads related to new and
ewlving technologies such as Al are increasing the demand for high density computing power. Because many of our IBX data centers were built a
number of years ago, the current demand for power may exceed the designed electrical capacity in these IBX data
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centers. As power, not space, is a limiting factor in many of our IBX data centers, our ability to fully utilize the space in those IBX data centers may be
impacted. The ability to increase the power capacity of an IBXdata center, should we decide to, is dependent on several factors including, but not limited
to, the local utility's ability to provide additional power; the length of time required to provide such power; and/or whether it is feasible to upgrade the
electrical and mechanical infrastructure of an IBX data center to deliver additional power and cooling to customers. Although we are currently designing
and building to a higher power specification than that of many of our older IBX data centers, and are considering redevelopment of certain sites where
appropriate, there is a risk that demand could continue to increase, or our redevelopment may not be successful, and the space inside our IBX data
centers could become underutilized sooner than expected.

The development and use of artificial intelligence in the workplace presents risks and challenges that may adversely impact our business
and operating results.

We hawe begun leveraging Al and machine leaming capabilities for our employees to use in their day-to-day operations. Failure to invest adequately
in such capabilities may result in us lagging behind our competitors in terms of improving operational efficiency and achieving superior outcomes for our
business and our customers. As we embark on these initiatives, we may encounter challenges such as a shortage of appropriate data to train intemal Al
models, a lack of skilled talent to effectively execute our strategy of leveraging Al intemally, or the possibility that the tools we utilize may not deliver the
intended value. Use of third-party Al tools can also bring information security, data privacy and legal risks. Failure to successfully hamess these Al tools
could negatively impact our business and operating results.

We have been, and in the future may be, subject to securities class action and other litigation, which may harm our business and results of
operations.

We hawe been, and in the future may be, subject to securities class action or other litigation. For example, on May 2, 2024, a putative stockholder
class action was filed against the Company and certain of our officers in the United States District Court for the Northem District of California alleging
that the defendants made false and misleading statements about our business, results, interal controls, and accounting practices between May 3, 2019
and March 24, 2024. Securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following periods of volatility in the market price of its
securities. Litigation can be lengthy, expensive, and divert management's attention and resources. Results cannot be predicted with certainty and an
adwerse outcome in litigation could result in monetary damages or injunctive relief. Further, any payments made in settlement may directly reduce our
revenue under U.S. GAAP and could negatively impact our results of operations for the period. While we maintain insurance coverage, we cannot be
certain that such coverage will continue to be available on acceptable terms or in sufficient amounts to cover potential losses. For all of these reasons,
litigation could seriously harm our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows.

Risks Related to our Offerings and Customers
Our offerings have a long sales cycle that may harm our revenue and results of operations.

A customer's decision to purchase our offerings typically inwlves a significant commitment of resources. In addition, some customers will be
reluctant to commit to locating in our IBX data centers until they are confident that the IBX data center has adequate carrier connections. As a result, we
hawe a long sales cycle. Furthermore, we may dewote significant time and resources to pursuing a particular sale or customer that does not result in
revenues.

Instability in the markets and the current macroeconomic environment could also increase delays in our sales cycle. Delays due to the length of our
sales cycle may materially and adversely affect our revenues and results of operations, which could harm our ability to meet our forecasts and cause
wolatility in our stock price.

We may not be able to compete successfully against current and future competitors.

The global multi-tenant data center market is highly fragmented. It is estimated that we are one of more than 2,400 companies that provide these
offerings around the world. We compete with these firms which vary in terms of their data center offerings and the geographies in which they operate. We
must continue to evolve our product strategy and be able to differentiate our IBX data centers and product offerings from those of our competitors.
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Some of our competitors may adopt aggressive pricing policies, especially if they are not highly leveraged or have lower retum thresholds than we
do. As a result, we may suffer from pricing pressure that would adversely affect our ability to generate revenues. Some of these competitors may also
provide our target customers with additional benefits, including bundled communication senices or cloud senices, and may do so in a manner that is
more attractive to our potential customers than obtaining space in our IBX data centers. Similarly, with growing acceptance of cloud-based technologies,
we are at risk of losing customers that may decide to fully leverage cloud infrastructure offerings instead of managing their own. Competitors could also
operate more successfully or form alliances to acquire significant market share. Regional competitors may also consolidate to become a global
competitor. Consolidation of our customers and/or our competitors may present a risk to our business model and have a negative impact on our
revenues.

Failure to compete successfully may materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

If we cannot continue to develop, acquire, market and provide new offerings or enhancements to existing offerings that meet customer
requirements and differentiate us from our competitors, our results of operations could suffer.

As our customers ewlwe their IT strategies, we must remain flexible and ewolve along with new technologies and industry and market shifts. The
process of developing and acquiring new offerings and enhancing existing offerings is complex. If we fail to anticipate customers’ ewolving needs and
expectations or do not adapt to technological and IT trends, our results of operations could suffer. Ineffective planning and execution in our cloud, Al and
product development strategies may cause difficulty in sustaining our competitive advantages. Additionally, any delay in the development, acquisition,
marketing or launch of a new offering could result in customer dissatisfaction or attrition. If we cannot continue adapting our products and strategies, or if
our competitors can adapt their products more quickly than us, our business could be harmed.

In order to adapt effectively, we sometimes must make long-term investments and commit significant resources before knowing whether our
predictions will accurately reflect customer demand for the new offerings. This kind of investment may include real estate expansion or developing,
acquiring and obtaining intellectual property. We also must remain flexible and change strategies quickly if our predictions are not accurate. We are
currently investing in our Al strategy to sene the large footprint we foresee needed for customers’ Al workloads. The future of Al is still uncertain and as it
continues to ewlve, our predictions about the market may prowve inaccurate. Developments or speculation about the future of Al and/or its impact on the
data center industry has caused wolatility in our stock price in the past. We cannot guarantee our investments and predictions will be accurate around Al
or any other customer demand.

We hawe also been making investments of resources in expanding our product portfolio in recent years. New offerings may come with additional
risks and may not always be successful, and certain past offerings have been discontinued including the Equinix Metal product. New offerings may also
require additional capital, have lower margins and higher customer chum as compared to our data center offerings, thus adversely impacting our resullts.
These offerings may also introduce us to different competition and faster development cycles as compared to our data center business. If we cannot
dewelop or partner to quickly and efficiently meet market demands, we may also see adwerse results. While we believe these product offerings and others
we may implement in the future will be desirable to our customers and will complement our other offerings on Platform Equinix, we cannot guarantee the
success of any product or any other new product offering.

We hawe also invested in joint ventures in order to develop capacity to sene the large footprint needs of a targeted set of hyperscale customers by
leveraging existing capacity and dedicated hyperscale builds. We believe these hyperscale customers will also play a large role in the growth of the
market for Al. We have announced our intention to seek additional joint ventures for certain of our hyperscale builds. There can be no assurances that
our joint ventures will be successful or that we find appropriate partners, or that we will be able to successfully meet the needs of these customers
through our hyperscale offerings.

Failure to successfully execute on our product strategy or hyperscale strategy could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows
and results of operations.
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We have government customers, which subjects us to revenue risk and certain other risks including early termination, audits,
investigations, sanctions and penalties, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

We derive revenues from contracts with the U.S. govemment, state and local governments and foreign governments. Some of these customers may
terminate all or part of their contracts at any time, without cause. There is increased pressure for governments and their agencies, both domestically and
internationally, to reduce spending. Some of our federal government contracts are subject to the approval of appropriations being made by the U.S.
Congress to fund the expenditures under these contracts. Similarly, some of our contracts at the state and local lewels are subject to govemment funding
authorizations.

Government contracts often have unique terms and conditions, such as most favored customer obligations, and are generally subject to audits and
investigations. Being out of compliance with the terms of such contracts could result in various civil and criminal penalties and administrative sanctions,
including termination of contracts, refund of a portion of fees received, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspensions, or debarment
from future government business. On occasion, we hawe been out of compliance with contractual terms of certain government contracts and hawe
remedied as necessary.

Because we depend on the development and growth of a balanced customer base, including key magnet customers, failure to attract,
grow and retain this base of customers could harm our business and results of operations.

Our ability to maximize revenues depends on our ability to develop and grow a balanced customer base, consisting of a variety of companies,
including enterprises, cloud, digital content and financial companies, and network senice providers. We consider certain of these customers to be key
magnets in that they draw in other customers. The more balanced the customer base within each IBX data center, the better we will be able to generate
significant interconnection revenues, which in tum increases our overall revenues. Our ability to attract customers to our IBX data centers will depend on
a variety of factors, including the presence of multiple carmiers, the mix of our offerings, the owerall mix of customers, the presence of key customers
attracting business through \ertical market ecosystems, the IBX data center's operating reliability and security and our ability to effectively market our
offerings. However, some of our customers may face competitive pressures and may ultimately not be successful or may be consolidated through
merger or acquisition. If these customers do not continue to use our IBX data centers it may be disruptive to our business. If customers combine
businesses, they may require less colocation space, which could lead to chum in our customer base. Finally, any uncertain global economic climate,
including the one we are currently experiencing, could harm our ability to attract and retain customers if customers slow spending, or delay decision-
making on our offerings, or if customers begin to hawe difficulty paying us or seek bankruptcy protection and we experience increased chum in our
customer base. Any of these factors may hinder the development, growth and retention of a balanced customer base and adversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

Risks Related to our Financial Results
The market price of our stock may continue to be highly volatile, and the value of an investment in our common stock may decline.

The market price of the shares of our common stock has recently been and may continue to be highly wolatile. General economic and market
conditions, like the ones we are currently experiencing, and market conditions for technology, data center and REIT stocks in general, may affect the
market price of our common stock.

Announcements by us or others, or speculations about our future plans, may also have a significant impact on the market price of our common
stock. These may relate to:

our results of operations or forecasts;

new issuances of equity, debt or conwertible debt by us, including issuances through any existing ATM Program;

increases in market interest rates and changes in other general market and economic conditions, including inflationary concems;
changes to our capital allocation, tax planning or business strategy;
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our qualification for taxation as a REIT and our declaration of distributions to our stockholders;
changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws;

changes in management or key personnel;

dewvelopments in our relationships with customers;

announcements by our customers or competitors;

changes in regulatory policy or interpretation;

market speculation involving us or other companies in our industry, which may include short seller reports;
litigation and governmental investigations;

changes in the ratings of our debt or stock by rating agencies or securities analysts;

our purchase or development of real estate and/or additional IBX data centers;

our acquisitions of complementary businesses; or

the operational performance of our IBX data centers.

The stock market has from time-to-time experienced extreme price and wolume fluctuations, which hawe particularly affected the market prices for
technology, data center and REIT stocks, and which have often been unrelated to their operating performance. These broad market fluctuations may
adwersely affect the market price of our common stock. One of the factors that investors may consider in deciding whether to buy or sell our common
stock is our distribution rate as a percentage of our stock price relative to market interest rates. If market interest rates increase, prospective investors
may demand a higher distribution rate or seek altemative investments paying higher dividends or interest. As a result, interest rate fluctuations and
conditions in the capital markets may affect the market value of our common stock. Furthermore, companies that have experienced volatility in the
market price of their stock have been subject to securities class action litigation. We have been the target of this type of litigation and we may be the
target of this type of litigation in the future. Securities litigation against us could result in substantial costs and/or damages, and divert management's
attention from other business concems, which could seriously harm our business.

Furthermore, short sellers may engage in activity intended to drive down the market price of our common stock, which could also result in related
regulatory and govemmental scrutiny, among other effects. Short selling is the practice of selling securities that the seller does not own but rather has
borrowed or intends to borrow from a third party with the intention of later buying lower priced identical securities to retum to the lender. Accordingly, it is
in the interest of a short seller of our common stock for the price to decline. At any time, short sellers may also publish, or arrange for the publication of,
opinions or characterizations that are intended to create negative market momentum in our common stock. Short selling reports can cause downward
pressure and increased wolatility in an issuer's stock price. In particular, on March 20, 2024, a short seller report was published about us, which
contained certain allegations related to components of our operating results and other strategic matters. As a result, the Audit Committee of our Board of
Directors commenced an independent investigation to review the matters referenced in the report. Shortly after the release of the report, we received a
subpoena from the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Northem District of Califomia and on April 30, 2024, we also received a subpoena from the Securities
and Exchange Commission. We are cooperating fully with both. The foregoing subpoenas, or any inquiries or investigations conducted by a
governmental organization or other regulatory body or interal investigation, could result in a material diversion of our management’s time and result in
substantial cost and, in the event of an adverse finding, could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Our results of operations may fluctuate.

We hawe experienced fluctuations in our results of operations on a quarterly and annual basis. The fluctuations in our results of operations may
cause the market price of our common stock to be wolatile. We may experience significant fluctuations in our results of operations in the foreseeable
future due to a variety of factors, many of which are listed in this Risk Factors section. Additional factors could include, but are not limited to:

» the timing and magnitude of depreciation and interest expense or other expenses related to the acquisition, purchase or construction of
additional IBX data centers or the upgrade of existing IBX data centers;

» demand for space, power and solutions at our IBXdata centers;

+ the availability of power and the associated cost of procuring the power;

» changes in general economic conditions, such as those stemming from pandemics or other economic downtumns, or specific market conditions
in the telecommunications and intemet industries, any of which could have a material impact on us or on our customer base;
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additions and changes in product offerings and our ability to ramp up and integrate new products within the time period we hawe forecasted;
restructuring charges incurred in the event of a realignment of our management structure, operations or products;

the financial condition and credit risk of our customers;

the provision of customer discounts and credits;

the mix of current and proposed products and offerings and the gross margins associated with our products and offerings;

increasing repair and maintenance expenses in connection with aging IBX data centers;

lack of available capacity in our existing IBX data centers to generate new revenue or delays in opening new or acquired IBX data centers that
delay our ability to generate new revenue in markets which have otherwise reached capacity;

changes in employee stock-based compensation;

changes in our tax planning strategies or failure to realize anticipated benefits from such strategies;

changes in income tax benefit or expense; and

changes in or new GAAP as periodically released by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB").

Any of the foregoing factors, or other factors discussed elsewhere in this report, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations and financial condition. Although we have experienced growth in revenues in recent quarters, this growth rate is not necessarily indicative of
future results of operations. It is possible that we may not be able to generate net income on a quarterly or annual basis in the future. In addition, a
relatively large portion of our expenses are fixed in the short-term, particularly with respect to lease and personnel expenses, depreciation and
amortization and interest expenses. Therefore, our results of operations are particularly sensitive to fluctuations in revenues. As such, comparisons to
prior reporting periods should not be relied upon as indications of our future performance. In addition, our results of operations in one or more future
quarters may fail to meet the expectations of securities analysts or investors.

We may incur goodwill and other intangible asset impairment charges, or impairment charges to our property, plant and equipment,
which could result in a significant reduction to our earnings.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we are required to assess our goodwill and other intangible assets annually, or more frequently whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate potential impairment, such as changing market conditions or any changes in key assumptions. If the testing
performed indicates that an asset may not be recowverable, we are required to record a non-cash impairment charge for the difference between the
carrying value of the goodwill or other intangible assets and the implied fair value of the goodwill or other intangible assets in the period the determination
is made.

We also periodically monitor the remaining net book values of our property, plant and equipment, generally at the individual IBX data center lewel.
Although our individual IBX data centers are generally performing in accordance with our expectations, our IBX data centers could under-perform relative
to our expectations which may result in additional non-cash impairment charges.

These charges could be significant, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

We have incurred substantial losses in the past and may incur additional losses in the future.

As of December 31, 2024, our retained eamings were $4.7 billion. We are cumently investing heavily in our future growth through the build out of
multiple additional IBX data centers, expansions of IBX data centers and acquisitions of complementary businesses. As a result, we will incur higher
depreciation and other operating expenses, as well as transaction costs and interest expense, that may negatively impact our ability to sustain
profitability in future periods unless and until these new IBX data centers generate enough revenue to exceed their operating costs and cower the
additional overhead needed to scale our business for this anticipated growth. The current global financial uncertainty may also impact our ability to
sustain profitability if we cannot generate sufficient revenue to offset the increased costs of our recently opened IBX data centers or IBX data centers
currently under construction. In addition, costs associated with the acquisition and integration of any acquired companies, as well as the additional
interest expense associated with debt financing, we have undertaken to fund our growth initiatives,
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may also negatively impact our ability to sustain profitability. Finally, given the competitive and ewolving nature of the industry in which we operate, we
may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.

Risks Related to Our Expansion Plans

Our construction of new IBX data centers, IBX data center expansions or IBX data center redevelopment could involve significant risks to
our business.

In order to sustain our growth in certain of our existing and new markets, we may hawe to expand an existing data center, lease a new facility or
acquire suitable land, with or without structures, to build new IBX data centers from the ground up. Expansions or new builds are currently underway, or
being contemplated, in new and existing markets. These construction projects expose us to many risks which could have an adwerse effect on our
results of operations and financial condition. The current global supply chain and inflation issues have exacerbated many of these construction risks and
created additional risks for our business. Some of the risks associated with construction projects include:

construction delays;

power and power grid constraints;

lack of availability and delays for data center equipment, including items such as generators and switchgear;

unexpected budget changes;

increased prices for and delays in obtaining building supplies, raw materials and data center equipment;

labor availability, labor disputes and work stoppages with contractors, subcontractors and other third parties;

unanticipated environmental issues and geological problems;

delays related to permitting and approvals to open from public agencies and utility companies;

unexpected lack or reduction of power access;

delays in site readiness leading to our failure to meet commitments made to customers planning to expand into a new build; and
unanticipated customer requirements that would necessitate altemative data center design, making our sites less desirable or leading to
increased costs in order to make necessary modifications or retrofits.

We are currently experiencing rising construction costs which reflect the increase in cost of labor and raw materials, supply chain and logistic
challenges, and high demand in our sector. While we hawve invested in creating a resene of materials to mitigate supply chain issues and inflation, it may
not be sufficient and ongoing delays, difficulty finding replacement products and continued high inflation could affect our business and growth and could
have a material effect on our business. In certain instances we hawve elected to pre-buy certain equipment and materials to mitigate supply chain issues
before our construction plans are finalized. If our estimates are wrong we may be liable to pay for goods we no longer need. Additional or unexpected
disruptions to our supply chain, including in the event of any sustained regional escalation of the current conflict in the Middle East in the area around
the Red Sea or more broadly, or inflationary pressures could significantly affect the cost of our planned expansion projects and interfere with our ability to
meet commitments to customers who have contracted for space in new IBX data centers under construction.

Construction projects are dependent on pemitting from public agencies and utility companies. Any delay in permitting could affect our growth. We
are cumrently experiencing permitting delays in most metros due to reduced production from labor availability. While we don't currently anticipate any
material long-term negative impact to our business because of these construction delays, these types of delays and stoppages related to permitting from
public agencies and utility companies could worsen and have an adwerse effect on our bookings, revenue or growth.

Additionally, all construction related projects require us to carefully select and rely on the experience of one or more designers, general contractors,
and associated subcontractors during the design and construction process. Should a designer, general contractor, significant subcontractor or key
supplier experience financial problems or other problems during the design or construction process, we could experience significant delays, increased
costs to complete the project and/or other negative impacts to our expected retums.

Site selection is also a critical factor in our expansion plans. There may not be suitable properties available in our markets with the necessary
combination of high-power capacity and fiber connectivity, or selection may be limited. We expect that we will continue to experience limited availability
of power and grid constraints in many markets as well as shortages of associated equipment because of the current high demands and finite nature of
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these resources. These shortages could result in site selection challenges, construction delays or increased costs. Government limitations or
moratoriums placed on data center construction in a given market may also negatively impact our ability to expand according to our plans. Thus, while
we may prefer to locate new IBX data centers adjacent to our existing locations, it may not always be possible. In the event we decide to build new IBX
data centers separate from our existing IBX data centers, we may provide metro connect solutions to connect these two IBX data centers. Should these
solutions not provide the necessary reliability to sustain connection, or if they do not meet the needs of our customers, this could result in lower
interconnection revenue and lower margins and could have a negative impact on customer retention over time.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may not realize the financial or strategic goals that were contemplated at the time of any
transaction.

Ovwer the last seweral years, we have completed numerous acquisitions, including most recently that of five data centers in Peru and Chile from
Empresa Nacional De Telecomunicaciones S.A. ("Entel") in 2022 and four data centers as well as a subsea cable and terrestrial fiber network in West
Africa from MainOne Cable Company ("MainOne") in 2022. We expect to make additional acquisitions in the future, which may include (i) acquisitions of
businesses, products, solutions or technologies that we believe to be complementary, (i) acquisitions of new IBX data centers or real estate for
dewelopment of new IBX data centers; (jii) acquisitions through investments in local data center operators; or (iv) acquisitions in new markets with higher
risk profiles. We may pay for future acquisitions by using our existing cash resources (which may limit other potential uses of our cash), incurring
additional debt (which may increase our interest expense, leverage and debt senice requirements) and/or issuing shares (which may dilute our existing
stockholders and have a negative effect on our eamings per share). Acquisitions expose us to potential risks, including:

+ the possible disruption of our ongoing business and diversion of management's attention by acquisition, transition and integration activities,
particularly when multiple acquisitions and integrations are occurring at the same time or when we are entering an emerging market with a
higher risk profile;

+ our potential inability to successfully pursue or realize some or all of the anticipated revenue opportunities associated with an acquisition or
investment;

+ the possibility that we may not be able to successfully integrate acquired businesses, or businesses in which we invest, or achieve anticipated
operating efficiencies or cost savngs;

« the possibility that announced acquisitions may not be completed, due to failure to satisfy the conditions to closing as a resullt of:

* aninjunction, law or order that makes unlawful the consummation of the acquisition;

» inaccuracy or breach of the representations and warranties of, or the non-compliance with covenants by, either party;
+ the nonreceipt of closing documents; or

e for other reasons;

+ the possibility that there could be a delay in the completion of an acquisition, which could, among other things, result in additional transaction
costs, loss of revenue or other adverse effects resulting from such uncertainty;

+ the possibility that our projections about the success of an acquisition could be inaccurate and any such inaccuracies could have a material
adwerse effect on our financial projections;

+ the dilution of our existing stockholders as a result of our issuing stock as consideration in a transaction or selling stock in order to fund the
transaction;

+ the possibility of customer dissatisfaction if we are unable to achiewve lewels of quality and stability on par with past practices;

» the possibility that we will be unable to retain relationships with key customers, landlords and/or suppliers of the acquired businesses, some of
which may terminate their contracts with the acquired business as a result of the acquisition or which may attempt to negotiate changes in their
current or future business relationships with us;

+ the possibility that we could lose key employees from the acquired businesses;

» the possibility that we may be unable to integrate certain IT systems that do not meet Equinix's standard requirements with respect to security,
privacy or any other standard;

» the potential deterioration in our ability to access credit markets due to increased leverage;

+ the possibility that our customers may not accept either the existing equipment infrastructure or the "look-and-feel" of a new or different IBX data
center;
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» the possibility that additional capital expenditures may be required or that transaction expenses associated with acquisitions may be higher
than anticipated;

» the possibility that required financing to fund an acquisition may not be available on acceptable terms or at all;

+ the possibility that we may be unable to obtain required approvals from governmental authorities under antitrust and competition laws on a timely
basis or at all, which could, among other things, delay or prevent us from completing an acquisition, limit our ability to realize the expected
financial or strategic benefits of an acquisition or have other adwverse effects on our current business and operations;

» the possible loss or reduction in value of acquired businesses;

+ the possibility that future acquisitions may present new complexities in deal structure, related complex accounting and coordination with new
partners, particularly in light of our desire to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT;

+ the possibility that we may not be able to prepare and issue our financial statements and other public filings in a timely and accurate manner,
and/or maintain an effective control environment, due to the strain on the finance organization when multiple acquisitions and integrations are
occurring at the same time;

» the possibility that future acquisitions may trigger property tax reassessments resulting in a substantial increase to our property taxes beyond
that which we anticipated;

+ the possibility that future acquisitions may be in geographies and regulatory environments to which we are unaccustomed and we may become
subject to complex requirements and risks with which we have limited experience;

+ the possibility that future acquisitions may appear less attractive due to fluctuations in foreign currency rates;

+ the possibility that carriers may find it cost-prohibitive or impractical to bring fiber and networks into a new IBX data center;

+ the possibility of litigation or other claims in connection with, or as a result of, an acquisition, or inherited from the acquired company, including
claims from terminated employees, customers, former stockholders or other third parties;

+ the possibility that asset divestments may be required in order to obtain regulatory clearance for a transaction;

« the possibility of pre-existing undisclosed liabilities, including, but not limited to, lease or landlord related liability, tax liability, environmental
liability or asbestos liability, for which insurance cowverage may be insufficient or unawailable, or other issues not discowered in the diligence
process;

+ the possibility that we receive limited or incorrect information about the acquired business in the diligence process; and

+ the possibility that we do not have full isibility into customer agreements and customer termination rights during the diligence process which
could expose us to additional liabilities after completing the acquisition.

The occurrence of any of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. If
an acquisition does not proceed or is materially delayed for any reason, the price of our common stock may be adversely impacted, and we will not
recognize the anticipated benefits of the acquisition.

We cannot assure that the price of any future acquisitions of IBX data centers or businesses will be similar to prior IBX data center acquisitions and
businesses. In fact, we expect costs required to build or render new IBX data centers operational to increase in the future. If our revenue does not keep
pace with these potential acquisition and expansion costs, we may not be able to maintain our current or expected margins as we absorb these
additional expenses. There is no assurance we would successfully overcome these risks, or any other problems encountered with these acquisitions.

The anticipated benefits of our joint ventures may not be fully realized, or take longer to realize than expected.

We hawe entered into joint ventures to develop and operate data centers. Certain sites that are intended to be utilized in joint ventures require
investment for development. The success of these joint ventures will depend, in part, on our ability to find suitable land and power as well as the
successful development of the data center sites. Such development may be more difficult, time-consuming or costly than expected and could result in
increased costs, decreases in the amount of expected revenues and diversion of management's time and energy, which could

30



Table of Contents

materially impact our business, financial condition and results of operations. Additionally, if it is determined these sites are no longer desirable for the
joint ventures, we would need to adapt such sites for other purposes.

We may not realize all of the anticipated benefits from our joint ventures. The success of these joint ventures will depend, in part, on the successful
partnership between Equinix and our joint venture partners. Such a partnership is subject to risks as outlined below, and more generally, to the same
types of business risks as would impact our IBX data center business. A failure to successfully partner, or a failure to realize our expectations for the
joint ventures, including any contemplated exit strategy from a joint venture, could materially impact our business, financial condition and results of
operations. These joint ventures could also be negatively impacted by inflation, supply chain issues, an inability to obtain financing on favorable terms or
at all, an inability to fill the data center sites with customers as planned, unexpected power constraints, and dewvelopment and construction delays,
including those we are currently experiencing in many markets globally.

Joint venture investments could expose us to risks and liabilities in connection with the formation of the new joint ventures, the operation
of such joint ventures without sole decision-making authority, and our reliance on joint venture partners who may have economic and
business interests that are inconsistent with our business interests.

In addition to our current and proposed joint ventures, we may co-invest with other third parties through partnerships, joint ventures or other entities in
the future. These joint ventures could result in our acquisition of non-controlling interests in, or shared responsibility for, managing the affairs of a property
or portfolio of properties, partnership, joint venture or other entity. We may be subject to additional risks, including:

* we may not hawve the right to exercise sole decision-making authority regarding the properties, partnership, joint venture or other entity;

+ if our partners become bankrupt or fail to fund their share of required capital contributions, we may choose to or be required to contribute such
capital or be otherwise adversely impacted;

» our partners may have economic, tax or other business interests or goals which are inconsistent with our business interests or goals, and may
be in a position to take actions contrary to our policies or objectives;

- ourjoint venture partners may take actions that are not within our control, which could require us to dispose of the joint venture asset, transfer it
to a taxable REIT subsidiary ("TRS") in order to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT, or purchase the partner's interests or assets at
an above-market price;

« our joint venture partners may take actions unrelated to our business agreement but which reflect poorly on us because of our joint venture
relationship;

» disputes between us and our partners may result in litigation or arbitration that would increase our expenses and prevent our management from
focusing their time and effort on our day-to-day business;

+ we may in certain circumstances be liable for the actions of our third-party partners or guarantee all or a portion of the joint venture's liabilities,
which may require us to pay an amount greater than its investment in the joint venture;

* we may fail to maintain the complex tax structure of the joint ventures and, as a result, become liable for additional tax liabilities of the joint
ventures;

+ our joint venture partner may have contractual exit rights under certain circumstances, and may force us to buy them out on terms and timing
unfavorable to us;

+ we may need to change the structure of an established joint venture or create new complex structures to meet our business needs or the needs
of our partners which could prove challenging; and

+ ajoint venture partner's decision to exit the joint venture may not be at an opportune time for us or in our business interests.

Each of these factors may result in retums on these investments being less than we expect or in losses, and our financial and results of operations
may be adwersely affected.

If we cannot effectively manage our international operations and successfully implement our international expansion plans, our business
and results of operations would be adversely impacted.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we recognized approximately 62%, 63% and 61%, respectively, of our revenues outside
the U.S. We currently operate outside of the U.S. in Canada, Mexico, South America, the Asia-Pacific region and the EMEA region.
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In addition, we are currently undergoing expansions or evaluating expansion opportunities outside of the U.S., which includes entering into emerging
and high-risk markets. Undertaking and managing expansions in foreign jurisdictions may present unanticipated challenges to us.

QOur intemational operations are generally subject to a number of additional risks, including:

+ the costs of customizing IBX data centers for foreign countries;

» protectionist laws and business practices favoring local competition;

+ greater difficulty or delay in accounts receivable collection;

» difficulties in staffing and managing foreign operations, including negotiating with foreign labor unions or workers' councils;
+ difficulties in managing across cultures and in foreign languages;

» political and economic instability;

+ fluctuations in currency exchange rates;

» difficulties in repatriating funds from certain countries;

+ our ability to obtain, transfer or maintain licenses required by governmental entities with respect to our business;

+ unexpected changes in regulatory, tax and political environments;

+ difficulties in procuring power;

* trade wars;

+ changes in the government and public administration in emerging markets that may impact the stability of foreign investment policies;
+ our ability to secure and maintain the necessary physical and telecommunications infrastructure;

» compliance with anti-bribery and corruption laws;

+ compliance with economic and trade sanctions enforced by the Office of Foreign Assets Control of the U.S. Department of Treasury, the Bureau
of Industry and Security of the US Department of Commerce and other enforcement agencies in other jurisdictions around the world including
those related to the Russian and Ukrainian war;

» compliance with changing laws, policies and requirements related to sustainability;

» increasing scrutiny on the operational resilience of data centers, especially in countries where data centers are designated as critical national
infrastructure and/or essential ICT senice providers;

* increasing resistance to data center presence and expansion by local communities;

» compliance with evoling cybersecurity laws including reporting requirements; and

+ compliance with evolving govemmental regulation.

Further, if we cannot effectively manage the challenges associated with our intermational operations and expansion plans, we could experience a
delay in our expansion projects or a failure to grow. Expansion challenges and intemational operations failures could also materially damage our
reputation, our brand, our business and results of operations. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to anticipate and address these risks and
manage these difficulties.

We continue to invest in our expansion efforts, but may not have sufficient customer demand in the future to realize expected returns on
these investments.

We are considering the acquisition or lease of additional properties and the construction of new IBX data centers beyond those expansion projects
already announced. We will be required to commit substantial operational and financial resources to these IBX data centers, generally 12 to 18 months
in advance of securing customer contracts, and we may not have sufficient customer demand in those markets to support these IBX data centers once
they are built. In addition, unanticipated technological changes could affect customer requirements for data centers, and we may not hawe built such
requirements into our new IBX data centers. Either of these contingencies, if they were to occur, could make it difficult for us to realize expected or
reasonable retumns on these investments.
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Risks Related to Our Capital Needs and Capital Strategy

Our substantial debt could adversely affect our cash flows and limit our flexibility to raise additional capital.

We hawe a significant amount of debt and may need to incur additional debt to support our growth. Additional debt may also be incurred to fund
future acquisitions, any future special distributions, regular distributions or the other cash outlays associated with maintaining our qualification for
taxation as a REIT. As of December 31, 2024, our total indebtedness (inclusive of finance lease liabilities and gross of debt issuance costs and debt
discounts) was approximately $17.6 billion, our stockholders' equity was $13.5 billion and our cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments totaled
$3.6 billion. In addition, as of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $3.9 billion of additional liquidity available to us from our $4.0 billion revolving
credit facility. In addition to our substantial debt, we lease many of our IBX data centers and certain equipment under lease agreements, some of which
are accounted for as operating leases. As of December 31, 2024, we recorded operating lease liabilities of $1.5 billion, which represents our obligation to
make lease payments under those lease arrangements.

Our substantial amount of debt and related covenants, and our off-balance sheet commitments, could have important consequences. For example,
they could:

» require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to make interest and principal payments on our debt and in respect

of other off-balance sheet arrangements, reducing the availability of our cash flow to fund future capital expenditures, working capital, execution

of our expansion strategy and other general corporate requirements;

increase the likelihood of negative outlook from our credit rating agencies, or of a downgrade to our current rating;

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our various debt instruments;

increase our cost of borrowing and even limit our ability to access additional debt to fund future growth;

increase our winerability to general adverse economic and industry conditions and adverse changes in govemmental regulations;

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and industry, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage

compared with our competitors;

+  limit our operating flexibility through covenants with which we must comply;

+ limit our ability to borrow additional funds, even when necessary to maintain adequate liquidity, which would also limit our ability to further
expand our business; and

+ make us more winerable to increases in interest rates because of the variable interest rates on some of our borrowings to the extent we have
not entirely hedged such variable-rate debt.

The occurrence of any of the foregoing factors could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We may also need to refinance a portion of our outstanding debt as it matures. There is a risk that we may not be able to refinance existing debt or
that the terms of any refinancing may not be as favorable as the terms of our existing debt. Furthermore, if prevailing interest rates or other factors at the
time of refinancing result in higher interest rates upon refinancing, then the interest expense relating to that refinanced indebtedness would increase.
These risks could materially adversely affect our financial condition, cash flows and results of operations.

Sales or issuances of shares of our common stock may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Future sales or issuances of common stock or other equity related securities may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, including
any shares of our common stock issued to finance capital expenditures, finance acquisitions or repay debt. In October 2024, we established an "at the
market" equity offering program (the "2024 ATM Program") to replace a previous program from 2022 which had been exhausted (the "2022 ATM
Program”). Under the $2.0 billion 2024 ATM Program, we may, from time to time, issue and sell shares of our common stock to or through sales agents
up to established limits. As of December 31, 2024, we had approximately $1.3 billion available for sale under the 2024 ATM Program. We have refreshed
our ATM program in the past and expect to refresh our ATM program periodically, which could lead to additional dilution for our stockholders in the
future. We may also seek authorization to sell additional shares of common stock through other means which could
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lead to additional dilution for our stockholders. Please see Note 11 within the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report on Form 10K for
sales of our common stock under our ATM programs.

If we are not able to generate sufficient operating cash flows or obtain external financing, our ability to fund incremental expansion plans
may be limited.

Our capital expenditures, together with ongoing operating expenses, obligations to senice our debt and the cash outlays associated with our REIT
distribution requirements, are, and will continue to be, a substantial burden on our cash flow and may decrease our cash balances. Additional debt or
equity financing may not be awailable when needed or, if available, may not be available on satisfactory terms. Our inability to obtain additional debt
and/or equity financing or to generate sufficient cash from operations may require us to prioritize projects or curtail capital expenditures which could
adwersely affect our results of operations.

Our derivative transactions expose us to counterparty credit risk.

Our derivative transactions expose us to risk of financial loss if a counterparty fails to perform under a derivative contract. Disruptions in the financial
markets could lead to sudden decreases in a counterparty's liquidity, which could make them unable to perform under the terms of their derivative
contract and we may not be able to realize the benefit of the derivative contract.

Risks Related to Environmental Laws and Climate Change Impact
Environmental regulations may impose upon us new or unexpected costs.

We are subject to various federal, state and local envronmental and health and safety laws and regulations in the United States and at our non-U.S.
locations, including those relating to the generation, storage, handling and disposal of hazardous substances, regulated materials and wastes. Certain of
these laws and regulations also impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault, for investigation and cleanup costs on current and former owners
and operators of real property and persons who hawe disposed of or released hazardous substances into the environment. Our operations involve the use
of hazardous substances and other regulated materials such as petroleum fuel for emergency generators, as well as batteries, cleaning solutions,
refrigerants and other materials. At some of our locations, hazardous substances or regulated materials are known to be present in soil or groundwater,
and there may be additional unknown hazardous substances, or regulated materials present at sites that we own, operate or lease. At some of our
locations, there are land use restrictions in place relating to earlier environmental cleanups that do not materially limit our use of the sites. To the extent
any hazardous substances or any other substance or material must be investigated, cleaned up or removed from our property, we may be responsible
under applicable laws, permits or leases for the investigation, removal or cleanup of such substances or materials, the cost of which could be
substantial.

We purchase significant amounts of electricity from generating facilities and utility companies. These facilities and utility companies are subject to
environmental laws, regulations, permit requirements and policy decisions that could be subject to material change, which could result in increases in
our electricity suppliers' compliance costs that may be passed through to us. Regulations promulgated by the U.S. EPA or state agencies, or by
regulators in other countries, could limit air emissions from fossil fuel-fired power plants, restrict discharges of cooling water, limit the availability of
potable water and otherwise impose new operational restraints on power plants that could increase costs of electricity. Regulatory programs intended to
promote increased generation of electricity from renewable sources may also increase our costs of procuring electricity. In addition, we are directly
subject to environmental, health and safety laws regulating air emissions, storm water management and other environmental matters arising in our
business. For example, our emergency generators are subject to state, federal and country-specific regulations governing air pollutants, which could limit
the operation of those generators or require the installation of new pollution control technologies. While environmental regulations do not normally impose
material costs upon our operations, unexpected events, equipment malfunctions, human error and changes in law or regulations, among other factors,
can lead to additional capital requirements, limitations upon our operations and unexpected increased costs.

Regulation of greenhouse gas ("GHG") emissions could increase our costs of doing business, for example by increasing the cost of electricity
produced by more GHG-intensive means (e.g., generated from fossil fuels), which could require the management or reduction of GHG emissions (e.g.,
carbon dioxide capture), or by imposing taxes or fees upon electricity or GHG emissions. In recent years, there has been interest in the U.S. and in
countries
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where we operate abroad in regulating GHG emissions and otherwise addressing risks related to climate change. For example, in the U.S., regulations
and legislation have been proposed or enacted during the Biden Administration that limit or otherwise seeks to discourage carbon dioxide emissions and
the use of fossil fuels. The change in the U.S. presidential administration may lead to a different regulatory agenda, particularly regarding efforts to limit
GHG emissions. Other countries in which we operate may also impose requirements and restrictions on GHG emissions.

Govermnmental regulations also have the potential to increase our costs of obtaining electricity. Certain U.S. states in which we operate hawe issued
or are considering and may enact environmental regulations that could materially affect our facilities and electricity costs. For example, California limits
GHG emissions from new and existing conventional power plants by imposing regulatory caps and by auctioning the rights to emission allowances.
Multiple other states have issued regulations (or are considering regulations) to implement carbon cap and trade programs, carbon pricing programs and
other mechanisms designed to limit GHG emissions.

To date, regulations aimed at reducing GHG emissions have not had a material adverse effect on our electricity costs, but potential new regulatory
requirements and the market-driven nature of some of the programs could havwe a material adverse effect on electricity costs in the future. Global
environmental regulations are expected to continue to change and evolve and may impose upon us new or unexpected costs. Concern about climate
change and sustainability in various jurisdictions may result in more stringent laws and regulatory requirements regarding emissions of carbon dioxide or
other GHGs. Restrictions on carbon dioxide or other GHG emissions could result in significant increases in operating or capital costs, including higher
energy costs generally, and increased costs from carbon taxes, emission cap and trade programs and renewable portfolio standards that are imposed
upon our electricity suppliers. These higher energy costs, and the cost of complying across our global platform or of failing to comply with these and any
other climate change regulations, may hawe an adwerse effect on our business and our results of operations. The course of future legislation and
regulation in the U.S. and abroad remains difficult to predict and the potential increased costs associated with national or supra-national GHG regulation
and other government policies cannot be estimated at this time.

Our business may be adversely affected by physical risks related to climate change and our response to it.

Sewere weather events, such as droughts, wildfires, flooding, heat wawes, huricanes, typhoons and winter storms, pose a threat to our IBX data
centers and our customers' IT infrastructure through physical damage to facilities or equipment, power supply disruption, and long-term effects on the
cost of electricity. The frequency and intensity of severe weather events are reportedly increasing as part of broader climate changes. Changes in global
weather pattems may also pose long-term risks of physical impacts to our business.

We maintain disaster recovery and business continuity plans that would be implemented in the event of severe weather events that interrupt our
business or affect our customers' IT infrastructure housed in our IBX data centers. While these plans are designed to allow us to recover from natural
disasters or other events that can interrupt our business, we cannot be certain that our plans will work as intended to mitigate the impacts of such
disasters or events. Failure to prevent impact to customers from such events could adwersely affect our business.

We may fail to achieve our sustainability objectives, or may encounter objections to them, either of which may adversely affect public
perception of our business and affect our relationship with our customers, our stockholders and/or other stakeholders.

We hawe established sustainability objectives, including long-term goals of procuring 100% clean and renewable energy coverage and reducing our
GHG emissions from our operations and supply chain. We also face pressure from our customers, stockholders and other stakeholders, such as the
communities in which we operate, who are increasingly focused on climate change, to prioritize renewable energy procurement, reduce our carbon
footprint and promote resource efficiency practices. To address these stakeholder goals and concems, where possible, we plan to continue to scale our
renewable energy strategy, seek low-carbon altematives for traditional fuel sources, use refrigerants that pose fewer risks of environmental impact, and
pursue opportunities to improve energy and water efficiency. As a result of these and other initiatives, we intend to make progress towards reducing our
environmental impact and global carbon footprint, meet our public climate related goals, as well as ensuring that our business remains viable in a low-
carbon economy.
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Pursuing these objectives involves additional costs for conducting our business. For example, developing and acting on sustainability initiatives,
including collecting, measuring, and reporting information, goals and other metrics can be costly, difficult and time consuming. We hawe separately
undertaken efforts to procure coverage from renewable energy projects in order to support availability of new renewables development. These efforts to
support and enhance renewable electricity generation may increase our costs of electricity above those that would be incurred through procurement of
conwentional electricity from existing sources or through conventional grids. Reducing our carbon footprint may require physical or operational
modifications that may be costly. These initiatives could adversely affect our financial position and results of operations.

There is also a risk that our sustainability objectives will not be met. It is possible that we may fail to reach our stated environmental goals in a
timely manner or that our customers, stockholders or members of our communities might not be satisfied with our sustainability efforts or the speed of
their adoption. Our customers, stockholders or other stakeholders may object to our sustainability objectives or the manner in which we seek to achieve
such objectives. A failure to meet our environmental goals, or significant controversy regarding these goals and how we achieve them, could adversely
affect public perception of our business, employee morale or customer, stockholder or community support. If we do not meet our customers' or
stockholders' expectations regarding those initiatives, or lose support in our communities, our business and/or our share price could be harmed.

There is some indication that sustainability goals are becoming more controwersial, as some govemmental entities in the U.S. and certain investor
constituencies question the appropriateness of or object to sustainability initiatives. Some investors may use sustainability-related factors to guide their
investment strategies and may choose not to invest in us, a factor that could tend to reduce demand for our shares and possibly affect our share price
adwersely. In addition, the recent change to the United States presidential administration could impact our sustainability goals. WWe may face increased
govemmental scrutiny, potential enforcement actions or private litigation challenging our sustainability goals, or our disclosure of those goals and our
metrics for measuring achievement of them. New or changing regulation or public opinion regarding our sustainability goals or our actions to achieve
them may result in adwerse effects on our financial performance, reputation or demand for our senices and products, or may otherwise result in
obligations and liabilities that cannot be predicted or estimated at this time.

Risks Related to Certain Regulations and Laws, Including Tax Laws

Government regulation related to our business or failure to comply with laws and regulations may adversely affect our business.

Various laws and governmental regulations, both in the U.S. and abroad, goveming intemet-related senices, related communications senices and
information technologies remain largely unsettled, even in areas where there has been some legislative action. For example, the Federal
Communications Commission ("FCC") intention to reinstate the net neutrality rules that have been temporarily stayed by the U.S. Court of Appeals for
the Sixth Circuit in August, may result in material changes in the regulations and contribution regime affecting our customers. Changes to these laws
and regulations could have a material adverse effect on us and our customers. We expect there may also be forthcoming regulation in areas of regulating
the responsible use of Al, such as the proposed EU Artificial Intelligence Act and the introduction of heightened measures to be adopted with respect to
cybersecurity, operational resilience, data privacy, sustainability, taxation and data security, any of which could impact us and our customers.

We remain focused on whether and how existing and changing laws, such as those goweming intellectual property, privacy, libel,
telecommunications senices, data flows/data localization, carbon emissions impact, competition and antitrust, and taxation apply to our business and
those which might have a material effect on our customers’ decisions to purchase our solutions. Substantial resources may be required to comply with
regulations or bring any non-compliant business practices into compliance with such regulations. In addition, the continuing development of the market
for online commerce and the displacement of traditional telephony senice by the intemet and related communications senices may prompt an increased
call for more stringent consumer protection laws or other regulation both in the U.S. and abroad that may impose additional burdens on companies
conducting business online and their senice providers.

Many countries and states hawe increasingly taken a more proactive approach on sustainability through the adoption of regulations that oblige
corporations to make disclosures on their corporate sustainability efforts through
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mandatory reporting and to decarbonize their operations and supply chain. It is possible that compliance with the sustainability-related regulations and
directives will require us to re-evaluate and make changes to our current operations and our supply chain and thus increase our cost of doing business in
the relevant affected regions or countries. We may incur incremental costs to enhance our intemal systems to collect the data needed to meet these
regulatory requirements, including attestation standards.

In countries where there are shortages of power, land and water resources, local govemments hawe and/or will be imposing more stringent
regulations and requirements to control the growth and development of data centers in their countries. New builds and further expansion of data center
operations in such markets are increasingly being evaluated and approvals (where required) may only be granted where a data center operator is not only
able to demonstrate that it is efficient in its use of energy and water but also that its operations havwe and/or will bring positive and significant
environmental, economic and social impact to the country and the local community.

Digitalization has been accelerated in many countries as a direct consequence of the pandemic and regulators are increasingly aware and
recognizing the importance of data centers in ensuring the availability, resiliency, security and stability of digitalized critical senices such as national
security, healthcare and financial and banking senices. Our business was designated "critical infrastructure” or "essential senices" which allowed our
data centers to remain open in many jurisdictions during the COVID-19 pandemic. Regulations such as the US Cyber Incident Reporting for Critical
Infrastructure Act of 2022 (“CIRCIA 2022"), the SEC Cybersecurity Disclosure Rule, the EU Network and Information Security Directive No.2 (“NIS 2°), the
EU Digital Operational Resilience Act (‘DORA”), and Australia’s Security of Critical Infrastructure Act 2018 make it mandatory for Equinix to comply with
more stringent requirements related to cybersecurity, controls on data storage and cross border data transfer and operational resilience, more so, in
countries where our entities and/or IBXs are designated as critical information or critical national infrastructure. Any regulations restricting our ability to
operate our business for any reason could have a material adverse effect on our business. Additionally, these "essential senices" and "critical
infrastructure” designations could lead countries or local regulators to impose additional regulations on the data center industry in order to have better
visibility and control over our industry for future events and crises. Compliance with these regulations may also lead to additional costs and impact
retums on investments in the relevant jurisdictions.

We strive to comply with all laws and regulations that apply to our business. Howewer, as these laws ewlwe, they can be subject to varying
interpretations and regulatory discretion. To the extent a regulator or court disagrees with our interpretation of these laws and determines that our
practices are not in compliance with applicable laws and regulations, we could be subject to civil and criminal penalties that could adversely affect our
business operations. The adoption, or modification of laws or regulations relating to the intemet and our business, or interpretations of existing laws,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Changes in U.S. or foreign tax laws, regulations, or interpretations thereof, including changes to tax rates, may adversely affect our
financial statements and cash taxes.

We are a U.S. company with global subsidiaries and are subject to income and other taxes in the U.S. (although cumrently limited due to our
taxation as a REIT) and many foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income and other taxes.
Although we believe that we have adequately assessed and accounted for our potential tax liabilities, and that our tax estimates are reasonable, there
can be no certainty that additional taxes will not be due upon audit of our tax retums or as a result of changes to the tax laws and interpretations thereof.
For example, we are currently undergoing audits in a number of jurisdictions where we operate. The final results of these audits are uncertain and may
not be resolved in our favor.

The Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development ("OECD") is an intemational association made up of over 30 countries including the
U.S. The OECD has proposed and made numerous changes to long-standing tax principles, which, if adopted by the member countries, could hawe a
materially adverse effect on our tax liabilities. For example, it has proposed a framework to implement a global minimum tax of 15% for businesses with
global revenues and profits abowe certain thresholds (referred to as Pillar Two). The framework includes a mechanism empowering foreign jurisdictions to
lew a top-up tax on our profits in the U.S. Certain aspects of Pillar Two became effective January 1, 2024, and the rest of the new tax regime will
become generally effective January 1, 2025, depending on whether the rules have been adopted and ratified by the legislatures in the OECD countries.
While it is uncertain whether the U.S. will enact legislation to adopt Pillar Two, certain countries in which we operate
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have partially adopted Pillar Two, and other countries are in the process of introducing legislation to adopt the new tax regime. We are continuing to
evaluate the impacts of the development in the jurisdictions in which we operate.

Our business could be adversely affected if we are unable to maintain our complex global legal entity structure.

We maintain a complex global organizational structure, containing numerous legal entities of varied types and sening various purposes, in each
country in which we operate. For example, to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we use TRSs and
qualified REIT subsidiaries ("QRSs") in order to segregate our income between net income from real estate and net income from other non-real estate
activities. This results in significantly more entities than we might otherwise utilize if we were not having to maintain our qualification for taxation as a
REIT in the U.S.

Additionally, we maintain certain other regional and/or business specific organizational structures for various tax, legal and other business purposes.
The organization, maintenance and reporting requirements for our entity structure are complex and require coordination amongst many teams within
Equinix and the use of outside senice providers. While we use automation tools and software where possible to manage this process, a meaningful
amount of work continues to be manual. We believe we have adequate controls in place to manage these complex structures, but if our controls fail,
there could be significant legal and tax implications to our business and our operations including but not limited to material tax and legal liabilities.

Risks Related to Our REIT Status in the U.S.
We may not remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with our 2015 taxable year. We believe that our organization and
method of operation comply with the rules and regulations promulgated under the Intermal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code"), such that we
will continue to qualify for taxation as a REIT. Howewer, we cannot assure you that we have qualified for taxation as a REIT or that we will remain so
qualified. Qualification for taxation as a REIT inwolves the application of highly technical and complex provisions of the Code to our operations as well as
various factual determinations conceming matters and circumstances not entirely within our control. There are limited judicial or administrative
interpretations of applicable REIT provisions of the Code.

If, in any taxable year, we fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT and are not entitled to relief under the Code:

+ we will not be allowed a deduction for distributions to stockholders in computing our taxable income;

» we will be subject to U.S. federal and state income tax on our taxable income at regular corporate income tax rates; and

+ we would not be eligible to elect REIT status again until the fifth taxable year that begins after the first year for which we failed to qualify for
taxation as a REIT.

Any such corporate tax liability could be substantial and would reduce the amount of cash available for other purposes. If we fail to remain qualified
for taxation as a REIT, we may need to borrow additional funds or liquidate some investments to pay any additional tax liability. Accordingly, funds
available for investment and distributions to stockholders could be reduced.

As a RHEIT, failure to make required distributions would subject us to federal corporate income tax.

We paid quarterly distributions in each quarter of 2024 and hawe declared a quarterly distribution for the fourth quarter of 2024 to be paid on
March 19, 2025. The amount, timing and form of any future distributions will be determined, and will be subject to adjustment, by our Board of Directors.
To remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we are generally required to distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (determined without regard to
the dividends paid deduction and excluding net capital gain) each year, or in limited circumstances, the following year, to our stockholders. Generally,
we expect to distribute all or substantially all of our REIT taxable income. If our cash available for distribution falls short of our estimates, we may be
unable to maintain distributions that approximate our REIT taxable income and may fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. In addition, our cash
flows from
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operations may be insufficient to fund required distributions as a result of differences in timing between the actual receipt of income and the payment of
expenses and the recognition of income and expenses for federal income tax purposes, or the effect of nondeductible expenditures, such as capital
expenditures, payments of compensation for which Section 162(m) of the Code denies a deduction, interest expense deductions limited by Section
163(j) of the Code, the settlement of resenves or required debt senice or amortization payments.

To the extent that we satisfy the 90% distribution requirement but distribute less than 100% of our REIT taxable income, we will be subject to federal
corporate income tax on our undistributed taxable income. In addition, we will be subject to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on our undistributed taxable
income if the actual amount that we distribute to our stockholders for a calendar year is less than the minimum amount specified under the Code.

Complying with REIT requirements may limit our flexibility or cause us to forgo otherwise attractive opportunities.

To remain qualified for taxation as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we must satisfy tests conceming, among other things, the sources
of our income, the nature and diwersification of our assets and the amounts we distribute to our stockholders. For example, under the Code, no more
than 20% of the value of the assets of a REIT may be represented by securities of one or more TRSs. Similar rules apply to other nonqualifying assets.
These limitations may affect our ability to make large investments in other non-REIT qualifying operations or assets. In addition, in order to maintain our
qualification for taxation as a REIT, we must distribute at least 90% of our REIT taxable income, determined without regard to the dividends paid
deduction and excluding any net capital gains. Even if we maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT, we will be subject to U.S. federal income tax
at regular corporate income tax rates for our undistributed REIT taxable income, as well as U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate income tax rates
for income recognized by our TRSs; we also pay taxes in the foreign jurisdictions in which our intemational assets and operations are held and
conducted regardless of our qualification for taxation as a REIT. Because of these distribution requirements, we will likely not be able to fund future
capital needs and investments from operating cash flow. As such, compliance with REIT tests may hinder our ability to make certain attractive
investments, including the purchase of significant nonqualifying assets and the material expansion of non-real estate actiities.

Our use of TRSs, including for certain of our international operations, may cause us to fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT in the
u.s.

Our operations utilize TRSs to facilitate our qualification for taxation as a REIT. The net income of our TRSs is not included in our REIT taxable
income unless it is distributed by an applicable TRS, and income that is not included in our REIT taxable income generally is not subject to the REIT
income distribution requirement. Our ability to receive distributions from our TRSs is limited by the rules with which we must comply to maintain our
qualification for taxation as a REIT. In particular, at least 75% of our gross income for each taxable year as a REIT must be derived from real estate.
Consequently, no more than 25% of our gross income may consist of dividend income from our TRSs and other nonqualifying types of income. Thus, our
ability to receive distributions from our TRSs may be limited and may impact our ability to fund distributions to our stockholders using cash flows from
our TRSs.

Further, there may be limitations on our ability to accumulate eamings in our TRSs and the accumulation or reinvestment of significant eamings in
our TRSs could result in adverse tax treatment. In particular, if the accumulation of cash in our TRSs causes (1) the fair market value of our securities in
our TRSs to exceed 20% of the fair market value of our assets or (2) the fair market value of our securities in our TRSs and other nonqualifying assets to
exceed 25% of the fair market value of our assets, then we will fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT. Further, a substantial portion of our TRSs
are owerseas, and a material change in foreign currency rates could also negatively impact our ability to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

The Code imposes limitations on the ability of our TRSs to utilize specified income tax deductions, including limits on the use of net operating
losses and limits on the deductibility of interest expense.
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Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, some of our business activities are subject to corporate level income tax and foreign
taxes, which will continue to reduce our cash flows, and we will have potential deferred and contingent tax liabilities.

Even if we remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, we may be subject to some federal, state, local and foreign taxes, including taxes on any
undistributed income, and state, local or foreign income, franchise, property and transfer taxes. In addition, we could in certain circumstances be
required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in respect of dealer property income or in order to utilize one or more relief
provsions under the Code to maintain our qualification for taxation as a REIT.

A portion of our business is conducted through wholly owned TRSs because certain of our business activities could generate nonqualifying REIT
income as cumrently structured and operated. The income of our U.S. TRSs will continue to be subject to federal and state corporate income taxes. In
addition, our intemational assets and operations continue to be subject to taxation in the foreign jurisdictions where those assets are held or those
operations are conducted. Any of these taxes would decrease our eamings and our available cash.

We are also subject to a U.S. federal corporate level income tax at the highest regular corporate income tax rate on any gains recognized from the
sale of a REIT asset where our basis in the asset is determined by reference to the basis of the asset in the hands of a C corporation (such as an asset
that we or our QRSs hold following the liquidation or other conversion of a former TRS). This tax is generally applicable to any disposition of such an
asset during the five-year period after the date we first owned the asset as a REIT asset, to the extent of the built-in-gain based on the fair market value
of such asset on the date we first held the asset as a REIT asset.

Our certificate of incorporation contains restrictions on the ownership and transfer of our stock, though they may not be successful in
preserving our qualification for taxation as a REIT.

In order for us to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, no more than 50% of the value of outstanding shares of our stock may be owned,
beneficially or constructively, by five or fewer individuals at any time during the last half of each taxable year. In addition, rents from "affiliated tenants"
will not qualify as qualifying REIT income if we own 10% or more by vote or value of the customer, whether directly or after application of attribution rules
under the Code. Subject to certain exceptions, our certificate of incorporation prohibits any stockholder from owning, beneficially or constructively, more
than (i) 9.8% in value of the outstanding shares of all classes or series of our capital stock or (i) 9.8% in value or number, whichewer is more restrictive,
of the outstanding shares of any class or series of our capital stock. We refer to these restrictions collectively as the "ownership limits" and we included
them in our certificate of incorporation to facilitate our compliance with REIT tax rules. The constructive ownership rules under the Code are complex and
may cause the outstanding stock owned by a group of related individuals or entities to be deemed to be constructively owned by one individual or entity.
As a result, the acquisition of less than 9.8% of our outstanding common stock (or the outstanding shares of any class or series of our stock) by an
individual or entity could cause that individual or entity or another individual or entity to own constructively in excess of the relevant ownership limits. Any
attempt to own or transfer shares of our common stock or of any of our other capital stock in violation of these restrictions may result in the shares being
automatically transferred to a charitable trust or may be woid. Even though our certificate of incorporation contains the ownership limits, there can be no
assurance that these provisions will be effective to prevent our qualification for taxation as a REIT from being jeopardized, including under the affiliated
tenant rule. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that we will be able to monitor and enforce the ownership limits. If the restrictions in our certificate
of incorporation are not effective and, as a result, we fail to satisfy the REIT tax rules described above, then absent an applicable relief provsion, we will
fail to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT.

In addition, the ownership and transfer restrictions could delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change in control that might involve a premium
price for our stock or otherwise be in the best interest of our stockholders. As a result, the overall effect of the ownership and transfer restrictions may be
to render more difficult or discourage any attempt to acquire us, even if such acquisition may be favorable to the interests of our stockholders.
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General Risk Factors

Inadequate or inaccurate external and internal information, including budget and planning data, could lead to inaccurate financial
forecasts and inappropriate financial decisions.

Our financial forecasts are dependent on estimates and assumptions regarding budget and planning data, market growth, foreign exchange rates,
our ability to remain qualified for taxation as a REIT, and our ability to generate sufficient cash flow to reinvest in the business, fund intemal growth, make
acquisitions, pay dividends and meet our debt obligations. Our financial projections are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions
that our management believes to be reasonable under the circumstances and at the time they are made.

We continue to evolve our forecasting models as necessary and appropriate but if our predictions are inaccurate and our results differ materially from
our forecasts, we could make inappropriate financial decisions. Additionally, inaccuracies in our models could adversely impact our compliance with
REIT asset tests, future profitability, stock price and/or stockholder confidence.

Fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, especially the strength of the U.S. dollar, in the markets in which we operate
internationally could harm our results of operations.

We hawe experienced and may continue to experience gains and losses resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. To date, the
majority of revenues and costs in our international operations are denominated in foreign currencies. Where our prices are denominated in U.S. Doallars,
our sales and revenues could be adversely affected by declines in foreign cumencies relative to the U.S. Dollar, thereby making our offerings more
expensive in local currencies. We are also exposed to risks resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates in connection with our
intemational operations. To the extent we are paying contractors in foreign currencies, our operations could cost more than anticipated as a result of
declines in the U.S. Dollar relative to foreign currencies. In addition, fluctuating foreign currency exchange rates hawe a direct impact on how our
intemational results of operations translate into U.S. Dollars.

Although we currently undertake, and may decide in the future to further undertake, foreign exchange hedging transactions to reduce foreign
currency transaction exposure, not every market is appropriate for a hedging strategy and we do not currently intend to eliminate all foreign currency
transaction exposure. In addition, REIT compliance rules may restrict our ability to enter into hedging transactions. Therefore, any weakness of the U.S.
Dollar may hawe a positive impact on our consolidated results of operations because the currencies in the foreign countries in which we operate may
translate into more U.S. Dollars. Howeer, as we havwe experienced more recently, if the U.S. Dollar strengthens relative to the currencies of the foreign
countries in which we operate, our consolidated financial position and results of operations may be negatively impacted as amounts in foreign currencies
will generally translate into fewer U.S. Dollars. For additional information on foreign currency risks, refer to our discussion of foreign currency risk in
"Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk" included in ltem 7A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

If our internal controls are found to be ineffective, our financial results or our stock price may be adversely affected.

Our most recent evaluation of our controls resulted in our conclusion that, as of December 31, 2024, in compliance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, our intemal controls over financial reporting were effective. Our ability to manage our operations and growth through, for
example, the integration of recently acquired businesses, the entry into new joint venture structures, the adoption of new accounting principles and tax
laws, and our overhaul of our back-office systems that, for example, support the customer experience from initial quote to customer billing and our
revenue recognition process, will require us to further develop our controls and reporting systems and implement or amend new or existing controls and
reporting systems in those areas where the implementation and integration is still ongoing. All of these changes to our financial systems and the
implementation and integration of acquisitions create an increased risk of deficiencies in our intemal controls over financial reporting. If, in the future, our
internal control over financial reporting is found to be ineffective, or if a material weakness is identified in our controls over financial reporting, our financial
results may be adwersely affected.
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Investors may also lose confidence in the reliability of our financial statements which could adversely affect our stock price.

Terrorist activity, or other acts of violence, including violence stemming from the current climate of political and economic uncertainty,
could adversely impact our business.

The continued threat of terrorist activity and other acts of war or hostility both domestically and abroad by terrorist organizations, organized crime
organizations, or other criminals along with violence stemming from political unrest, contribute to a climate of political and economic uncertainty in many
of the regions in which we operate. Due to existing or dewveloping circumstances, we may need to incur additional costs in the future to provide enhanced
security, including cybersecurity and physical security, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations. These
circumstances may also adwersely affect our ability to attract and retain customers and employees, our ability to raise capital and the operation and
maintenance of our IBX data centers.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights.

We cannot make assurances that the steps taken by us to protect our intellectual property rights will be adequate to deter misappropriation of
proprietary information or that we will be able to detect unauthorized use and take appropriate steps to enforce our intellectual property rights. We also
are subject to the risk of litigation alleging infringement of third-party intellectual property rights. Any such claims could require us to spend significant
sums in litigation, pay damages, dewvelop non-infringing intellectual property or acquire licenses to the intellectual property that is the subject of the
alleged infringement.

We have various mechanisms in place that may discourage takeover attempts.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a third party from acquiring control of us in a
merger, acquisition or similar transaction that a stockholder may consider favorable. Such provisions include:

* ownership limitations and transfer restrictions relating to our stock that are intended to facilitate our compliance with certain REIT rules relating
to share ownership;

* authorization for the issuance of "blank check" preferred stock;

* the prohibition of cumulative wvoting in the election of directors;

* limits on the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;

* limits on stockholder action by written consent; and

* advance notice requirements for nominations to the Board of Directors or for proposing matters that can be acted on by stockholders at
stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law, which restricts certain business combinations with interested stockholders in
certain situations, may also discourage, delay or prevent someone from acquiring or merging with us.
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ITEM1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
There is no disclosure to report pursuant to ltem 1B.

ITEM1C. Cybersecurity

Equinix Risk Management and Strategy

Equinix has processes for assessing, identifying, and managing material risks from cybersecurity threats, both integrated into our Govemance, Risk
and Compliance Program (the “GRC Program”) and existing within our Information Security function (“InfoSec”) led by a Chief Information Security Officer
(“CISO”). Qur prior CISO departed Equinix in the fourth quarter of 2024, at which time we appointed a tenured Equinix Information Technology senior
leader to the role in an interim capacity. To assist our interim CISO, we have engaged a technology risk consultant in an advisory role.

The foundation of risk owersight at Equinix is our Governance, Risk and Compliance Committee (“GRCC’), owverseen by the Nominating and
Governance Committee of our Board. The GRCC is a global, cross-functional group currently comprised of global senior leaders, across functions such
as Legal, Compliance and Risk Management. The GRCC considers enterprise and emerging risks via Equinix’s Enterprise Risk Management Program
(the “ERM Program”). Our ERM Program focuses on the identification, assessment, management, monitoring and reporting of key business risks. Risk
identification involves periodic risk suneys and/or risk inteniews with key business process owners and executives to identify key strategic, operational,
financial, regulatory, compliance and extemnal risks at the enterprise level. Our next global risk assessment to identify enterprise risks will be conducted
in the first half of 2025. In addition, the ERM Program also includes an Emerging Risks Team of business leaders at Equinix, representing a majority of
business functions, that meets monthly to identify fast-moving, potentially impactful risks.

The GRCC prioritizes top enterprise and emerging risks for reporting to and dialoguing with our executive staff at least quarterly, and from this
discussion, risks are presented to the Nominating and Governance Committee to consider for further assessment and report-out either to a committee or
the full Board as appropriate.

The ERM Program works with risk owners to gather, evaluate, and prioritize risk information through the completion of a risk assessment and
creation of a risk profile document. Top risks, including those related to cybersecurity, are evaluated through a detailed risk assessment, and the risks
are reexamined periodically as needed. InfoSec performs an annual refresh of an information security risk profile document as required by this process,
and the results of such assessment are reported out for escalation, prioritization and reporting on an annual basis.

Cybersecurity Risk Management and Strategy

Equinix cybersecurity risk management activities and outcomes are guided by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (“NIST)
Cybersecurity Framework (“CSF”) and assessed by a third party. In addition, our cybersecurity program is certified globally against the Intemational
Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) 27001 standards. Currently, our cybersecurity program includes the following key categories of security controls
with many security capabilities sening under each category: Gowemance, Access Control, Awareness and Training, Audit and Accountability,
Configuration Management, Contingency Planning, Incident Response, Data Security, Continuous Monitoring, Maintenance Controls, Media Protection,
Physical Protections, Risk Assessment, Third-Party Risk Management, System and Communications Projection, and System and Information Integrity.

Equinix has also implemented controls designed to identify and mitigate cybersecurity risk associated with our use of third-party senice providers,
such as security risk assessments. We use a variety of inputs in such assessments, including information supplied by the third parties and regular
monitoring.

Equinix conducts regular employee training on how to spot suspicious activity, educates employees on potential security risks, and periodically runs
simulations of cyber incidents for employees across various functions to assess and refine response capabilities. Equinix also offers a role-based
security certification for its software engineering employees.
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Equinix’s cybersecurity risk management processes are carried out in the context of broader business objectives and are integrated into Equinix’s
broader risk management processes as described abowe in “Equinix Risk Management and Strategy”.

Equinix does not generally engage any consultants, auditors, or other third parties in connection with processes for assessing, identifying and
managing risks from cybersecurity threats other than the technology risk consultant identified above.

Board of Directors’ Oversight of Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

The Nominating and Governance Committee oversees our GRC Program per its charter, reviewing and considering developments related to the GRC
Program and reporting on the GRC Program’s activities and recommendations to the full Board.

Information security risks have been deemed by our Board to be of critical importance to Equinix, and thus the Nominating and Govemnance
Committee receives quarterly updates on cybersecurity and the full Board receives a briefing on cybersecurity at least annually. These briefings are
conducted by our CISO and members of the InfoSec leadership team and cower topics such as key risk indicators, the status of strategic programs,
operational updates and key initiatives, past and future action plans, and InfoSec functional updates.

In the event of a material cybersecurity incident, the full Board would be convened on a frequent basis to receive updates and provide owersight.

Management’s Role in Assessing and Managing Material Risks from Cybersecurity Threats

The Information Security Steering Committee (“ISSC’) is a key element of our cybersecurity strategy. The ISSC is chaired by the CISO and
comprises of a cross-functional group of senior leaders from various functions in the company. The ISSC aims to align our security and compliance
programs with business objectives. Specifically, the ISSC (i) facilitates identification of risk-based priorities and trade-offs; (i) aims to ensure economies
of scale and consistency of information security and compliance across IT assets at the company; (iii) reviews and approwes information security
policies; (iv) reviews requests for policy and risk exceptions to provide a “Risk Acceptance Authorization”; and (v) serves as a communications channel
and steward to cultivate a culture of trust across the enterprise.

The ISSC currently meets quarterly. In addition, various subcommittees meet on an as-needed basis to address business needs.At the ISSC,
topics such as changes to the InfoSec risk register, notable issues, and information security projects are discussed.

Our interim CISO brings over 20 years of experience in information technology, which enables him to ensure alignment of our cybersecurity program
with our critical infrastructure strategies. He has experience in implementing and operating a govemance framework and core controls in information
technology. Further, he oversaw the building of our application disaster recowery infrastructure for all production applications at Equinix, and since that
time has been responsible for operating this infrastructure and ongoing disaster recowvery testing. All of this experience is applicable and relevant to our
cybersecurity program at Equinix. Additionally, team members supporting our program have relevant education and information security experience.

Risks From Cybersecurity Threats

Although we believe we have a robust program to protect against cybersecurity risks, we may not be able to prevent a cybersecurity incident that
could have a material adverse effect on us. While we maintain cybersecurity insurance, the costs related to cybersecurity threats or disruptions may not
be fully insured. See ltem 1A. “Risk Factors” for further discussion of cybersecurity risks.
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ITEM2. Properties

Our executive offices are located in Redwood City, Califomia, with sales offices in seweral cities throughout the U.S. Our EMEA headquarters office
is located in Amsterdam, the Netherlands and we also hawe sales offices in seweral cities throughout EMEA. Our Asia-Pacific headquarters office is
located in Hong Kong and we also have sales offices in seweral cities throughout Asia-Pacific.

The following tables present the locations of our leased and owned IBX data centers and xScale™ data centers investments as of December 31,
2024, as well as one data center which opened in February 2025.
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ASIA-PACIFIC

__ Meto

Adelaide °
Brisbane

Canberra

Hong Kong
Jakarta
Johor °

Kuala Lumpur °

Melbourne
Mumbai
Osaka
Perth
Seoul

Shanghai

Singapore
Sydney
Tokyo

[ ]
Mumbai

"e" denotes locations with one or more data centers.
Owned sites include IBX data centers subject to long-term ground leases.

The following table presents an oveniew of our portfolio of IBX data centers as of December 31, 2024:

Total Cabjpgt Capacity Cabinets MRR per Gabinet ()

# of IBXs () Billed Cabinet Utilization %"

Americas 107 144,100 116,700 81 % $ 2,550
EMEA 86 138,200 107,700 78 % 2,152
Asia-Pacific 54 89,100 66,600 5 % 2,218

Total

Q)

247 371,400 291,000

Excludes 21 unconsolidated data centers (20 xScale data centers and the MC1 IBXdata center) and includes the JK1 data center which opened in February
2025. The JK1 data center is included in the # of IBXs only.

Cabinets represent a specific amount of space within an IBX data center. Customers can combine and use multiple adjacent cabinets within an IBX data
center, depending on their space requirements.

The cabinet utilization rate represents the percentage of cabinet space billed versus total cabinet capacity, taking into consideration power limitations.

MRR per cabinet represents average monthly recurring revenue recognized divided by the average number of cabinets billed during the fourth quarter of the
year. Americas MRR per cabinet excludes Infomart non-IBXtenant income and EMEAMRR per cabinet excludes MainOne revenue.
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The following table presents a summary of our significant IBX data center projects under construction as of December 31, 2024:

Total Capex
Property Location Target Open Date Sellable Cabinets (in millions)

Americas:
SP4 phase IV Sao Paulo Q12025 750 $ 21
ST2 phase |l Santiago Q12025 425 45
DA11 phase lll Dallas Q2 2025 2,000 186
TR6 phase Il Toronto Q2 2025 900 123
CH2 phase I Chicago Q32025 575 46
M1 phase llI Mami Q3 2025 1,050 86
MO2 phase | Monterrey Q3 2025 725 79
DC2 Redevelopment Washington, D.C. Q4 2025 425 56
DC16 phase Washington, D.C. 4 2025 1,525 131
DC22 phase | Washington, D.C. Q4 2025 2,125 260
MT1 phase Il Montreal 4 2025 250 22
NY11 phase V New York Q4 2025 600 38
SE4 phase IV Seattle 4 2025 400 33
CH5 phase | Chicago Q12026 1,600 219
DC16 phase lll Washington, D.C. Q12026 1,525 83
SP6 phase | S&o Paulo Q12026 1,125 110
BG2 phase I Bogota Q2 2026 550 28
SV18 phase | Silicon Valley Q32026 1,350 260
NY3 phase Il New York Q4 2026 2,275 222

20,175 2,048
EMEA:
LG2 phase Il Lagos Q12025 150 9
MA5 phase Il Manchester Q12025 775 39
SN1 phase | Salalah Q12025 125 20
SN1 phase Il Salalah Q22025 125 8
LD10 phase IV London Q3 2025 850 63
LG2 phase lll Lagos Q3 2025 275 29
LG3 phase | Lagos Q3 2025 225 22
LS2 phase | Lisbon Q32025 625 53
MD5 phase | Madrid Q32025 1,700 115
FR8 phase Il Frankfurt Q4 2025 1,400 193
FR13 phase Il Frankfurt Q2 2026 350 42
DX3 phase Il Dubai Q3 2026 1,100 81
IL3 phase | Istanbul Q3 2026 1,325 116
LG4 phase | Lagos Q12027 925 78
PA14 phase | Paris Q12027 825 133
LD14 phase | London Q2 2027 1,425 243
ZH4 phase M Zurich Q3 2027 200 47

12,400 1,291
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Asia-Pacific:

CN1 phase | Chennai
KL1 phase Il Kuala Lumpur
MB3 phase | Mumbai
HK1 phase Xl B Hong Kong
HK6 phase | Hong Kong
OS3 phase IV Osaka

JH2 phase | Johor

SG6 phase | Singapore
TY15 phase I Tokyo

JH2 phase Il Johor
Total

Q12025
Q12025
Q2 2025
Q4 2025
Q12026
Q12026
Q12027
Q12027
Q2 2027
Q3 2027

) Capital expenditures are approximate and may change based on final construction details.

ITEM3. Legal Proceedings

850 65
450 4
1,375 86
250 16
1,000 124
550 30
1,100 152
1,525 290
1,000 101
1,125 49
9,225 917
41,800 § 4,256

On March 20, 2024, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Northem District of California. On April 30, 2024, the

Company received a subpoena from the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company is cooperating fully with both government agencies.

On May 2, 2024, a putative stockholder class action was filed against the Company and certain of our officers in the United States District Court for
the Northemn District of California. The named plaintiff alleges violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 10b-5, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, on the basis that the defendants allegedly made false and misleading statements about our
business, results, intemal controls, and accounting practices between May 3, 2019 and March 24, 2024. The lawsuit seeks, among other relief, a
determination that the alleged claims may be asserted on a class-wide basis, unspecified damages, attomeys' fees, other expenses and costs. We filed
a motion to dismiss the lawsuit on October 10, 2024. The motion was granted in part on January 6, 2025. We intend to continue to defend the lawsuit.

These matters are subject to uncertainties, and we cannot predict the outcome, nor reasonably estimate a range of loss or penalties, if any, relating

to these matters.
ITEM4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART I

ITEM 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equit)
Securities

Our common stock is quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol of "EQIX" Our common stock began trading in August 2000.
As of January 31, 2025, we had 97,332,005 shares of our common stock outstanding held by approximately 236 registered holders. During the years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we did not issue or sell any securities on an unregistered basis.

Stock Performance Graph

The graph set forth below compares the cumulative total stockholder retum on Equinix's common stock between December 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2024 with the cumulative total retum of:

* the S&P 500 Index;
+ the NASDAQ Composite Index; and
» the FTSE NAREIT All REITs Index.

The graph assumes the investment of $100.00 on December 31, 2019 in Equinix's common stock and in each index, and assumes the reinvestment
of dividends, if any.

Equinix cautions that the stock price performance shown in the graph below is not indicative of, nor intended to forecast, the potential future
performance of Equinix's common stock.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in any of Equinix's previous or future filings under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, that might incorporate this Annual Report on Form 10-K or future filings made by Equinix under those
statutes, the stock performance graph shall not be deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and shall not be deemed incorporated
by reference into any of those prior filings or into any future filings made by Equinix under those statutes.



Table of Contents

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Equinix, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index, the S&P 500 Index, and the FTSE NAREIT All REITs Index

$350

$300 -

$250 -

$200 -

$150 -

$100 -

$50 -

$0 I I 1
12/19 12/20 12121

Equinix, Inc.

NASDAQ Composite

*$100 invested on 12/31/19 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending Decenber 31.

ITEM6. [Reserved]
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ITEM7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following commentary should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and related notes contained elsewhere in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The information in this discussion contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933,
as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Such statements are based upon current expectations that involve
risks and uncertainties. Any statements contained herein that are not statements of historical fact may be deemed to be forward-looking statements.

For example, the words "believes," "anticipates,” "plans,"” "expects,” "intends" and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking

statements. Our actual results and the timing of certain events may differ significantly from the results discussed in the forward-looking statements.
Factors that might cause such a discrepancy include, but are not limited to, those discussed in "Liquidity and Capital Resources” and "Risk Factors”
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All fornard-looking statements in this document are based on information available to us as of the date
hereof and we assume no obligation to update any such forward-looking statements.

ltem 7 of this Form 10-K focuses on discussion of 2024 and 2023 items as well as 2024 results as compared to 2023 results. For the discussion of
2022 items and 2023 results as compared to 2022 results, please refer to ltem 7 of our 2023 Form 10K as filed with the SEC on February 16, 2024.

Our management's discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist readers in understanding our
financial information from our management's perspective and is presented as follows:

+  Oweniew

*  Results of Operations

*  Non-GAAP Financial Measures

+  Liquidity and Capital Resources

+  Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
* Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Overview

Reach everywhere, interconnect everyone and integrate everything
o TOTAL GLOBAL FOOTPRINT

E 268 data centers @ 74 global markets @ 35 countries

e OUR CUSTOMERS

S ) e mobile and other ‘
s e telecommunications carriers @ network services # e cloud and IT

; services providers
providers

e digital media and content @ o financial services siglobal enterp_nse
: . ecosystems in
providers companies 5 a :
ﬂ various industries
*Includes 21 unconsolidated data centers (20 xScale™ data centers and the MC1 IBX data center)
*Metrics include JK1 Jakarta which opened in February 2025

We provide a global, vendor-neutral data center, interconnection and edge solutions platform with offerings that aim to enable our customers to reach
ewerywhere, interconnect everyone and integrate everything. Global enterprises, senice providers and business ecosystems of industry partners rely on
our IBX data centers and expertise around the world for the safe housing of their critical IT equipment and to protect and connect the world's most valued
information assets. They also look to Platform Equinix® for the ability to directly and securely interconnect to the networks, clouds and content that
enable today's information-driven global digital economy. Our
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recent IBX data center openings and acquisitions, as well as xScale™ data center investments, have expanded our total global footprint to 268 IBXs,
including 20 xScale data centers and the MC1 data center that are held in unconsolidated joint ventures, across 74 markets around the world. We offer
the following solutions:

* premium data center colocation;

» interconnection and data exchange solutions;

+ edge solutions for deploying networking, security and hardware; and
* remote expert support and professional senices.

Our data centers around the world allow our customers to bring together and interconnect the infrastructure they need to fast-track their digital
advantage. With Equinix, they can scale with agility, accelerate the launch of digital offerings, deliver world-class experiences and multiply their value.
We enable them to differentiate by distributing infrastructure and remowving the distance between clouds, users and applications in order to reduce
latency and deliver a superior customer, partner and employee experience. The Equinix global platform, and the quality of our offerings, have enabled us
to establish a critical mass of customers. As more customers choose Platform Equinix for bandwidth cost and performance reasons, it benefits their
suppliers and business partners to colocate in the same data centers and connect directly with each other. This adjacency creates a network effect that
attracts new customers, continuously enhances our existing customers' value and enables them to capture further economic and performance benefits
from our offerings.

Industry Overview:

While a large number of enterprises and senice providers, such as hyperscale cloud senice providers, own their own data centers, we believe the
industry is shifting away from single-tenant solutions to customers outsourcing some or all of their IT housing and interconnection requirements to third-
party facilities, such as those operated by Equinix. This shift is being accelerated by the increasing adoption of hybrid multi-cloud architectures and the
adoption of artificial intelligence (“Al’).

Historically, the outsourcing market was served by large telecommunications carmiers that bundled their products and senices with their colocation
offerings. The data center market landscape has ewlved to include private and carrier-neutral multi-tenant data centers ("MTDC"), public and private
cloud providers, managed infrastructure and application hosting providers, large hyperscale cloud providers and systems integrators. It is estimated that
Equinix is one of more than 2,400 companies that provide MTDC offerings around the world. The global MTDC market is highly fragmented. Each of
these data center solution providers can bundle various colocation, interconnection and network offerings, outsourced IT infrastructure solutions and
managed senices. We believe that this outsourcing trend has accelerated and is likely to continue to accelerate in the coming years, especially in light
of the movement to digital business, the use of multiple cloud senice providers and the adoption of Al. We are able to offer our customers a global
platform that reaches 35 countries with the industry’s largest and most active ecosystem of partners in our sites, proven operational reliability, improved
application performance and a highly scalable set of offerings.

Capacity Trends:

Our cabinet utilization rate represents the percentage of cabinet space billed versus total cabinet capacity, which is used to measure how efficiently
we are managing our cabinet capacity. Our cabinet utilization rate varies from market to market among our IBX data centers across our Americas,
EMEA and Asia-Pacific regions. Our cabinet utilization rates were approximately 78% and 79%, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. We
continue to monitor the available capacity in each of our selected markets. To the extent we hawe limited capacity available in a given market, it may
limit our ability for growth in that market. We perform demand studies on an ongoing basis to determine if future expansion is warranted in a market. In
addition, power and cooling requirements for most customers are growing on a per unit basis. As a result, customers are consuming an increasing
amount of power per cabinet. Although we generally do not control the amount of power our customers draw from installed circuits, we have negotiated
power consumption limitations with certain high power-demand customers. This increased power consumption, which we expect to accelerate with the
adoption of Al, has driven us to build out our new IBX data centers to support power and cooling needs twice that of previous IBX data centers. We could
face power limitations in our existing IBX data centers, even though we may have additional physical cabinet capacity available within a specific IBX data
center, and in our ability to expand our footprint in existing and new markets. Additionally, global supply chain challenges could result in a lack of
availability or delays in the delivery of data center equipment. These challenges have driven us to invest in and commit to future purchases in advance of
our standard practice to mitigate risks associated with these supply chain issues. These
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constraints could have a negative impact on our ability to grow revenues, affecting our financial performance, results of operations and cash flows and the
growth opportunities presented by the adoption of new technologies, including Al.

Expansion Opportunities:

To sene the needs of the growing hyperscale data center market, including the world's largest cloud senice providers and increased demand driven
in part by the adoption of Al, we have entered into joint venture partnership arrangements across our Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific regions to
dewelop and operate xScale data centers.

Strategically, we will continue to look at attractive opportunities to grow our market share and selectively improve our footprint and offerings. As was
the case with our recent expansions and acquisitions, our expansion criteria will be dependent on a number of factors, including but not limited to
demand from new and existing customers, power availability and capacity, quality of the design, access to networks, clouds and software partners,
capacity awailability in the current market location, amount of incremental investment required by us in the targeted property, automation capabilities,
deweloper talent pool, lead-time to break even on a free cash flow basis and in-place customers. Like our recent expansions and acquisitions, the right
combination of these factors may be attractive to us. Depending on the circumstances, these transactions may require additional capital expenditures
funded by upfront cash payments or through long-term financing arrangements in order to bring these properties up to our standards. Property expansion
may be in the form of purchases of real property, long-term leasing arrangements or acquisitions. Future purchases, construction or acquisitions may be
completed by us or with partners or potential customers to minimize the outlay of cash, which can be significant.

Revenue:

| !

RECURRING REVENUES NON-
colocation and related interconnection and managed infrastructure offerings RECURRING
e recurring revenues comprised > 90% of our total revenues during the past 3 years R',EVE'_TUES
rimari
o > 90% of our monthly recurring revenue bookings during the past 3 years came from ﬁ]sta”aﬁ{on
existing customers, contributing to our revenue growth services related
o 3% of our recurring revenues over the last 3 years came from our largest customer to a customer's
o initial deployment
e 36% of our recurring revenue came from our 50 largest customers in 2024 and professional
services we
perform

Our business is primarily based on a recurring revenue model comprised of colocation and related interconnection and managed infrastructure
offerings. We consider these offerings recurring because our customers are generally billed on a fixed and recuming basis each month for the duration of
their contract, which is generally one to five years in length, and thereafter automatically renews in one-year increments. Our recurring revenues have
comprised more than 90% of our total revenues during the past three years. In addition, during the past three years, more than 90% of our monthly
recurring revenue bookings came from existing customers, contributing to our revenue growth. Our largest customer accounted for approximately 3% of
our recurring revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. Our 50 largest customers accounted for approximately 36%, 37% and
36% of our recurring revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Our non-recurring revenues are primarily derived from fees charged from installations related to a customer’s initial deployment and professional
senices we perform for our customers, including our joint ventures. These senices are considered to be non-recurring because they are billed typically
once, upon completion of the installation or the professional senices work performed. The majority of these non-recurring revenues are typically billed on
the first inwice distributed to the customer in connection with their initial installation. However, revenues from installations are deferred and recognized
ratably over the period of the contract term. Additionally, revenue from contract settlements, when a customer wishes to terminate their contract early, is
generally treated as a contract modification and recognized ratably over the remaining term of the contract, if any. As a percentage of total
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revenues, we expect non-recurring revenues to represent less than 10% of total revenues for the foreseeable future.

Operating Expenses:

Cost of Revenues. The largest components of our cost of revenues are depreciation, rental payments related to our leased IBX data centers, utility
costs including electricity, bandwidth access, IBX data center employees' salaries and benefits including stock-based compensation, repairs and
maintenance, supplies and equipment, and security. A majority of our cost of revenues is fixed in nature and should not vary significantly from period to
period, unless we expand our existing IBX data centers or open or acquire new IBX data centers. Howewer, there are certain costs that are considered
more variable in nature, including utilities and supplies that are directly related to growth in our existing and new customer base. In addition, the cost of
electricity is generally higher in the summer months, as compared to other times of the year. Our costs of electricity may also increase as a result of
the physical effects of climate change, global energy supply constraints, increased regulations driving alternative electricity generation due to
environmental considerations or as a result of our election to use renewable energy sources. To the extent we incur increased utility costs, such
increased costs could materially impact our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Sales and Marketing. Our sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of compensation and related costs for sales and marketing personnel,
including stock-based compensation, amortization of contract costs, marketing programs, public relations, promotional materials and travel, as well as
bad debt expense and amortization of customer relationship intangible assets.

General and Administrative. Our general and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and related expenses, including stock-based
compensation, accounting, legal and other professional senice fees, and other general corporate expenses, such as our corporate regional headquarters
office leases and depreciation expense on back office systems.

Taxation as a REIT:

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with our 2015 taxable year. As of December 31, 2024, our REIT
structure included a majority of our data center operations in the Americas and EMEA regions, as well as the data center operations in Japan,
Singapore, and Malaysia. Our data center operations in other jurisdictions are operated as TRSs. We hawe also included our share of the assets in
xScale joint ventures, with the exception of Korea, in our REIT structure.

As a REIT, we generally are permitted to deduct from our U.S. federal taxable income the dividends we pay to our stockholders. The income
represented by such dividends is not subject to U.S. federal income taxes at the entity level but is taxed in the U.S., if at all, at the stockholder lewel.
Depending on a stockholder’s citizenship and residency, the income could be taxed by other jurisdictions as well. Newertheless, the income of our TRSs
which hold our U.S. operations is subject to U.S. federal and state corporate income taxes, as applicable. Likewise, our foreign subsidiaries continue to
be subject to local income taxes in jurisdictions in which they hold assets or conduct operations, regardless of whether held or conducted through TRSs
or through qualified REIT subsidiaries ("QRSs") for U.S. income tax purposes. We are also subject to a separate U.S. federal corporate income tax on
any gain recognized from a sale of a REIT asset where our basis in the asset is determined by reference to the basis of the asset in the hands of a C
corporation (such as an asset held by us or a QRS following the liquidation or other conwersion of a former TRS). This built-in-gain tax is generally
applicable to any disposition of such an asset during the five-year period after the date we first owned the asset as a REIT asset to the extent of the
built-in-gain based on the fair market value of such asset on the date we first held the asset as a REIT asset. In addition, should we recognize any gain
from "prohibited transactions,"” we will be subject to tax on this gain at a 100% rate. "Prohibited transactions," for this purpose, are defined as
dispositions of inventory or property held primarily for sale to customers in the ordinary course of a trade or business other than dispositions of
foreclosure property and other than dispositions excepted by statutory safe harbors. If we fail to remain qualified for U.S. federal income taxation as a
REIT, we will be subject to U.S. federal income taxes at regular corporate income tax rates. Even if we remain qualified for U.S. federal income taxation
as a REIT, we may be subject to some federal, state, local and foreign taxes on our income and property in addition to taxes owed with respect to our
TRSs' operations. In particular, while state income tax regimes often parallel the U.S. federal income tax regime for REITs, many states do not
completely follow federal rules, and some may not follow them at all.
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We continue to monitor our REIT compliance in order to maintain our qualification for U.S. federal income taxation as a REIT. For this and other
reasons, as necessary, we may convert some of our data center operations in other countries into the REIT structure in future periods.

On each of March 20, 2024, June 19, 2024, September 18, 2024 and December 11, 2024, we paid a quarterly cash dividend of $4.26 per share. We
expect all of our 2024 quarterly distributions and other applicable distributions to equal or exceed our REIT taxable income recognized in 2024.

2024 Highlights:

In April, we sold the Silicon Valley 12 (“SV12”) data center site in connection with the formation of a new joint venture to develop and operate an
xScale data center in the Americas region (the “AMER 2 Joint Venture”). Upon closing, we contributed $26 million in exchange for a 20%
partnership interest in the joint venture. See Note 5 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In May, we issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 5.500% senior notes due June 15, 2034 (the "2034 Notes"). See Note 10 within
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In July, we entered into an agreement to acquire three data centers in the Philippines from Total Information Management ("TIM") for a stated
purchase price of $180 million subject to certain adjustments. The acquisition is expected to close in the first half of 2025, subject to customary
closing conditions.

In August and September, we sold 1,212,810 shares under the 2022 ATM Program. 569,382 shares were sold on a spot basis and 643,428 were
sold through the settlement of outstanding forward sale agreements, for approximately $467 million and $509 million, respectively, net of
commissions and other offering expenses. See Note 11 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In September, we issued €600 million, or approximately $664 million, at the exchange rate in effect on September 3, 2024, aggregate principal
amount of 3.650% senior notes due September 3, 2033 (the "2033 Euro Notes") and CHF100 million, or approximately $118 million, at the
exchange rate in effect on September 4, 2024, aggregate principal amount of 1.558% senior notes due September 4, 2029 (the "2029 CHF
Notes"). See Note 10 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October, we entered into an agreement to form a joint venture to develop and operate xScale data centers in the Americas region (the "AMER
3 Joint Venture"), subject to regulatory approval and other closing conditions which were satisfied on October 30, 2024. See Note 5 within the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In October, we established a program to succeed the 2022 ATM Program, under which we may, from time to time, offer and sell on a spot or
forward basis up to an aggregate of $2.0 billion of our common stock to or through sales agents in "at the market" transactions (the "2024 ATM
Program"). See Note 11 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In November, we issued €650 million, or approximately $706 million, at the exchange rate in effect on November 22, 2024, aggregate principal
amount of 3.250% senior notes due March 15, 2031 (the "2031 Euro Notes") and €500 million, or approximately $543 million, at the exchange
rate in effect on November 22, 2024, aggregate principal amount of 3.625% senior notes due November 22, 2034 (the "2034 Euro Notes"). See
Note 10 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In November and December, we sold 755,298 shares on a spot basis under the 2024 ATM Program for approximately $697 million, net of
commissions and other offering expenses. See Note 11 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations

In order to provide a framework for assessing our performance excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, we supplement the year-over-
year actual change in results of operations with comparative changes on a constant currency basis. Presenting constant currency results of operations
is @ non-GAAP financial measure. See “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” below for further discussion.
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Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023

Revenues. Our revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 were generated from the following revenue classifications and geographic
regions ($ in millions):

Years Ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas:
Recurring revenues $ 3,647 42% $ 3,457 42% $ 190 5% 6%
Non-recuring revenues 215 2% 160 2% 55 34% 35%
3,862 44% 3,617 44% 245 7% 7%
EMEA:
Recurring revenues 2,812 32% 2,648 33% 164 6% 5%
Non-recurring revenues 155 2% 190 2% (35) (18)% (19)%
2,967 34% 2,838 35% 129 5% 3%
Asia-Pacific:
Recurring revenues 1,725 20% 1,640 20% 85 5% 7%
Non-recurring revenues 194 2% 93 1% 101 109% 112%
1,919 22% 1,733 21% 186 1% 12%
Total:
Recurring revenues 8,184 9% 7,745 95% 439 6% 6%
Non-recurring revenues 564 6% 443 5% 121 27% 28%
$ 8,748 100% $ 8,188 100% $ 560 7% 7%
Revenues
(% in millions)
Americas EMEA APAC
$3,862
$3,617
$2,838 $2,967
l ] )
2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024

Il Recurring

B Non-recurring

Americas Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas revenues increased by $245 million or 7% (7% on a constant currency
basis). Growth in Americas revenues was primarily due to:

+  $50 million of incremental revenues from non-recurring senices provided to our joint ventures;
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+  approximately $47 million of incremental revenues generated from IBX data centers which opened within the twelve months ended December 31,
2024; and
* anincrease in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period.

EMEA Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, EMEA revenues increased by $129 million or 5% (3% on a constant currency basis).
Growth in EMEA revenues was primarily due to:

- approximately $36 million of incremental revenues generated from IBX data centers which opened within the twelve months ended December 31,
2024; and
* anincrease in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period.

These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $30 million in revenues from non-recurring senices provided to our joint ventures and net
power price decreases in response to the decreased cost of utilities, as noted below under cost of revenues.

Asia-Pacific Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Asia-Pacific revenues increased by $186 million or 11% (12% on a constant
currency basis). Growth in Asia-Pacific revenues was primarily due to:

+  $111 million of incremental revenues from non-recurring senices provided to our joint ventures;

approximately $23 million of incremental revenues generated from IBX data centers which opened within the twelve months ended December 31,
2024; and

* anincrease in orders from both our existing customers and new customers during the period.

These increases were partially offset by net power price decreases in response to the decreased cost of utilities, as noted below under cost of
revenues.

Cost of Revenues. Our cost of revenues for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 by geographic regions were as follows ($ in millions):

Years Ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas $ 1,802 41% $ 1,617 38% $ 185 1% 12%
EMEA 1,674 37% 1,653 39% 21 1% 1%
Asia-Pacific 991 22% 958 23% 33 3% 5%
Total $ 4,467 100% $ 4,228 100% $ 239 6% 6%
Cost of Revenues
($ in millions; percentages indicate expenses as a percentage of revenues)
Americas EMEA APAC
$1,802
$1,617 $1,653 $1,674
58% 56%
45% 47% $958 $991
52%

2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024
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Americas Cost of Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas cost of revenues increased by $185 million or 11% (12% on a
constant currency basis). The increase in our Americas cost of revenues was primarily due to:

+ approximately $64 million of higher depreciation expense driven by IBX data center expansions and acceleration of depreciation expense for
certain assets with shortened useful lives;

$37 million of higher costs to provide non-recuring senices;

+  $26 million of higher property tax expense;

+  $25 million of higher compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation, primarily due to headcount growth;
+  $24 million of higher utilities costs, driven by both increases in power costs and higher utility usage; and

+  $21 million of higher rent and facilities costs.

These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $10 miillion in one-time software expenses related to our managed senices business and
other miscellaneous costs.

EMEA Cost of Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, EMEA cost of revenues increased by $21 million or 1% (1% on a constant
currency basis). The increase in our EMEA cost of revenues was primarily due to:

+  $27 million of higher depreciation expense driven by IBX data center expansions and acceleration of depreciation expense for certain assets with
shortened useful lives; and

«  $11 million of higher compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation, primarily due to headcount growth.
These increases were substantially offset by lower utilities costs, driven by decreases in power costs.

Asia-Pacific Cost of Revenues. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Asia-Pacific cost of revenues increased by $33 million or 3% (5% on a
constant currency basis). The increase in our Asia-Pacific cost of revenues was primarily due to:

+  $32 million of costs to provide non-recurring senices; and

«  $19 million of higher depreciation expense driven by IBX data center expansions and acceleration of depreciation expense for certain assets with
shortened useful lives.

These increase was partially offset by lower utilities costs, driven by decreases in power costs and lower utility usage in Hong Kong, Japan and
Singapore.

We expect cost of revenues to increase across all three regions in line with the growth of our business, including from the impact of acquisitions.

Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our sales and marketing expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 by geographic regions were
as follows ($ in millions):

Years ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas $ 575 65% $ 552 64% $ 23 4% 4%
EMEA 199 22% 195 23% 4 2% 2%
Asia-Pacific 117 13% 108 13% 9 8% 9%
Total $ 891 100% $ 855 100% $ 36 4% 4%

59



Table of Contents

Sales and Marketing Expenses
($ in millions; percentages indicate expenses as a percentage of revenues)
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$552 $575

:
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7% 7% $108 S117
2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024

Americas Sales and Marketing Expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas sales and marketing expenses increased by
$23 million or 4% (4% on a constant currency basis). The increase in our Americas sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to:

+  $7 million of higher compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation, attributable to headcount growth;
«  $7 million of higher travel and entertainment expenses; and
«  $6 million of higher advertising costs including for online ads, design senices and marketing research.

EMEA Sales and Marketing Expenses. Our EMEA sales and marketing expenses did not materially change during the year ended December 31,
2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Asia-Pacific Sales and Mearketing Expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Asia-Pacific sales and marketing increased by $9 million or
8% (9% on a constant currency basis). The increase in our Asia-Pacific sales and marketing expenses was primarily due to an increase in
compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation attributable to headcount growth and higher bad debt expense.

We anticipate that we will continue to invest in sales and marketing initiatives across our three regions in line with the growth of our business. We
expect our Americas sales and marketing expenses as a percentage of revenues to be higher than those of our other regions since certain global sales
and marketing functions are located within the U.S.

General and Administrative Expenses. Our general and administrative expenses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 by geographic
regions were as follows ($ in millions):

Years Ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas $ 1,204 68% $ 1,106 67% $ 98 9% 9%
EMEA 335 19% 321 19% 14 4% 4%
Asia-Pacific 227 13% 227 14% — —% —%
Total $ 1,766 100% $ 1,654 100% $ 112 7% 7%
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General and Administrative Expenses
($ in millions; percentages indicate expenses as a percentage of revenues)
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Americas General and Administrative Expenses . During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas general and administrative expenses
increased by $98 million or 9% (9% on a constant currency basis). The increase in our Americas general and administrative expenses was primarily due
to:

$54 million of higher depreciation expense associated with back-office systems to support the growth of our business;
+  $40 million of higher compensation costs, including salaries, bonuses and stock-based compensation, primarily due to headcount growth;
«  $14 million of higher consulting and legal fees; and
«  $11 million of higher software costs.
These increases were partially offset by an $18 million decrease in rent expense primarily due to one-time termination costs incurred during the year
ended December 31, 2023 associated with the consolidation of office space.

EMEA General and Administrative Expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2024, EMEA general and administrative expenses increased by
$14 million or 4% (4% on a constant currency basis). The increase in our EMEA general and administrative expenses was primarily due to higher
compensation costs, including sales compensation, salaries and stock-based compensation driven by headcount growth.

Asia-Pacific General and Administrative Expenses. Our Asia-Pacific general and administrative expenses did not materially change during the year
ended December 31, 2024 compared to the year ended December 31, 2023.

Going forward, although we are carefully monitoring our spending, we expect our general and administrative expenses to increase across all three
regions as we continue to invest in our operations to support our growth, including investments to enhance our technology platform, to maintain our
qualification for taxation as a REIT and to integrate recent acquisitions. Additionally, given that our corporate headquarters is located in the U.S., we
expect the Americas general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues to be higher than those of other regions.

Restructuring Charges. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded restructuring charges of $31 million primarily related to severance
and other employee costs. These charges were incurred in relation to two initiatives. First, we substantially completed a restructuring plan to realign the
organization and enable further investment in key priority areas (the "Q4 2024 Restructuring Plan"). Second, we announced the decision to make Equinix
Metal no longer commercially available as a product and to wind down operations that support this product by June 2026 (the "Equinix Metal Wind
Down"). We expect to incur approximately $6 million to $10 million of incremental costs as a result of the Equinix Metal Wind Down. We did not record
any restructuring charges during the year ended December 31, 2023. See Note 16 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Transaction Costs. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded transaction costs of $50 million and $13 million,
respectively. These transaction costs primarily related to costs incurred in connection with the formation of new joint ventures. See Note 5 within the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Impairment Charges. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded impairment charges of $233 million as a result of the Equinix Metal
Wind Down and current and projected future losses at a Hong Kong IBX Impairment charges of $166 million, $38 million and $29 million were recorded
on property, plant and equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and intangible assets, respectively. See Note 17 within the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Gain or Loss on Asset Sales. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded a gain of $18 miillion, related to the sale of the Silicon Valley
12 ("SV12") data center. During the year ended December 31, 2023, we did not record a significant amount of gain or loss on asset sales. See Note 5
within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Income from Operations. Our income from operations for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 by geographic regions were as follows ($ in
millions):

Years Ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas $ 105 8% $ 330 23% $ (225) (68)% (67)%
EMEA 730 55% 674 47% 56 8% 6%
Asia-Pacific 493 37% 439 30% 54 12% 15%
Total $ 1,328 100% $ 1,443 100% $ (115) 8)% )%

Americas Income from Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas income from operations decreased by $225 million or 68%
(67% on a constant currency basis), primarily due to impairment and restructuring charges of $127 million and $21 million, respectively, as well as
higher depreciation expense, utilities costs and other costs to support business growth. These were partially offset by higher revenues as a result of non-
recurring senices provided to our joint ventures, IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth, as described abowe.

EMEA Income from Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, EMEA income from operations increased by $56 million or 8% (6% on a
constant currency basis), primarily due to higher revenues as a result of IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth, partially offset by
impairment charges of $19 million, as described above.

Asia-Pacific Income from Operations. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Asia-Pacific income from operations increased by $54 million or
12% (15% on a constant currency basis), primarily due to higher revenues as a result of non-recuming senices provided to our joint ventures, IBX data
center expansion activity and organic growth, as well as lower utilities costs. These were partially offset by impairment charges of $87 million, as
described abowe.

Interest Income. Interest income increased to $137 million with an average yield of 5.89% for the year ended December 31, 2024, from $94 million
with an average yield of 4.11% for the year ended December 31, 2023. The increase was primarily due to interest income eamed on time deposits as
well as on the AMER 2 Loan further described in Note 15 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to $457 million for the year ended December 31, 2024 from $402 million for the year ended
December 31, 2023, primarily due to debt issuances during the year, including:

» the issuance of the 5.500% Senior Notes due 2034 in the second quarter of 2024;
» theissuances of the 3.650% Euro Senior Notes due 2033 and the 1.558% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due 2029 in the third quarter of 2024; and
+ the issuances of the 3.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2031 and the 3.625% Euro Senior Notes due 2034 in the fourth quarter of 2024.
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This increase was further driven by an increase in the variable interest rate on our GBP term loan. During the years ended December 31, 2024 and
2023, we capitalized $36 million and $26 million, respectively, of interest expense to construction in progress. See Note 10 within the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Other Expense. For the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded net other expense of $17 million, largely driven by our share of losses incurred
on our equity method investments in our xScale joint ventures. We did not record a significant amount of net other expense during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

Gain or Loss on Debt Extinguishment. During the year ended December 31, 2024, we recorded $16 million of net loss on debt extinguishment
primarily due to the modification of a financing obligation on a property in the Americas region. We did not record a significant amount of loss on debt
extinguishment during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Income Taxes. We operate as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, we are generally not subject to U.S. federal income taxes
on our taxable income distributed to stockholders. We intend to distribute or have distributed the entire taxable income generated by the operations of
our REIT and QRSs for the tax years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. As such, other than certain state income taxes and foreign
income and withholding taxes, no provsion for income taxes has been included for our REIT and QRSs in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

We have made TRS elections for some of our subsidiaries in and outside the U.S. In general, a TRS may provide senices that would otherwise be
considered impermissible for REITs to provide and may hold assets that may not be REIT compliant.

U.S. income taxes for the TRS entities located in the U.S. and foreign income taxes for our foreign operations, regardless of whether the foreign
operations are operated as QRSs or TRSs, have been accrued, as necessary, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

For the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded $161 million and $155 million of income tax expenses, respectively. Our effective
tax rates were 16.5% and 13.8%, respectiwely, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023. The higher effective tax rate in 2024 as compared to
2023 is primarily driven by the increasing losses in certain entities in the Americas and Asia-Pacific regions, of which full valuation allowances against
the deferred tax assets were assessed.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we had a favorable resolution of uncertain tax positions of approximately $8 million resulting from the
settlement of tax audits in the EMEA region. In 2023, we had a favorable resolution of uncertain tax positions of approximately $14 million resulting from
the settlement of tax audits in the EMEA region.

Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a key factor in how we assess the operating performance of our segments and dewelop regional growth
strategies such as IBX data center expansion decisions. We define adjusted EBITDA as net income excluding income tax expense, interest income,
interest expense, other income or expense, gain or loss on debt extinguishment, depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation
expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges, transaction costs, and gain or loss on asset sales. See "Non-GAAP Financial Measures" below for
more information about adjusted EBITDA and a reconciliation of adjusted EBITDA to net income. Our adjusted EBITDA for the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023 by geographic regions was as follows ($ in millions):

Years Ended December 31, $ Change %Change
Constant
2024 % 2023 % Actual Actual Currency
Americas $ 1,709 “19% $ 1,614 4% $ 95 6 % 7 %
EMEA 1,378 34 % 1,251 34 % 127 10 % 9 %
Asia-Pacific 1,010 25 % 837 22 % 173 21 % 2 %
Total $ 4,097 100% $ 3,702 100% $ 395 11 % 11 %

Americas Adjusted EBITDA. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Americas adjusted EBITDA increased by $95 million or 6% (7% on a
constant currency basis), primarily due to higher revenues as a result of non-recurring senices provided to our joint ventures, IBX data center expansion
activity and organic growth, as described abowe.
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EMEA Adjusted EBITDA. During the year ended December 31, 2024, EMEA adjusted EBITDA increased by $127 million or 10% (9% on a constant
currency basis), primarily due to higher revenues as a result of IBX data center expansion activity and organic growth, and lower utilities costs, as
described above.

Asia-Pacific Adjusted EBITDA. During the year ended December 31, 2024, Asia-Pacific adjusted EBITDA increased by $173 million or 21% (22%
on a constant currency basis), primarily due to higher revenues as a result of non-recuring senices provided to our joint ventures, IBX data center
expansion activity and organic growth, and lower utilities costs, as described abowe.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We provide all information required in accordance with GAAP, but we believe that evaluating our ongoing results of operations may be difficult if
limited to reviewing only GAAP financial measures. Accordingly, we use non-GAAP financial measures to evaluate our operations.

Non-GAAP financial measures are not a substitute for financial information prepared in accordance with GAAP. Non-GAAP financial measures
should not be considered in isolation, but should be considered together with the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures and the
reconciliation of the non-GAAP financial measures to the most directly comparable GAAP financial measures. We have presented such non-GAAP
financial measures to provide investors with an additional tool to evaluate our results of operations in @ manner that focuses on what management
believes to be our core, ongoing business operations. We believe that the inclusion of these non-GAAP financial measures provides consistency and
comparability with past reports and provides a better understanding of the owerall performance of the business and ability to perform in subsequent
periods. We believe that if we did not provide such non-GAAP financial information, investors would not hawe all the necessary data to analyze us
effectively.

Investors should note that the non-GAAP financial measures used by us may not be the same non-GAAP financial measures, and may not be
calculated in the same manner, as those of other companies. Investors should therefore exercise caution when comparing non-GAAP financial measures
used by us to similarly titled non-GAAP financial measures of other companies.

Our primary non-GAAP financial measures, adjusted EBITDA and adjusted funds from operations ("AFFQO"), exclude depreciation expense as these
charges primarily relate to the initial construction costs of our IBX data centers and do not reflect our current or future cash spending lewvels to support
our business. Our IBX data centers are long-ived assets and have an economic life greater than 10 years. The construction costs of an IBX data center
do not recur with respect to such data center, and future capital expenditures remain minor relative to our initial investment throughout its useful life.
Construction costs in future periods are primarily incurred with respect to additional IBX data centers. This is a trend we expect to continue. In addition,
depreciation is also based on the estimated useful lives of our IBX data centers. These estimates could vary from actual performance of the asset, are
based on historical costs incurred to build out our IBX data centers and are not indicative of curent or expected future capital expenditures. Therefore,
we exclude depreciation from our results of operations when evaluating our operations.

In addition, in presenting adjusted EBITDA and AFFO, we exclude amortization expense related to acquired intangible assets. Amortization expense
is significantly affected by the timing and magnitude of our acquisitions and these charges may vary in amount from period to period. We exclude
amortization expense to facilitate a more meaningful evaluation of our current operating performance and comparisons to our prior periods. We exclude
accretion expense, both as it relates to asset retirement obligations as well as accrued restructuring charge liabilities, as these expenses represent
costs which we believe are not meaningful in evaluating our current operations. We also exclude restructuring charges. Such charges include employee
sewerance, facility closure costs, lease or other contract termination costs and advisory fees related to the realignment of our management structure,
operations or products. We also exclude impairment charges related to goodwill or long-lived assets. We also exclude gain or loss on asset sales as it
represents profit or loss that is not meaningful in evaluating the current or future operating performance. Additionally, we exclude transaction costs from
AFFO and adjusted EBITDA to enhance the comparability of our financial results to our historical operations. The transaction costs relate to costs we
incur in connection with business combinations and the formation of joint ventures, including advisory, legal, accounting, valuation, and other professional
or consulting fees. Such charges generally are not relevant to assessing our long-term performance. In addition, the frequency and amount of such
charges vary significantly based on the size and timing of the transactions. Management believes items such as restructuring charges,
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impairment charges, gain or loss on asset sales and transaction costs are non-core transactions; howewer, these types of costs may occur in future
periods. Finally, we exclude stock-based compensation expense, as it can vary significantly from period to period based on share price, and the timing,
size and nature of equity awards. As such, we, and many investors and analysts, exclude stock-based compensation expense to compare our results of
operations with those of other companies.

Adjusted EBITDA

We define adjusted EBITDA as net income excluding income tax expense, interest income, interest expense, other income or expense, gain or loss
on debt extinguishment, depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, impairment charges,
transaction costs, and gain or loss on asset sales as presented below (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net income $ 814 §$ %9 $ 705
Income tax expense 161 155 124
Interest income (137) (94) (36)
Interest expense 457 402 356
Other expense 17 11 51
Loss on debt extinguishment 16 — —
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion expense 2,011 1,844 1,740
Stock-based compensation expense 462 407 404
Restructuring charges 3 — —
Impairment charges 233 — —
Transaction costs 50 13 22
(Gain) loss on asset sales (18) (5) 4

Adjusted EBITDA $ 4097 $ 3,702 $ 3,370

Our adjusted EBITDA results hawe increased each year in total dollars due to the factors discussed earlier in "Results of Operations”, as well as due
to the nature of our business model consisting of a recurring revenue stream and a cost structure which has a large base that is fixed in nature, as also
discussed in "Oveniew".

Funds from Operations ("FFO") and AFFO

We use FFO and AFFO, which are non-GAAP financial measures commonly used in the REIT industry. FFO is calculated in accordance with the
standards established by the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts. FFO represents net income (loss), excluding gain (loss) from the
disposition of real estate assets, depreciation and amortization on real estate assets and adjustments for unconsolidated joint ventures' and non-
controlling interests' share of these items.

In presenting AFFO, we exclude certain items that we believe are not good indicators of our current or future operating performance. AFFO
represents FFO excluding depreciation and amortization expense on non-real estate assets, accretion, stock-based compensation, stock-based
charitable contributions, restructuring charges, impairment charges, transaction costs, an installation revenue adjustment, a straight-line rent expense
adjustment, a contract cost adjustment, amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discounts and premiums, gain (loss) on debt extinguishment,
an income tax expense adjustment, recuming capital expenditures, net income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax, and adjustments from
FFO to AFFO for unconsolidated joint ventures' and non-controlling interests' share of these items. The adjustments for installation revenue, straight-line
rent expense and contract costs are intended to isolate the cash activity included within the straight-lined or amortized results in the consolidated
statement of operations. We exclude the amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discounts and premiums as these expenses relate to the
initial costs incurred in connection with debt financings that have no current or future cash obligations. We exclude gain (loss) on debt extinguishment
since it generally represents the write-off of initial costs incurred in connection with debt financings or a cost that is incurred to reduce future interest
costs and is not a good indicator of our current or future operating performance. We include an income tax expense adjustment, which represents the
non-cash tax impact due to changes in valuation allowances, uncertain tax
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positions and deferred taxes that do not relate to current period's operations. We deduct recurring capital expenditures, which represent expenditures to
extend the useful life of IBX data centers or other assets that are required to support current revenues. We also exclude net income (loss) from

discontinued operations, net of tax, which represents results that may not recur and are not a good indicator of our current or future operating
performance.

Our FFO and AFFO were as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net income $ 814 §$ %9 $ 705
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 1 — —
Net income attributable to common stockholders 815 969 705
Adjustments:
Real estate depreciation 1,239 1,143 1,105
(Gain) loss on disposition of real estate property (20) 1 7
Adjustments for FFO from unconsolidated joint ventures 27 17 10
FFO attributable to common stockholders $ 2,061 $ 2130 $ 1,827
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
FFO attributable to common stockholders $ 2,061 $ 2130 $ 1,827
Adjustments:
Installation revenue adjustment 4) 4 18
Straight-line rent expense adjustment (3) 12 16
Contract cost adjustment 27) 47) (53)
Amortization of deferred financing costs and debt discounts 20 19 18
Stock-based compensation expense 462 407 404
Stock-based charitable contributions 3 3 49
Non-real estate depreciation expense 562 494 427
Amortization expense 208 208 205
Accretion expense adjustment 2 1) 3
Recurring capital expenditures (250) (219) (189)
Loss on debt extinguishment 16 — —
Restructuring charges 31 — —
Transaction costs 50 13 22
Impairment charges 233 2 1
Income tax expense adjustment () (12) (31)
Adjustments for AFFO from unconsolidated joint ventures (6) 6 3
AFFO attributable to common stockholders $ 335 $ 3,019 $ 2,714

Our AFFO results have improved due to the factors discussed earlier in "Results of Operations," as well as due to the nature of our business model
which consists of a recurring revenue stream and a cost structure which has a large base that is fixed in nature as discussed earlier in "Oveniew."

Constant Currency Presentation

Our revenues and certain operating expenses (cost of revenues, sales and marketing and general and administrative expenses) from our intemational
operations have represented and will continue to represent a significant portion of our total revenues and certain operating expenses. As a result, our
revenues and certain operating expenses have been and will continue to be affected by changes in the U.S. dollar against major intemational currencies.
During the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023, the
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U.S. dollar was stronger relative to the Japanese yen, which resulted in an unfavorable foreign currency impact on revenue and operating income, and a
favorable foreign currency impact on operating expenses. During the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to the same period in 2023, the U.S.
dollar was weaker relative to the British Pound, which resulted in a favorable foreign currency impact on revenue and operating income, and an
unfavorable foreign currency impact on operating expenses. In order to provide a framework for assessing how each of our business segments performed
excluding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, we present period-over-period percentage changes in our revenues and certain operating expenses
on a constant currency basis in addition to the historical amounts as reported. Our constant currency presentation excludes the impact of our foreign
currency cash flow hedging activities. Presenting constant currency results of operations is a non-GAAP financial measure and is not meant to be
considered in isolation or as an altemative to GAAP results of operations. However, we hawe presented this non-GAAP financial measure to provide
investors with an additional tool to evaluate our results of operations. To present this information, our current period revenues and certain operating
expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar are conwerted into U.S. dollars at constant exchange rates rather than the actual
exchange rates in effect during the respective periods (i.e. average rates in effect for the year ended December 31, 2023 are used as exchange rates for
the year ended December 31, 2024 when comparing the year ended December 31, 2024 with the year ended December 31, 2023).

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources and Uses of Cash

Customer collections are our primary source of cash. We believe we hawe a strong customer base, and have continued to experience relatively
strong collections. As of December 31, 2024, our principle sources of liquidity were $3.6 billion of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments. In
addition to our cash balance, we had $3.9 billion of additional liquidity available to us from our $4.0 billion revolving facility and general access to both
public and private debt and the equity capital markets. We also have additional liquidity available to us from our 2024 ATM program, under which we may
offer and sell from time to time our common stock in "at the market" transactions on either a spot or forward basis. As of December 31, 2024, we had
approximately $1.3 billion available for sale remaining under the 2024 ATM Program.

We believe we hawe sufficient cash, coupled with anticipated cash generated from operating activities and extemal financing sources, to meet our
operating requirements, including repayment of the current portion of our debt as it becomes due, distribution of dividends, completion of our publicly-
announced acquisitions, ordinary costs to operate the business, and expansion projects.

As we continue to grow, we may pursue additional expansion opportunities, primarily the build out of new IBX data centers, in certain of our existing
markets which are at or near capacity within the next year, as well as potential acquisitions and joint ventures. If the opportunity to expand is greater
than planned we may further increase the lewvel of capital expenditure to support this growth as well as pursue additional business and real estate
acquisitions or joint ventures, provided that we have or can access sufficient funding to pursue such expansion opportunities. We may elect to access
the equity or debt markets from time to time opportunistically, particularly if financing is available on attractive terms. We will continue to evaluate our
operating requirements and financial resources in light of future developments.

Cash Flow
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 Change
(in millions)

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 3249 $ 3217 $ 32
Net cash used in investing activities (3,937) (3,224) (713)
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,723 211 1,512
Operating Activities

Our cash provided by our operations is generated by colocation, interconnection, managed infrastructure and other revenues. Our primary uses of
cash from our operating activities include compensation and related costs, interest payments, other general corporate expenditures and taxes. Net cash
provided by operating activities
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increased by $32 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023, primarily driven by improved results of
operations partially offset by increases in cash paid for costs and operating expenses.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increased by $713 million during the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023,
primarily due to:

+  $520 million in purchases of short-term investments;

+  $285 million increase in capital expenditures; and

«  $261 million investment in a loan receivable.

This increase was partially offset by $170 million in proceeds from the sale of assets to our joint ventures.
Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased by $1.5 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023,
primarily driven by:

+  $1.9 billion increase in proceeds from senior notes; and

+  $939 million increase in proceeds from the 2022 and 2024 ATM Programs.

The increase was partially offset by $1.0 billion in repayment of senior notes and an increase of $268 million in dividend distributions.
Material Cash Commitments

As of December 31, 2024, our principal commitments were primarily comprised of:

« approximately $14.7 billion of principal from our senior notes (gross of debt issuance costs and debt discounts);

+ approximately $3.5 billion of interest on mortgage payable, other loans payable, senior notes and term loans, based on their respective interest
rates and recognized ower the life of these instruments, and the credit facility fee for the revolving credit facility;

$649 million of principal from our term loans, mortgage payable and other loans payable (gross of debt issuance costs and debt discounts);

« approximately $5.3 billion of total lease payments, which represents lease payments under finance and operating lease arrangements, including
renewal options that are reasonably certain to be exercised;

« approximately $2.9 billion of unaccrued capital expenditure contractual commitments, primarily for IBX equipment not yet delivered and labor not
yet provided in connection with the work necessary to complete construction and open IBX data center expansion projects prior to making them
available to customers for installation, the majority of which is payable within the next 12 months; and

+ approximately $2.1 billion of other non-capital purchase commitments, such as commitments to purchase power in select locations and other
open purchase orders, which contractually bind us for goods, senices or arrangements to be delivered or provided during 2025 and beyond, the
majority of which is payable within the next two years.

We beliewve that our sources of liquidity, including our expected future operating cash flows, are sized to adequately meet both the near and long-
term material cash commitments for the foreseeable future. For further information on maturities of lease liabilities and debt instruments, see Notes 9
and 10, respectively, within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Other Contractual Obligations

We hawe additional future equity contributions and loan commitments to our joint ventures. For additional information, see the "Equity Method
Investments" in Note 5 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Additionally, we entered into lease agreements with various landlords primarily for data center spaces and ground leases which hawe not yet
commenced as of December 31, 2024. For additional information, see “Maturities of Lease Liabilities” in Note 9 within the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of our financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions about future events that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
On an ongoing basis, management evaluates the accounting policies, assumptions, estimates and judgments to ensure that our consolidated financial
statements are presented fairly and in accordance with GAAP. Management bases its assumptions, estimates and judgments on historical experience,
current trends and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. However, because future events and their
effects cannot be determined with certainty, actual results may differ from these assumptions and estimates, and such differences could be material.

Qur significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 1 to Consolidated Financial Statements in ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Management believes that application of the following accounting policies inwolves a significant level of estimation uncertainty and have had or are
reasonably likely to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements:

» Accounting for income taxes;

» Accounting for business combinations;

* Accounting for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets;
* Accounting for property, plant and equipment; and

* Accounting for leases.
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Description

Judgments and Uncertainties

Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Accounting for Income Taxes.

Deferred taxassets and liabilities are
recognized based on the future tax
consequences attributable to temporary.
differences that exist between the financial
statement carrying value of assets and
liabilities and their respective taxbases, as well
as taxattributes such as net operating loss,
capital loss and tax credit carryforwards on a
taxing jurisdiction basis. We measure deferred
taxassets and liabilities using enacted tax
rates that will applyin the years in which we
expect the temporary differences to be
r%cl:pv%red or settled, and the tax attributes to be
utilized.

The accounting standard for income taxes
requires a reduction of the carrying amounts of
deferred taxassets by recordln_P avaluation
allowance if, based on the available evidence, it
is more likely than not (defined by the
accounting standard as a likelihood of more
than 50%) that such assets will not be realized.

Atax benefit from an uncertain income tax
position may be recognized in the financial
statements onlyifitis more likely than not that
the position is sustainable, based solelyon its
technical merits and consideration of the
relevant taxing authoritys widely understood
administrative practices and precedents. We
recognize interest and penalties related to
unrecognized tax benefits within income tax
benefit (expense) in the consolidated
statements of operations.

The valuation of deferred tax assets requires
judgmentin assessing the likely future tax )
consequences of events that have been recognized
in our financial statements or taxreturns. Our
accounting for deferred tax consequences
represents our best estimate of those future tax
consequences.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowance, we
consider both positive and negative evidence related
to the likelihood of realization of the deferred tax
assets. If, based on the weight of that available
evidence, itis more likely than not the deferred tax
assets will not be realizable, we record a valuation
allowance. The weight given to the positive and
negative evidence is commensurate with the extent
to which the evidence may be objectively verified.

This assessment, which is completed on a taxin
jurisdiction basis, takes into account a number of
types of evidence, including the following: 1) the
nature, frequency and severity of current and
cumulative financial reporting losses, 2) sources of
future taxable income, 3) taxable income in carryb
years permitted by the taxlaw, and 4) tax planning
strategies.

In assessing the taxbenefit from an uncertain
income tax position, the tax position that meets the
more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is initially
and subsequently measured as the largest amount
of taxbenefit that is greater than a 50% likelihood of
being realized upon ultimate settiement with a taxing
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant
information.

For purposes of the quarterly REIT asset tests, we
estimate the fair market value of assets within our
QRSs and TRSs using a discounted cash flow
approach, by calculating the present value of
forecasted future cash flows. We apply discount
rates based on industry benchmarks relative to the
market and forecasting risks. Other significant
assumptions used to estimate the fair market value
of assets in QRSs and TRSs include projected
revenue growth, projected operating margins and
projected capital expenditure.

ack

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had net total
deferred taxliabilities of $291 million and $332 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a
total valuation allowance of $277 million and $221 million,
respectively. If and when we increase or reduce our
valuation allowances, it may have an unfavorable or
favorable impact, respectively, to our financial position and
results of operations in the periods when such
determinations are made. \We will continue to assess the
Eﬁed for our valuation allowances, byjurisdiction, in the
ure.

Durin? the year ended December 31,2024, we
established full valuation allowances against certain
deferred taxassets in the AVER region as part of our
assessment of the realization of such deferred taxassets.
\We do not expect these deferred taxassets to be
realizable in the foreseeable future.

Durin? the year ended December 31,2023, we
established full valuation allowances against certain
deferred taxassets in the EMEAregion as part of the
purchase accounting determination for the assets we
acquired during the year. We do not expect these deferred
taxassets to be realizable in the foreseeable future.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had unrecognized
tax benefits of $57 million and $70 million, respectively,
exclusive of interest and penalties. During the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the unrecognized tax
benefit decreased by $13 million and $19 million,
resdpectively, primarily due to the settlements of taxaudits
and lapse of statute of limitations in the EMEAregion. The
unrecognized tax benefits of $57 million as of

December 31, 2024, if subsequentl{recognized, will affect
our effective tax rate favorably at the ime when such a
benefitis recognized.
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Effect if Actual Results Differ from Assumptions

Accounting for Business Combinations

In accordance with the accounting standard for
business combinations, we allocate the
purchase price of an acquired business to its
identifiable assets and liabilities based on
estimated fair values. The excess of the
purchase price over the fair value of the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, if any, is
recorded as goodwill.

We use all available information to estimate fair
values. We typically engage outside appraisal
firms to assist in determining the fair value of
identifiable intangible assets such as customer
contracts, leases and any other significant
assets or liabilities and contingen
consideration, as well as the estimated useful
life of intangible assets. We adjust the
preliminary purchase price allocation, as
necessary, up to one year after the acquisition
closing date If we obtain more information
regar |ng asset valuations and liabilities
assumed.

Qur purchase price allocation methodology contains
uncertainties because it requires assumpfions and
ljudgments to estimate the fair value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition
date. Keyjudgments used to estimate the fair value
of intangible assets include projected revenue
growth and operating margins, discount rates,
customer attrition rates, as well as the estimated
useful life of intangible assets. We estimate the fair
value of assets and liabilities based on quoted
market prices, the carrying value of the acquired
assets and widely accepted valuation techniques,
including discounted cash flows and market multiple
analyses. Our estimates are inherently uncertain
and subject to refinement. Unanticipated events or
circumstances may occur which could affect the
accuracy of our fair value estimates, including
assumptions regarding industry economic factors
and business strategies.

During the last three years, we have completed a number
of business combinations, including the acquisition of
Entel Peru data centers in the third quarter of 2022 and
MainOne in West Africa and Entel Chile data centers in the
second quarter of 2022. The purchase price allocations for
these acquisitions were finalized during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

We do not believe there is a reasonable likelihood that
there will be a material change in the estimates or
assumptions we used to complete the purchase price
allocations and the fair value of assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. However, if actual results are not
consistent with our estimates or assumptions, we may be
exposed fo losses or gains that could be material, which
would be recorded in our consolidated statements of
operations in future periods.

Accounting for Impairment of Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets

In accordance with the accounting standard for
goodwill and other intangible assets, we
perform goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible
assets impairment reviews annually, or
whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of an asset may
not be recoverable.

\We complete an annual goodwill impairment
assessment for the Americas, El and Asia-
Pacific reporting units to determine if the fair
values of the reporting units exceeded their
carrying values.

\We do not have any significant indefinite-lived
intangible assets for which an impairment
assessment would have a material impact on
our financial statements.

Finite-lived intangible assets are assessed for

impairment at the asset group level along with
rc|>perty, plant and equipment as discussed
elow.

To perform our annual goodwill impairment
assessment, we elected to bypass the optional
analysis of qualitative factors to determine whether it
is more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unitis less than its carrying value. We
performed the quantitative goodwill impairment test
using a discounted cash flow method as an income
approach, and a market approach. Performing a
guantltatlve goodwill impairment test includes the

etermination of the fair value of the reé-f)orting unit
and requires significant estimates an
assumptions. These estimates and assumptions
include, among others, forecasted operating results,
risk-adjusted discount rates, the determination of
appropriate market comparables, future economic
conditions and other market data. We periodically
review our assessment of our reporting units to
determine if changes in facts and circumstances
warrant changes to our conclusions. There were no
specific factors presentin 2024 or 2023 that
indicated a potential goodwill impairment.

As of December 31, 2024, goodwill attributable to the
Americas, EMEAand Asia-Pacific reporting units was $2.6
billion, $2.3 billion and $596 million, respectively.

Future ewents, changing market conditions and any
changes in key assumptions may result in an impairment
charge. While we have not recorded an impairment charge
against our goodwill to date, the development of adverse
business conditions in our Americas, EMEA or Asia-Pacific
reporting units, such as higher than anticipated customer
churn or significantly increased operating costs could
resultin an impairment charge in future periods.

The balance of our other intangible assets, net, for years
ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 was $1.4 billion and
$1.7 billion, respectively We recorded $29 million
impairment charges on finite-lived intangible assets
during the year ended December 31, 2024.
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Accountig? for Property, Plant and

Equipme

We have a substantial amount of property, plant
and equipment recorded on our consolidated
balance sheet. The majority of our property,
plant and equipment represent the costs
incurred to build out or acquire our IBXdata
centers. Our IBXdata centers are long-lived
assets. We depreciate our property, plant and
equipment using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the respective
assets ﬁsubject to the term of the lease in the
case of leased assets or leasehold
improvements and integral equipment located
in leased properties).

Accounting for property, plant and equipment
includes determining the appropriate period
over which to depreciate such assets and
assessing such assets for potential
impairment. We assess our property, plant and
equipment for potential impairment together
with finite lived-intangible assets and lease
Irlghtl-of-use ("ROU") assets at the asset group
evel.

Judgments are required in arriving at the estimated
useful life of an asset and changes to these
estimates could have a significantimpact on our
financial position and results of operations. We
periodically review the estimated useful lives of

certain of our propert%/, plant and equipment and
chan els in these esfimates in the future are
possible.

e review our asset groups on an ongoing basis to
identify any events or changes in circumstances
indicating that the carrying amount of an asset group
may not be recoverable, such as a significant
decrease in market price of an asset group, a
significant adverse change in the extent or manner
in which an asset group is being used, a significant
adverse change in legal factors or business climate
that could affect the value of an asset group or a
continuous deterioration of our financial condition.
This assessment requires assumptions and
estimates derived from a review of our actual and
forecasted operating results, approved business
plans, future economic conditions and other market
data. If a potential impairment trigger is identified,
the measurement of an impairment loss requires
assumptions and estimates of undiscounted and
discounted future cash flows, and assumptions
about the market price of assets. These
assumptions and estimates require significant
judgment and are inherently uncertain.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had property, plant
and equipment of $19.2 billion and $18.6 billion,
respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022, we recorded depreciation expense of $1.8
billion, $1.6 billion, and $1.5 billion, respectively. We
evaluated the estimated useful lives of our property, plant
and equipment, and made certain revisions to these
estimates during the year ended December 31, 2024. We
did not revise these estimates during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022. Further changes in our
estimated useful lives of our property, plant and equipment
could have a significantimpact on our results of
operations. We recorded $166 million lmﬁawment charges
on property, plant and equipment during the year ende
December 31, 2024.

Accounting for Leases

Asignificant portion of our data center spaces,
office spaces and equipment are leased. Each
time we enter into a new lease or lease
amendments, we analyze each lease or lease
amendment for the proper accounting,
including assessing ifit should be classified
as an operating or finance lease.

ROU assets are also assessed for impairment
at the asset group level along with property,
plant and equipment as discussed above.

Determination of the accounting treatment, including
the result of the lease classification test for each
new lease, lease amendment, or lease term
reassessment is dependent on a variety of
iudgments, such as identification of lease and non-
ease components, allocation of total consideration
between lease and non-lease components,
determination of lease term, including assessing
the likelihood of lease renewals, valuation of leased
groperty, and establishing the incremental

orrowing rate to calculate the present value of the
minimum lease payment for the lease test. The
judgments used in the accounting for leases are
inherently subjective; different assumptions or
estimates could result in different accounting
treatment for a lease.

Lease assumptions and estimates are determined and
applied at the inception of the leases or at the lease
modification or reassessment date. As of both
December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total operating lease
ROU assets were $1.4 billion and operating lease
liabilities were $1.5 billion, respectively. As of both
December 31, 2024 and 2023, finance lease ROU assets
were $2.2 billion and finance lease liabilities were $2.3
billion, respectively. For the years ended December 31,
2024, 2023 and 2022, we recorded finance lease costs of
$294 million, $280 million and $273 million, respectively,
and recorded rent expense of approximately $229 million,
$243 million and $214 million, respectively.

We recorded $38 million impairment charges on operatin
If(?zsf ROU assets during the year ended December 31,

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See "Recent Accounting Pronouncements” in Note 1 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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ITEM7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Market Risk

The following discussion about market risk involves forwardHooking statements. Actual results could differ materially from those projected in the
forward-ooking statements. We may be exposed to market risks related to changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates and
fluctuations in the prices of certain commodities, primarily electricity.

We employ foreign currency forward and option contracts, cross-currency interest rate swaps and interest rate locks for the purpose of hedging
certain specifically identified exposures. The use of these financial instruments is intended to mitigate some of the risks associated with fluctuations in
currency exchange and interest rates, but does not eliminate such risks. We do not use financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

Investment Portfolio Risk

We maintain an investment portfolio of various holdings, types, and maturities that is prioritized on meeting REIT asset requirements. We consider
various factors in determining whether we should recognize an impairment charge for our securities, including the length of time and extent to which the
fair value has been less than our cost basis and our intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated
recovery. We anticipate that we will recover the entire cost basis of these securities and havwe determined that no other-than-temporary impairments
associated with credit losses were required to be recognized during the year ended December 31, 2024.

As of December 31, 2024, our investment portfolio of cash equivalents consisted of money market funds and time deposits. The amount in our
investment portfolio that could be susceptible to market risk totaled $2.5 billion.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk related to our outstanding debt. An immediate increase or decrease in current interest rates from their position
as of December 31, 2024 would not have a material impact on our interest expense due to the fixed coupon rate on the majority of our debt obligations.
However, the interest expense associated with our senior credit facility and term loans that bear interest at variable rates could be affected. For every
100-basis point increase or decrease in interest rates, our annual interest expense could increase by approximately $6 million or decrease by
approximately $6 million based on the total balance of our term loan borrowings as of December 31, 2024.

We periodically enter into interest rate locks to hedge the interest rate exposure created by anticipated fixed-rate debt issuances, which are
designated as cash flow hedges. When interest rate locks are settled, any accumulated gain or loss included as a component of other comprehensive
income (loss) will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the forecasted hedged transaction which is equivalent to the term of the interest rate
locks.

The fair values of our long-term fixed interest rate debt and our loan receivable are subject to interest rate risk. Generally, the fair value of these
instruments will increase as interest rates fall and decrease as interest rates rise. Interest rate changes may affect the fair value of these instruments but
do not impact our eamings or cash flows. The fair value of our mortgage and loans payable as well as our Japanese Yen Senior Notes, which are not
traded in the market, are estimated by considering our credit rating, current rates available to us for debt of the same remaining maturities and the terms
of the debt. The fair values of our other senior notes, which are traded in the market, are based on quoted market prices. The fair value of our loan
receivable is estimated by discounting the contractual cash flows of the loan using indicative pricing from third parties for similar instruments. The
following table represents the carrying value and estimated fair value of these financial instruments as of December 31 (in millions):
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2024 2023
Carryin Carryin
Valur}él( Fair Value Valm( Fair Value
Mortgage and loans payable $ 649 $ 654 $ 672 $ 684
Senior notes 14,685 13,342 13,168 11,740
Loan receivable 261 280 — —

U] The carrying value is gross of debt issuance cost and debt discount.
Foreign Currency Risk

To help manage the exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations, we have implemented a number of hedging programs, in particular (i) a
cash flow hedging program to hedge the forecasted revenues and expenses in our EMEA region as well as our debt denominated in foreign currencies,
(i) a balance sheet hedging program to hedge the re-measurement of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, and (jii) a net
investment hedging program to hedge the long-term investments in our foreign subsidiaries. Our hedging programs reduce, but do not entirely eliminate,
the impact of curency exchange rate movements and their impact on the consolidated statements of operations.

We hawe entered into various foreign currency debt obligations. As of December 31, 2024, the total principal amount of foreign currency debt
obligations was $4.5 billion, including $3.0 billion denominated in Euro and $626 million denominated in British Pound, $491 miillion denominated in
Japanese Yen, $441 million denominated in Swiss Franc and $21 million denominated in Canadian Dollar. Fluctuations in the exchange rates between
these foreign currencies and the U.S. Dollar will impact the amount of U.S. Dollars that we will require to settle the foreign currency debt obligations at
maturity. If the U.S. Dollar would have been weaker or stronger by 10% in comparison to these foreign currencies as of December 31, 2024, we estimate
our obligation to cash settle the principal of these foreign currency debt obligations in U.S. Dollars would have increased or decreased by approximately
$371 million and $304 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2024, we have designated $1.0 billion of the total principal amount of foreign currency
debt obligations as net investment hedges against our net investments in foreign subsidiaries. Changes in the fair value of hedging instruments
designated as net investment hedges are recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in the consolidated balance
sheets.

We are also party to cross-currency interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2024, the total notional amount of cross-currency interest rate swap
contracts was $4.4 billion. We have designated $2.0 billion of the total notional amount of cross-currency swaps as net investment hedges against our
investment in foreign subsidiaries and $1.0 billion as cash flow hedges against a portion of our foreign currency denominated debt and our U.S. dollar-
denominated fixed-rate debt issued by our foreign subsidiaries. The remaining $1.4 billion of cross-currency interest rate swaps were not designated as
hedging instruments. As of December 31, 2023, the total notional amount of cross-currency interest rate swap contracts was $4.5 billion. We have
designated $3.1 billion of the total notional amount of cross-currency swaps as net investment hedges against our investment in foreign subsidiaries and
$280 million as cash flow hedges against a portion of our foreign cumrency denominated debt. The remaining $1.1 billion of cross-currency interest rate
swaps were not designated as hedging instruments. If the U.S. Dollar weakened or strengthened by 10% in comparison to foreign currencies, we
estimate our obligation to cash settle these hedges would have increased or decreased by approximately $261 million and $216 million, respectively.

The U.S. Dollar strengthened relative to certain of the currencies of the foreign countries in which we operate during the year ended December 31,
2024. This has impacted our consolidated financial position and results of operations during this period, including the amount of revenues that we
reported. Continued strengthening or weakening of the U.S. Dollar will continue to impact us in future periods.

With the existing cash flow hedges in place, a hypothetical additional 10% strengthening of the U.S. Doallar during the year ended December 31,
2024 would hawe resulted in a reduction of our revenues and a reduction of our operating expenses including depreciation and amortization expense by
approximately $282 million and $261 million, respectiwely.

With the existing cash flow hedges in place, a hypothetical additional 10% weakening of the U.S. Dollar during the year ended December 31, 2024
would have resulted in an increase of our revenues and an increase of our operating expenses including depreciation and amortization expenses by
approximately $344 million and $331 million, respectiwely.
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Commodity Price Risk

Certain operating costs incurred by us are subject to price fluctuations caused by the wolatility of underlying commodity prices. The commodities
most likely to have an impact on our results of operations in the event of price changes are electricity, supplies and equipment used in our IBX data
centers. We closely monitor the cost of electricity at all of our locations. We have entered into various power contracts to purchase power at fixed prices
in certain locations in Australia, Brazil, Bulgaria, Canada, Chile, Finland, France, Germany, India, Ireland, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Peru, Poland,
Portugal, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom and the U.S.

In addition, as we are building new, or expanding existing, IBX data centers, we are subject to commodity price risk for building materials related to
the construction of these IBX data centers, such as steel and copper. In addition, the lead-time to procure certain pieces of equipment, such as
generators, is substantial. Any delays in procuring the necessary pieces of equipment for the construction of our IBX data centers could delay the
anticipated openings of these new IBX data centers and, as a result, increase the cost of these projects.

We do not currently employ forward contracts or other financial instruments to address commodity price risk other than the power contracts
discussed abowe.

ITEM8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

The financial statements and supplementary data required by this ltem 8 are listed in ltem 15(a)(1) and begin at page F-1 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

ITEM9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There is no disclosure to report pursuant to ltem 9.
ITEM9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Under the supenision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, we
conducted an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) promulgated under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"). Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2024.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the supenision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Intemal Control — Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

Based on our evaluation under the framework in Intemal Control — Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our intemal control
ower financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2024.

The effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein on page F-1 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, believes that our disclosure controls and procedures and internal
control over financial reporting are designed and operated to be effective at the reasonable assurance level. However, our management does not expect
that our disclosure controls and procedures or our intemal control over financial reporting will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter
how well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Further, the
design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their
costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues and
instances of fraud, if any, have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can be faulty, and that
breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by management owverride of the controls. The design of any system of controls is also based in part upon certain
assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions; over time, controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies or
procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and
not be detected.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In the second quarter of 2024, as part of our multi-year project to move the backbone of our finance systems to the Cloud, we completed deployment
of certain modules in our new cloud enterprise resource planning (‘ERP”) system to support financial close and reporting. As a result of the ERP system
implementation, in the second quarter of 2024 certain intemal controls over financial reporting have been automated, modified, or implemented to address
the new control environment and processes associated with the ERP system.

There have been no other changes in our intemal control over financial reporting identified in connection with the evaluation required by Rules 13a-
15(d) and 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act that occurred during the twelve months ended December 31, 2024 that hawe materially affected, or are
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.

ITEM9B. Other Information

Rule 10b5-1 Trading Arrangements

During the quarter ended December 31, 2024, each of the following directors and/or officers adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading
arrangement”, as each term is defined in ltem 408(a) of Regulation S-K. All trading plans were entered into during an open insider trading window and are
intended to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and our policies regarding
transactions in our securities.

Name and Title Date Action Start Date End Date Total Shares to be Sold
Dt Senaw: EVP and G 1172024 Termination 111612025 913012025 See footnote ()
Smon Miler, Chief Accounting 1111512024 Adoption 312025 413012025 See footnote @

(M. Crenshaw's original adoption date was on May 31, 2024.
@ M. Miller's plan includes any shares to be granted under the 2024 Annual Incentive Plan, as determined based on final company performance, to be sold for
taxwithholding and/or diversification purposes.

ITEMO9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicable.
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PART Il

ITEM10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

We hawe adopted a Code of Ethics applicable for the Chief Executive Officer and Senior Financial Officers and a Code of Business Conduct, which
are both "Code(s) of Ethics for Senior Financial Officers" as defined by applicable rules of the SEC. This information is incorporated by reference to the
Equinix Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders and is also available on our website, www.equinix.com.

Our Board of Directors has adopted an insider trading policy (the “Equinix Securities Trading Policy”). The Equinix Securities Trading Policy governs
transactions, including the purchase, sale, and/or other dispositions of Equinix securities by directors, officers, employees and consultants of Equinix,
Inc. The Equinix Securities Trading Policy is designed to promote compliance with applicable insider trading laws, rules and regulations and any listing
standards applicable to the company including the Nasdaq stock exchange. It is Equinix's policy to comply with applicable securities and state laws
when engaging in transactions in Equinix's securities. A copy of the Equinix Securities Trading Policy is filed with this Annual Report on Form 10-K as
Exhibit 19.1.

The other information required by this ltem 10 is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders, which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 pursuant to Regulation 14A.
ITEM11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the Equinix Proxy Statement for the 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, which
will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 pursuant to Regulation 14A.

ITEM14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference to the definitive Proxy Statement for our 2025 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
which will be filed with the SEC no later than 120 days after December 31, 2024 pursuant to Regulation 14A.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 238) F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 F4
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 F-5
ggznzsolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 6
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 F-8
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements F-9
(a)(2) Financial statements and schedule:
Schedule Il - Schedule of Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation as of December 31, 2024 with reconciliations for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 F-61
(a)(3) Exhibits:
Incorporated by Reference
Exhibit Filing Date/ Filed
Number Exhibit Description Form Period End Date Exhibit Herewith
2.1 Rule 2.7 Announcement, dated as of May 29, 2015. 8K 5/29/2015 2.1
Recommended Cash and Share Offer for Telecity Group
plc by Equinix, Inc.
22 Cooperation AI\:greement, dated as of Maé 29, 2015, by 8K 5/29/2015 22
and between Equinix, Inc. and Telecity Group plc.
2.3 Amendment to Cooperation Agreement, dated as of 10K 12/31/2015 2.3
November 24, 2015, by and between Equinix, Inc. and
Telecity Group plc.
24 Transaction Agreement, dated as of December 6, 2016, 8K 12/6/2016 21
téy and between Verizon Communications Inc. and
quinix, Inc.
25 Amendment No. 1 to the Transaction Agreement, dated 10K 12/31/2016 25
February 23, 2017, by and between Verizon
Communications Inc. and Equinix, Inc.
26 Amendment No. 2 to the Transaction Agreement, dated 8K 5/1/2017 21
April 30, 2017, by and between Verizon Communications
Inc. and Equinix, Inc.
2.7 Amendment No. 3 to the Transaction Agreement, dated 10-Q 8/8/2018 2.7
June 29, 2018, by and between Verizon Communications
Inc. and Equinix, Inc.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the 10K/A 12/31/2002 3.1

Registrant, as amended to date.
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515205215/d934153dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515205215/d934153dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515205215/d934153dex22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515205215/d934153dex22.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828016011802/equi-ex23.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828016011802/equi-ex23.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312516786296/d308447dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312516786296/d308447dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828017001774/equi-ex25.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828017001774/equi-ex25.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312517151757/d330390dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312517151757/d330390dex21.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828018010818/eqix-63018xexhibit27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828018010818/eqix-63018xexhibit27.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287003002048/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287003002048/dex31.htm
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3.2

3.3

3.4

3.5

3.6
4.1
4.2

4.3

4.4
4.5

4.6
4.7

4.8
4.9

4.10
411

412
4.13

414
4.15

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Restated
Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant.

Certificate of Designation of Series A and Series A-1
Convertible Preferred Stock.

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant.

Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5 and 3.6.
Indenture, dated as of December 12, 2017, between Equinix,
Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee.

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 18,
2019, among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Form of 2.625% Senior Note due 2024 (See Exhibit 4.3)

Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 18, 2019,
?_mopg quinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Form of 2.900% Senior Note due 2026 (See Exhibit 4.5)

Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 18,
2019, among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Form of 3.200% Senior Note due 2029 (See Exhibit 4.7)
Sewventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 22, 2020,

among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
Trustee.

Form of 1.250% Senior Note due 2025 (See Exhibit 4.9)

Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 22, 2020,
%mopg Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Form of 1.800% Senior Note due 2027 (See Exhibit 4.11)

Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 22, 2020,
$motng quinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Form of 2.150% Senior Note due 2030 (see Exhibit 4.13)

Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of June 22, 2020,
$motng Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.
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8K

8K

10Q

10-K/A

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

6/14/2011

6/11/2013

6/30/2014

12/31/2002

3/13/2023

12/5/2017

11/18/2019

11/18/2019

11/18/2019

6/22/2020

6/22/2020

6/22/2020

6/22/2020

6/22/2020

3.1

3.1

34

3.3

3.1

41

4.2

4.4

4.6

4.2

4.4

4.6

4.8


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312511164740/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312511164740/dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312513254037/d551026dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312513254037/d551026dex31.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312514303273/d737144dex34.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312514303273/d737144dex34.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287003002048/dex33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287003002048/dex33.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828022009052/ex31-amendedandrestatedbyl.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828023007702/bylawamend.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312517367569/d489470dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312517367569/d489470dex41.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465919065077/tm1923117d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex42.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex44.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex46.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex46.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex48.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312520175567/d696361dex48.htm
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4.16
4.17

4.18

4.19

4.20

4.21

4.22

4.23

4.24

4.25

4.26

4.27

4.28

4.29

4.30

4.31

4.32

4.33

4.34

4.35

Form of 3.000% Senior Note due 2050 (See Exhibit 4.15)

Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 7,
2020, among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Zo1rr71; of 1.000% Senior Note due 2025 (included in Exhibit

Twelfth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 7, 2020,
%mopg Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Zc%rg; of 1.550% Senior Note due 2028 (included in Exhibit

Thirteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of October 7,
2020, among Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Z%T; of 2.950% Senior Note due 2051 (included in Exhibit

Fourteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 10,
2021, between Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Zozrg)] of 0.250% Senior Note due 2027 (included in Exhibit

Fifteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2021,
_tIJ_etV\{een Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Zozrrsr)l of 1.000% Senior Note due 2033 (included in Exhibit

Sixteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 17, 2021,
_tl)_etvséeen Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

ZOZF%] of 1.450% Senior Note due 2026 (included in Exhibit

Sewenteenth Sugplemental Indenture, dated as of May 17,
2021, between Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National
Association, as Trustee.

Zozrg)] of 2.000% Senior Note due 2028 (included in Exhibit

Eighteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 17, 2021,
_tIJ_e V\{een Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Z%r?; of 2.500% Senior Note due 2031 (included in Exhibit

Nineteenth Supplemental Indenture, dated May 17, 2021,
_tl)_etm{een Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as
rustee.

Z%rg; of 3.400% Senior Note due 2052 (included in Exhibit

Twentieth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 5, 2022,
between Equinix, Inc. and U.S. Bank Trust Company National
Association, as Trustee.
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8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

10/7/2020

10/7/2020

10/7/2020

3/11/2021

3/11/2021

5/17/2021

5/17/2021

5/17/2021

5/17/2021

4/5/2022

4.2

44

46

4.2

4.4

4.2

44

4.6

4.8

4.2


https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465920113068/tm2032554d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921034899/tm219368d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921034899/tm219368d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921034899/tm219368d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921034899/tm219368d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-6.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465921068051/tm2116587d1_ex4-8.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465922042726/tm2211678d1_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465922042726/tm2211678d1_ex4-2.htm
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4.36

4.37

4.38

4.39

4.40

441

4.42

4.43

4.44

4.45

4.46

4.47

4.48

4.49

Z%rg; of 3.900% Senior Notes due 2032 (included in Exhibit

Notes Purchase Agreement, dated February 7, 2023, and
ics;sued {:)y Equinix Japan K.K. and Equinix, Inc. as Parent
uarantor.

Terms and Conditions of the Swiss Francs bonds due
September 12, 2028, issued by Equinix Europe 1 Financing
Corporation LLC and guaranteed by Equinix, Inc. as
Guarantor.

Indenture, dated as of March 18, 2024, among Equinix
Europe 2 Financing Corporation LLC, as issuer, Equinix,
Inc., as guarantor, and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National
Association, as trustee

First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 30, 2024,
among Equinix Europe 2 Financing Corporation LLC, as
issuer, Equinix, Inc., as guarantor, and U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as trustee

Z%fr(r)? of 5.500% Senior Note due 2034 (included in Exhibit

Bond Purchase and Paying AEgency AEgreement dated
September 2, 2024 between Equinix Europe 1 Financin
Corporation LLC and Equinix, Inc. as Guarantor and B
Paribas éSuisse) SA as Swiss Paying Agent and Deutsche
Bank AG London Branch as Joint Lead Managers

Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of September 3,
2024, among Equinix Europe 2 Financing CorEoration LLC,
as issuer, E% inix, Inc., as guarantor, Elavon Financial
Senices DAC, UK Branch, as paying agent, and U.S. Bank
;I'rustt Company, National Association, as registrar and
rustee

Z%r; of 3.650% Senior Note due 2033 (included in Exhibit

Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 22,
2024, amo? Equinix Europe 2 Financing Corporation LLC,
as issuer, Equinix, Inc., as guarantor, U.S. Bank Europe
DAC, U.K. Branch, as paying agent, and U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as registrar and trustee

Z%rg; of 3.250% Senior Note due 2031 (included in Exhibit

Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 22,
2024, amo? Equinix Europe 2 Financing Corporation LLC,
as issuer, Equinix, Inc., as guarantor, U.S. Bank Europe
DAC, U.K. Branch, as paying agent, and U.S. Bank Trust
Company, National Association, as registrar and trustee

Z%rr;r; of 3.625% Senior Note due 2034 (included in Exhibit

Form of Registrant's Common Stock Certificate.
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8K

10Q

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

8K

10K

3/31/2023

9/30/2023

3/18/2024

5/30/2024

9/30/2024

9/3/2024

9/3/2024

11/22/2024

11/22/2024

11/22/2024

11/22/2024

12/31/2014

4.39

4.40

4.40

4.20

4.42
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43

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828023016073/eqix-33123xexhibit439.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828023016073/eqix-33123xexhibit439.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828023035406/eqix-93023xexhibit440.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828023035406/eqix-93023xexhibit440.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924035156/tm248732d2_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924035156/tm248732d2_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924066737/tm248732d11_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924066737/tm248732d11_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828024044355/eqix-93024xexhibit442.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828024044355/eqix-93024xexhibit442.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924096370/tm2422480d4_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924096370/tm2422480d4_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924122119/tm2428009d4_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924122119/tm2428009d4_ex4-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924122119/tm2428009d4_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000110465924122119/tm2428009d4_ex4-4.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515073042/d854432dex413.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312515073042/d854432dex413.htm
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4.50
10.1

10.2

10.3**

10.4**
10.5*

10.6™

10.7**

10.8**

10.9*

10.10*

10.11**

10.12**

Description of Securities

Agreement for Purchase and Sale of Shares Among RW 10-Q 9/30/2014
Brasil Fundo de Investimentos em Participagdo, Antonio

Eduardo Zago De Carvalho and Sidney Victor da Costa

Breyer, as Sellers, and Equinix Brasil Participagéoes

Ltda., as Purchaser, and Equinix South America

Holdings LLC., as a Party for Limited Purposes and

ALOG Solugdes de Tecnologia em Informatica S.A. as

Intervening Consenting Party dated July 18, 2014.

Credit Agreement dated January 7, 2022 by and among 10K 12/31/2021
Equinix, as borrower, a syndicate of financial institutions,
as lenders, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent, Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
MUFG Bank, Ltd., RBC Capital Markets, Goldman Sachs
Bank USA and HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as co-
syndication agents, Barclays Bank PLC, BNP Paribas,
Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, ING Bank N.V.,
Dublin Branch, Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, Inc.,
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, The Bank of Nova
Scotia and TD Securities (USA) LLC, as co-
documentation agents, and BofA Securities, Inc.,
Citibank, N.A., JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., MUFG
Bank, Ltd., RBC Capital Markets, Goldman Sachs Bank
USA and HSBC Securities (USA) Inc., as joint lead
arrangers and book runners.

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the S+4 (File No. 333- 12/29/1999
Registrant and each of its officers and directors. 93749)

2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended. 10-K 12/31/2021
2020 Equity Incentive Plan DEF14A 4/27/2020
Equinix, Inc. 2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan DEF 14A 4/12/2024
2022 Form of Revenue/AFFO per Share/Digital Senices 10-Q 3/31/2022
Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for

Executives.

2022 Form of TSR Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 10Q 3/31/2022
Executives.

2022 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit 10-Q 3/31/2022
Agreement for Executives.

2023 Form of Revenue/AFFO per Share/Digital Senices 10-Q 3/31/2023
Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for

Executives.

2023 Form of TSR Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 10-Q 3/31/2023
Executives.

2023 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit 10-Q 3/31/2023

Agreement for Executives.
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Appendix A

Appendix B
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828025005126/eqix-123124xexhibit450.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828025005126/eqix-123124xexhibit450.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312514402944/d784374dex1067.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000119312514402944/d784374dex1067.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828022003171/eqix-123121xexhibit1022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828022003171/eqix-123121xexhibit1022.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287099004804/0001012870-99-004804.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000101287099004804/0001012870-99-004804.txt
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828022003171/eqix-123121xexhibit102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828022003171/eqix-123121xexhibit102.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000104746920002602/a2241357zdef14a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000104746920002602/a2241357zdef14a.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828024016094/eqix-20240412.htm#i0a7ed58a395f4c1d9c46ab573d8bb792_2548
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1101239/000162828024016094/eqix-20240412.htm#i0a7ed58a395f4c1d9c46ab573d8bb792_2548
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001101239/000162828022011503/eqix-33122xexhibit1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001101239/000162828022011503/eqix-33122xexhibit1011.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001101239/000162828022011503/eqix-33122xexhibit1012.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001101239/000162828022011503/eqix-33122xexhibit1012.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001101239/000162828022011503/eqix-33122xexhibit1013.htm
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Relocation Letter Agreement by and between Equinix, Inc.
and Charles Meyers dated October 12, 2018.

Change in Control Severance Agreement between Equinix,
Inc. and Mike Campbell dated October 3, 2019.

Change in Control Severance Agreement between Equinix,
Inc. and Brandi Galvin Morandi dated October 3, 2019.

Change in Control Severance Agreement between Equinix,
Inc. and Keith Taylor dated October 3, 2019.

Change in Control Severance Agreement between Equinix,
Inc and Jon Lin dated January 2, 2022.

Amendment to Relocation Letter Agreement by and between
%%nix, Inc. and Charles Meyers dated September 21,

Offer Letter between Equinix, Inc. and Adaire Fox-Martin,
dated as of March 7, 2024.

Form of Sewverance Agreement between Equinix, Inc. and
Adaire Fox-Martin.

Executive Chairman ef\dgreement between Equinix, Inc. and
Charles Meyers, dated as of March 7, 2024.

2024 Form of Revenue/AFFO per Share Performance
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Executives.

2024 Form of TSR Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Executives.

2024 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
for Executives.

2024 Form of Revenue/AFFO per Share Performance
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Charles Meyers.

2024 Form of TSR Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Charles Meyers.

2024 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
for Charles Meyers.

2024 Equinix, Inc. Annual Incentive Plan.

2024 Form of Revenue/AFFO per Share Performance
Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Merrie Williamson.

2024 Form of TSR Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for
Merrie Williamson.

2024 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement
for Merrie Williamson.

New Hire Time-Based Restricted Stock Agreement for Merrie
Williamson.

Special Advisor to the Board Agreement between Equinix,
Inc. and Peter Van Camp, dated March 7, 2024.
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104 Cover Page Interactive Data File - the cover page interactive data
file does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its
XBRL tags are embedded within the Inline XBRL document.

** Management contracts or compensation plans or arrangements in which directors or executive officers are eligible to participate.

(b) Exhibits.
See (a) (3) abowe.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule.
See (a) (2) abowe.

ITEM16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicable.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

EQUINIX INC.
(Registrant)

February 12, 2025 By /s/ ADAIRE FOXMARTIN

Adaire Fox-Martin
Chief Executive Officer and President

Power of Attorney

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Adaire Fox-Martin or
Keith D. Taylor, or either of them, each with the power of substitution, their attomey-in-fact, to sign any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K
(including post-effective amendments), and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attormeys-in-fact, or their substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
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Signature
/s/ ADAIRE FOX-MARTIN

Adaire Fox-Martin

/s/ KEITH D. TAYLOR

Keith D. Taylor
/s/ SIMON MILLER

Simon Miller

/s/ CHARLES MEYERS

Charles Meyers
/s/ NANCI CALDWELL

Nanci Caldwell
/sl GARY F. HROMADKO

Gary F. Hromadko
/s/ THOMAS OLINGER

Thomas Olinger

/s/ CHRISTOPHER B. PAISLEY

Christopher B. Paisley
/s/ JEETU PATEL

Jeetu Patel

/s/ SANDRA RIVERA

Sandra Rivera

/s/ FIDELMA RUSSO

Fidelma Russo

Title
Chief Executive Officer and President (Principal Executive Officer)

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

Chief Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting Officer)

Executive Chairman

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director
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Date
February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025

February 12, 2025
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Equinix, Inc.
Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We hawe audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Equinix, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and
December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of operations, of comprehensive income (loss), of stockholders' equity and other
comprehensive income (loss) and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes and
financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under ltem 15(a)(2) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). We
also hawe audited the Company's intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Intemal Control -
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Intemal Control - Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective interal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of intemal control over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting appearing under ltem 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company's consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
intemal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and
the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether
effective intemal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to emor or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a
test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the owerall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
Our audit of intemal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of interal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that
a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits
also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable
basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company's intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for exteral purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's intemnal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (i) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
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assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intemal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit
matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical
audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Revenue Recognition — Colocation and Interconnection Revenues

As described in Notes 1 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s total recurring revenues for the year ended December 31, 2024
were $8,184 million, of which a majority relates to $6,058 million of colocation revenues and $1,519 million of interconnection revenues. Colocation and
interconnection revenues are recurring revenue streams that are generally billed monthly and recognized ratably over the term of the contract. Revenues
are recognized when control of these products and senices is transferred to the Company’s customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration
management expects to be entitled to in exchange for the products and senvces.

The principal consideration for our determination that performing procedures relating to colocation and interconnection revenue recognition is a critical
audit matter is a high degree of auditor effort in performing procedures related to the Company’s revenue recognition.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to the revenue recognition process, including controls over
the input of customer data and the recording of revenue. These procedures also included, among others, (i) testing revenue recognized for a sample of
colocation and interconnection revenue transactions by obtaining and inspecting source documents, such as master senice agreements, inwices, cash
receipts and sales orders, and (i) confirming a sample of outstanding customer invoice balances as of December 31, 2024 and, for confirmations not
retumed, obtaining and inspecting source documents, such as invoices and subsequent cash receipts.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

San Jose, Califomia

February 12, 2025

We hawe sened as the Company's auditor since 2000.
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EQUINIX, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions, except share and per share data)

December 31,
2024 2023
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3081 $ 2,096
Short-term investments 527 —
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $19 and $17 949 1,004
Other current assets 890 468
Total current assets 5,447 3,568
Property, plant and equipment, net 19,249 18,601
Operating lease right-of-use assets 1,419 1,449
Goodwill 5,504 5,737
Intangible assets, net 1,417 1,705
Other assets 2,049 1,591
Total assets $ 35085 $ 32,651
Liabilities, Redeemable Non-Controlling Interest and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,193 $ 1,187
Accrued property, plant and equipment 387 398
Current portion of operating lease liabilities 144 131
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 189 138
Current portion of mortgage and loans payable 5 8
Current portion of senior notes 1,199 998
Other current liabilities 232 302
Total current liabilities 3,349 3,162
Operating lease liabilities, less current portion 1,331 1,331
Finance lease liabilities, less current portion 2,086 2,123
Mortgage and loans payable, less current portion 644 663
Senior notes, less current portion 13,363 12,062
Other liabilities 760 796
Total liabilities 21,533 20,137
Commitments and contingencies (Note 14)
Redeemable non-controlling interest 25 25
Common stockholders' equity (shares in thousands):
Common stock, $0.001 par value per share: 300,000 shares authorized; 97,390 issued and 97,287
outstanding in 2024 and 94,630 issued and 94,479 outstanding in 2023 — —
Additional paid-in capital 20,895 18,596
Treasury stock, at cost; 103 shares in 2024 and 151 shares in 2023 (39) (56)
Accumulated dividends (10,342) (8,695)
Accumulated other comprehensiwe loss (1,735) (1,290)
Retained eamings 4,749 3,934
Total common stockholders' equity 13,528 12,489
Non-controlling interests (1) —
Total stockholders' equity 13,527 12,489
Total liabilities, redeemable non-controlling interest and stockholders' equity $ 35085 $ 32,651

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQUINIX, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in millions, except share and per share data)

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Rewvenues $ 8,748 $ 8,188 $ 7,263
Costs and operating expenses:
Cost of revenues 4,467 4,228 3,751
Sales and marketing 891 855 787
General and administrative 1,766 1,654 1,499
Restructuring charges 31 — —
Transaction costs 50 13 22
Impairment charges 233 — —
(Gain) loss on asset sales (18) (5) 4
Total costs and operating expenses 7,420 6,745 6,063
Income from operations 1,328 1,443 1,200
Interest income 137 A4 36
Interest expense (457) (402) (356)
Other expense 17) (11) (51)
Loss on debt extinguishment (16) — —
Income before income taxes 975 1,124 829
Income tax expense (161) (155) (124)
Net income 814 969 705
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 1 — —
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 815 § 969 $ 705
Eamings per share ("EPS") attributable to common stockholders:
Basic EPS $ 854 § 1035 $ 7.69
Weighted-average shares for basic EPS (in thousands) 95,457 93,615 91,569
Diluted EPS $ 850 $ 1031 $ 7.67
Weighted-average shares for diluted EPS (in thousands) 95,827 94,009 91,828

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F4



Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(in millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Net income $ 814 $ %9 $ 705
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (‘CTA”) gain (loss), net of tax effects of $0, $0 and
(772) 250 (770)
Net investment hedge CTA gain (loss), net of tax effects of $6, $0 and $0 295 (132) 426
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges, net of tax effects of $(15), $5 and $2 32 (19) 40
Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (445) 99 (304)
Comprehensive income, net of tax 369 1,068 401
1 — —_
$ 370 $ 1,068 $ 401

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests
Comprehensive income attributable to common stockholders
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQUINIX, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)
For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2024
($ in millions except per share data; share data in thousands)

Common stock Treasury stock Additional Common Non- Total
Paid-in Accumulated AOCI Retained Stockholders' controlling Stockholders'
Shares Amount  Shares  Amount Capital Dividends (Loss) Earnings Equity Interests Equity

Balance as of Decenber 31, 2021 90873 § — (301) $ (112) $ 15985 $ (6165 $ (1,085) $ 2260 $ 10,883 $ — 3 10,883

Net income — — — — — — — 705 705 — 705

Other conprehensive loss — — — — — — (304) (304) — (304)

Issuance of conmon stock and

release of treasury stock for

enrployee equity awards 780 — 108 40 0 — — — 130 — 130

Issuance of conmmon stock under

ATMProgram 1,161 — — — 79 — — — 79% — 79%

Dividend distribution on conmon

stock, $12.40 per share — — — — — (1,137) — — (1,137) — (1,137)

Settlerrent of accrued dividends

on vested equity awards — — — — — (1) — — 1) — 1)

Accrued dividends on unvested

equity awards — — — — — (15) — — (15) — (15)

Stock-based conpensation, net

of estimated forfeitures — — — — 449 — — — 449 — 449
Balance as of Decenber 31, 2022 92,814 — (193) (72) 17,320 (7,318) (1,389) 2,965 11,506 — 11,506

Net income — — — — — — — 969 969 — 969

Other conprehensive income — — — — — — 99 — 99 — 99

Issuance of conmon stock and

release of treasury stock for

enployee equity awards 793 — 42 16 74 — — — 90 — 0

Issuance of common stock under

ATMProgram 1,023 — — — 734 — — — 734 — 734

Dividend distribution on conmmon

stock, $14.49 per share — — — — — (1,359) — — (1,359) — (1,359)

Settlerrent of accrued dividends

on vested equity awards — — — — — (1) — — (1) — (1)

Accrued dividends on unvested

equity awards — — — — — (17) — — (17) — 17)

Stock-based conpensation, net

of estimated forfeitures — — — — 468 — — — 468 — 468
Balance as of Decenber 31, 2023 4,630 — (151) (56) 18,596 (8,695) (1,290) 3,934 12,489 — 12,489
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EQUINIX INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders' Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Continued
For the Three Years Ended December 31, 2024
($ in millions except per share data; share data in thousands)

Net income

Other comprehensive loss
Issuance of conmon stock and
release of treasury stock for
enployee equity awards
Issuance of conmon stock under
ATMProgram

Dividend distribution on conmron
stock, $17.04 per share
Settlement of accrued dividends
on vested equity awards
Accrued dividends on unvested
equity awards

Stock-based ation, net
of estimated m
Contribution fromnon-controlling
interest

Balance as of Decenber 31, 2024

Common stock Treasury stock Additional Common Non- Total
Paidin  Accumulated AOCI Retained Stockholders' controlling Stockholders'
Shares Amount  Shares  Amount Capital Dividends (Loss) Earnings Equity Interests Equity

— — — — — — — 815 815 (1) 814

— — — — — — (445) — (445) — (445)

792 — 48 17 76 — — — 93 — 93
1,968 — — — 1,673 — — — 1,673 — 1,673
— — — — — (1,624) — — (1,624) — (1,624)

- - = = — @ — — @ — @
— — — — — (21) — — (21) — (21)

— — — — 546 — — — 546 — 546

— — — — 4 — — — 4 — 4
97,390 — (103) $ (39 $ 20895 $ (10342) $ (1,735 $ 4749 §$ 13528 $ 1 $ 13,527

See acconpanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQUINIX, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in millions)
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Cash flows fromoperating activities:
Net income $ 814 $ %9 $ 705
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 1,801 1,637 1,532
Stock-based conpensation 462 407 404
Anvrtization of intangible assets 208 208 205
Annortization of debt issuance costs and debt discounts and premiunms 20 19 18
Provision for credit loss allowance 21 15 7
Impairment charges 233 — —
(Gain) loss on asset sales (18) (5) 4
Loss on debt extinguishment 16 — —
Cther iterrs 32 44 63
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable 27 (150) (154)
Income taxes, net 9) 4 (8)
Other assets (445) (146) (52)
Operating lease right-of-use assets 150 139 149
Operating lease liabilities (153) (128) (133)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 95 161 114
Other liabilities (5 43 109
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,249 3,217 2,963
Cash flows frominvesting activities:
Rurchases of equity investrments (98) (136) (145)
Distributions fromequity investrments 11 — —
Sales of equity investments — — 22
Rurchases of short-terminvestments (520) — —
Business acquisitions, net of cash and restricted cash acquired — — (964)
Real estate acquisitions (337) (384) (248)
Rurchases of other property, plant and equipment (3,066) (2,781) (2,278)
Proceeds fromsale of assets, net of cash transferred 247 v 250
Settlerrent of foreign currency hedges 83 — —
Investrrent in loan receivable (261) — —
Loan receivable upfront fee 4 — —
Net cash used in investing activities (3,937) (3,224) (3,363)
Cash flows fromfinancing activities:
Proceeds fromenployee equity awards 91 87 82
Payment of dividends (1,643) (1,375) (1,152)
Proceeds frompublic offering of cormon stock, net of issuance costs 1,673 734 79%
Proceeds fromsenior notes, net of debt discounts 2,768 902 1,194
Proceeds fromnortgage and loans payable — — 677
Repayment of senior notes (1,000) — —
Repayments of finance lease liabilities (140) (149) (134)
Contribution from non-controlling interest 4 25 —
Repayments of mortgage and loans payable 7) (6) (588)
Debt issuance costs (23) (7) (18)
Net cash provided by financing activities 1,723 211 857
Hfect of foreign currency exchange rates on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (49) (16) (98)
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 986 188 359
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period 2,096 1,908 1,549
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period $ 3082 $ 20% $ 1,908
Supplemental cash flow informeation
Cash paid for taxes, net $ 185 $ 153 § 140
Cash paid for interest, net of ampunts capitalized $ 486 $ 45 $ 412
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3081 $ 20% $ 1,906
Current portion of restricted cash included in other current assets 1 — 2
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash shown in the consolidated staterrent of cash flows $ 3082 $ 20% $ 1,908

See acconpanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1. Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business

Equinix, Inc. ("Equinix," the "Company," "we," "our," or "us") was incorporated in Delaware on June 22, 1998. Equinix provides colocation space and
related offerings. Global enterprises, content providers, financial companies and network senice providers rely upon Equinix's insight and expertise to
safehouse and connect their most valued information assets. We operate Intemational Business Exchange™ ("IBX®") data centers, or IBX data centers,
across the Americas, Europe, Middle East and Africa ("EMEA") and Asia-Pacific geographic regions where customers directly interconnect with a
network ecosystem of partners and customers. More than 2,000 network senice providers offer access to the world's intemet routes inside our IBX data
centers. This access to intemet routes provides Equinix customers improved reliability and streamlined connectivity while significantly reducing costs by
reaching a critical mass of networks within a centralized physical location. We also invest in data center joint ventures or partnerships where we perform
a variety of senices described in Note 5. As of December 31, 2024, we controlled and operated 246 IBX data centers in 72 markets around the world.

We hawe been operating as a real estate investment trust for federal income tax purposes ("REIT") effective January 1, 2015. See "Income Taxes" in
Note 13 below for additional information.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with the accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America ("GAAP") and are presented in our reporting currency, the U.S. Dollar. The consolidated financial statements
include the accounts of Equinix and its subsidiaries, including the acquisitions of:

» Four data centers as well as a subsea cable and terrestrial fiber network in West Africa acquired from MainOne Cable Company ("MainOne")
from April 1, 2022; and

» Four data centers in Chile and a data center in Peru acquired from Empresa Nacional De Telecomunicaciones S.A. ("Entel") from May 2, 2022
and August 1, 2022, respectively.

All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Consolidation

We consolidate all entities that are wholly owned and those entities where we own less than 100% of the equity but we control the entity. We
consolidate all Variable Interest Entities (“VIEs”) for which we are the primary beneficiary. A VIE is an entity that either (i) has insufficient equity to permit
the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial support, or (ii) has equity investors who lack the power to direct activities that
most significantly impact the economic performance of the VIE, or (jii) has equity investors who lack the obligation to absorb the excepted losses or right
to receive the expected residual retums of the VIE, or (iv) substantially all activities involve an equity investor with disproportionately few wvoting rights. We
are considered the primary beneficiary of a VIE if we hawe (i) the power to direct activities that most significantly impact the economic performance of the
VIE and (i) the obligation to absorb losses or the right to receive benefits of the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE. When determining
whether we are the primary beneficiary of a VIE, we consider all relationships between us and the VIE, including management agreements and other
contractual arrangements.

For the entities that are not VIEs, we first assess whether the entity is similar to a corporation or a limited partnership. We consolidate entities that
are structured similar to corporations if we have a controlling financial interest (i.e. ownership of over 50% of the outstanding voting shares) unless the
control does not rest with us as a majority owner. We may also consolidate a less-than-majority-owned entity if we control the board of directors which
makes the significant decisions of the entity, we control the entity through contractual arrangements, or other shareholders do not have any substantive
participating rights. For the entities that are structured similar to limited partnerships, we consolidate if we are the general partner and the limited
partners do not hold substantive participating or kick-out rights that would preclude us from exercising the control over the entity.
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Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. On an ongoing basis, we
evaluate our estimates, including, but not limited to, those related to the allowance for credit losses, fair values of financial and derivative instruments,
intangible assets and goodwill, assets acquired and liabilities assumed from acquisitions, useful lives of intangible assets and property, plant and
equipment, leases, asset retirement obligations, other accruals, and income taxes. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various other
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

We consider all highly liquid instruments with an original maturity from the date of purchase of 3 months or less to be cash equivalents. Cash
equivalents generally consist of money market mutual funds and certificates of deposit with original maturities of 3 months or less. Short-term
investments generally consist of certificates of deposit with original maturities of between 3 months and 1 year. We review our investment portfolio
quarterly to determine if any securities may be other-than-temporarily impaired due to increased credit risk, changes in industry or sector of a certain
instrument or ratings downgrades.

Equity Method Investments

We use the equity method to account for our investments in entities for which we have the ability to exercise significant influence over their operating
and financial policies, but do not control them. These include our investments in VIEs where we are not the primary beneficiary, and certain investments
in other joint ventures or partnerships that are not VIEs.

Equity method investments are initially measured at cost, or at fair value when the investment represents a retained equity interest in a
deconsolidated business or derecognized distinct non-financial assets. Equity investments are subsequently adjusted for cash contributions,
distributions and our share of the income and losses of the investees. We record our equity method investments in other assets in the consolidated
balance sheet. Our proportionate shares of the income or loss from our equity method investments are recorded in other income (expense) in the
consolidated statement of operations. We use the cumulative eamings approach to determine whether distributions received from equity method
investees are retums on investment and classified as operating cash inflows or retumns of investment and reported as investing cash flows.

We review our investments quarterly to determine if any investments may be impaired considering both qualitative and quantitative factors that may
hawe a significant impact on the investees' fair value or the ability of the investee to sustain an eamings capacity that would justify the carrying amount of
the investment. We did not record any impairment charges related to our equity method investments for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and
2022. For further information on our equity method investments, see Note 5.

Non-marketable Equity Investments

We also hawe investments in non-marketable equity securities, where we do not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the investees.
We elected the measurement altemnative under which the securities are measured at cost less impairment, if any, and adjusted for changes resulting
from qualifying obsenvable price changes. We record non-marketable equity investments in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. The amounts
were insignificant as of December 31, 2024 and 2023.

We review our non-marketable equity investments quarterly to determine if any investments may be impaired considering both qualitative and
quantitative factors that may hawe a significant impact on the investees' fair value. We did not record any impairment charges related to our non-
marketable equity investments for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject us to concentrations of credit risk consist of cash and cash equivalents, short-term investments,
accounts receivable, contract assets and our loan receivable. Risks associated
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with cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments are mitigated by our investment policy, which limits our investing to only money market
funds, U.S. govemment agency and treasury notes, government sponsored enterprise and bank money instruments rated at least A-1/P-1 Short Term
Rating or A/A3 Long Term Rating, as determined by independent credit rating agencies. Credit risk from our accounts receivable and contract assets is
not considered concentrated since our customer base is widely dispersed across our three geographical regions with no single customer accounting for
a significant portion of our revenues.

The credit risk associated with our loan receivable is mitigated by the fair value of collateral securing the loan. We estimate expected credit losses
(“ECL”) by considering all awailable information relevant to assessing the collectibility of cash flows. In developing an estimate of ECL, we start with
historical credit loss experience of financial assets with similar risk characteristics and adjust the historical loss information to reflect asset-specific risk
characteristics as well as our expectation of current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at our original cost or initial fair value for property, plant and equipment acquired through business
combinations, net of depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the respective assets.
Buildings under finance leases, leasehold improvements and integral equipment at leased locations are amortized over the shorter of the lease term or
the estimated useful life of the asset or improvement.

We capitalize certain intemal and external costs associated with the development and purchase of intemal-use software in property, plant and
equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets. This includes costs incurred in cloud computing arrangements ("CCA"), where it is both feasible and
contractually permissible without significant penalty for us to take possession of the software. All other CCAs are considered senice contracts, and the
licensing and implementation costs incurred associated with such contracts are capitalized in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.
Capitalized intermal-use software costs and capitalized implementation costs are amortized on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
software or arrangements.

Our estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment are generally as follows:

Core systems 3 - 40 years
Buildings 12 - 60 years
Leasehold improvements 12 - 40 years
Personal Property 3 - 10 years
Capitalized intemal-use software 3 - Syears

Our construction in progress includes direct and indirect expenditures for the construction and expansion of IBX data centers and is stated at original
cost. We contract out substantially all of the construction and expansion efforts of our IBX data centers to independent contractors under construction
contracts. Construction in progress includes costs incurred under construction contracts including project management senices, engineering and
schematic design senices, design dewelopment, construction senices and other construction-related fees and senices. In addition, we capitalize
interest costs during the construction phase. Once an IBX data center or expansion project becomes operational, these capitalized costs are allocated
to certain property, plant and equipment categories and are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the underlying assets.

We review our property, plant and equipment for impairment together with lease right-of-use assets and finite-lived intangibles at the asset group
lewvel. Long-lived asset groups relating to our data centers are generally at the individual data center level. We reassess whether a change to our asset
groups is necessary when we experience a significant change in our operations or in the way we utilize long-lived assets that causes a change to the
interdependency of cash flows. We review asset groups for potential impairment whenewer events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset group may not be recoverable, such as a significant decrease in market price of an asset, a significant adverse change in the extent
or manner in which an asset or an asset group is being used or its physical condition, a significant adverse change in legal factors or business climate
that could affect the value of an asset or an asset group or a continuous deterioration of our financial condition. Recowerability of asset groups to be held
and used is assessed by comparing the carrying amount of an asset group to estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated
by the asset group. If the carrying
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amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized in the amount by which its
carrying amount exceeds its fair value. We recorded $166 million of impairment charges related to our property, plant and equipment during the year
ended December 31, 2024. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

We enter into non-cancellable lease arangements as the lessee primarily for our data center spaces, office spaces and equipment. Assets acquired
through finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets.

Assets Held for Sale

Assets and liabilities to be disposed of that meet all of the criteria to be classified as held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying amounts
or fair values less costs to sell. We did not record any impairment charges related to assets held for sale during the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022. Assets are not depreciated or amortized while they are classified as held for sale. We did not have any assets classified as held for sale
as of December 31, 2024 or 2023.

Asset Retirement Costs and Asset Retirement Obligations

Our asset retirement obligations are primarily related to our IBX data centers, of which the majority are leased under long-term arrangements and are
required to be retumed to the landlords in their original condition. The majority of our IBXdata center leases have been subject to significant development
by us in order to convert them from, in most cases, vacant buildings or warehouses into IBX data centers. The fair value of a liability for an asset
retirement obligation is recognized in the period in which it is incurred. The associated retirement costs are capitalized and included as part of the
carrying value of the long-lived asset and amortized over the useful life of the asset. Subsequent to the initial measurement, we accrete the liability in
relation to the asset retirement obligations over time and the accretion expense is recorded as a cost of revenue. For further information on our asset
retirement obligations, see Note 6.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We hawe three reportable segments comprised of the 1) Americas, 2) EMEA and 3) Asia-Pacific geographic regions, which we also determined are
our reporting units. Goodwill is not amortized and is tested for impairment at least annually or more often if and when circumstances indicate that
goodwill is not recoverable.

Generally, we assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its canmying
value. Qualitative factors considered in the assessment include industry and market conditions, owerall financial performance and other relevant events
and factors affecting the reporting unit. If, after assessing the qualitative factors, we determine that it is not more likely than not that the fair value of a
reporting unit is less than its carrying value, then performing a quantitative impairment test is unnecessary. However, if we conclude otherwise, then we
are required to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative impairment test, which is used to identify both the existence of
impairment and the amount of impairment loss, compares the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a
reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill of the reporting unit is not considered impaired. If the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, any excess of the reporting unit goodwill carrying value over the respective implied fair value is recognized as an impairment loss. In 2024, we
elected to bypass the optional qualitative assessment and performed the quantitative assessment for our Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific reporting
units. In 2023 and 2022, we performed qualitative assessments for our three reporting units.

As of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we concluded that it was more likely than not that goodwill attributed to our Americas, EMEA and Asia-
Pacific reporting units was not impaired as the fair value of each reporting unit exceeded the camrying value of its respective reporting unit, including
goodwill.

Substantially all of our intangible assets are subject to amortization and are amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated period of
benefit. As described above, we perform a review of all long-lived assets, including finite-ived intangible assets, at the asset group level for impairment by
assessing ewvents or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying amount of an asset group may not be recowerable. Recowerability of asset
groups to be held and used is assessed by comparing the carying amount of an asset group to estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset
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group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the amount by which its camying amount exceeds
its fair value. We recorded $29 million of impairment charges related to our finite-lived intangible assets during the year ended December 31, 2024. No
impairment was recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. For further information on goodwill and other intangible assets, see
Notes 3 and 6.

Debt Issuance Costs

Costs and fees incurred upon debt issuances are capitalized and are amortized over the life of the related debt based on the effective interest
method. Such amortization is included as a component of interest expense. Debt issuance costs related to outstanding debt are presented as a
reduction of the carrying amount of the debt obligation and debt issuance costs related to the revolving credit facility are presented as other assets. For
further information on debt facilities, see Note 10 below.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We utilize foreign currency and interest rate derivative instruments as part of our risk management strategy. Foreign currency derivatives help to
mitigate the effects of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on (i) our expected revenues and expenses in the EMEA region, (i) investments in our foreign
operations and (jii) certain monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. Interest rate derivatives are used to manage the interest
rate risk associated with anticipated fixed-rate debt issuances.

These measures allow us to effectively control our financial exposure and are not used for speculative purposes. We recognize all derivatives on our
consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The accounting for changes in the value of a derivative depends on whether the contract qualifies and has been
designated for hedge accounting. In order to qualify for hedge accounting, a derivative must be considered highly effective at reducing the risk associated
with the exposure being hedged and there must be documentation of the risk management objective and strategy, including identification of the hedging
instrument, the hedged item and the risk exposure, and the effectiveness assessment methodology. Hedge designations are reviewed on a quarterly
basis to assess whether circumstances have changed that would disrupt the hedging instrument's relationship to the forecasted transactions or net
investment.

Cash Flow Hedges

The instruments we designate as cash flow hedges include foreign currency forwards, cross-currency swaps and interest rate locks. For cash flow
hedges, we use a regression analysis at the time they are designated to assess their effectiveness.

We enter into intercompany foreign currency forward contracts ("intercompany derivatives") with our wholly-owned subsidiaries in our EMEA region in
order to hedge certain forecasted revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar (primarily the British Pound and the
Euro). Simultaneously, we enter into foreign currency forward contracts with unrelated third parties to extemally hedge the net exposure created by such
intercompany derivatives. We designate the intercompany derivatives as cash flow hedges. We use the forward method to assess effectiveness of
qualifying foreign currency forwards that are designated as cash flow hedges, whereby the change in the fair value of the derivative is recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) and reclassified to the same line item in the consolidated statement of operations that is used to present the eamings
effect of the hedged item when the hedged item affects eamings.

We also utilize cross-currency interest rate swaps, which we designate as cash flow hedges, to manage the foreign currency exposure associated
with a portion of our foreign currency-denominated variable-rate debt and our U.S. dollar-denominated fixed-rate debt issued by our foreign subsidiaries.
We assess the effectiveness of cross-currency interest rate swaps that are designated as cash flow hedges using the spot method. Fair value changes
from spot rates are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) initially and immediately reclassified to eamings to offset the gain or loss from
remeasuring the associated debt. We exclude time value and cross currency basis spread from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognize
the excluded component in interest expense through the swap accrual process. The difference between fair value changes of the excluded component
and the amount amortized is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).
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We use interest rate derivative instruments such as treasury locks and swap locks, collectively referred to as "interest rate locks", to manage
interest rate exposure created by anticipated fixed-rate debt issuances. An interest rate lock is a synthetic forward sale of a benchmark interest rate,
which is settled in cash based upon the difference between an agreed upon rate at inception and the prevailing benchmark rate at settlement. It
effectively fixes the benchmark rate component of an upcoming debt issuance. The interest rate lock transactions are designated as cash flow hedges,
with all changes in value recorded in other comprehensive income (loss). Subsequent to settlement, amounts in other comprehensive income (loss) are
amortized to interest expense over the term of the interest rate locks.

When two or more derivative instruments in combination are jointly designated as a cash flow hedging instrument, they are treated as a single
instrument. For hedge relationships that are discontinued because the forecasted transaction is not expected to occur according to the original strategy,
any related derivative amounts recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) are immediately recognized in eamings.

We classify cash flows from derivative instruments designated as cash flow hedges in the same category as the cash flows from the item being
hedged.

Net Investment Hedges

We use cross-currency swaps, which we designate as net investment hedges, to hedge the currency exposure associated with our net investment
in our foreign subsidiaries. We use the spot method to assess effectiveness of cross-currency interest rate swaps that are designated as net investment
hedges, whereby the change in fair value due to foreign currency exchange spot rates is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and the change
in fair value of the excluded component is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss) and amortized to interest expense through the swap accrual
process.

Occasionally, we also use foreign exchange forward contracts, which we designate as net investment hedges, to hedge against the effect of foreign
exchange rate fluctuations on a portion of our net investment in foreign subsidiaries. We use the spot method to assess hedge effectiveness and
recognize fair value changes from spot rates in other comprehensive income (loss). We exclude forward points from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness and amortize the initial value of the excluded component through interest expense. The difference between fair value changes from the
excluded component and the amount amortized is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Certain of our customer agreements that are priced in curencies different from the functional or local currencies of the parties involved are deemed to
hawe foreign currency forward contracts embedded in them. These embedded derivatives are separated from their host contracts and carried on our
balance sheet at their fair value. The majority of these embedded derivatives arise as a result of our foreign subsidiaries pricing their customer contracts
in U.S. Dollars. We use these forward contracts embedded within our customer agreements to hedge against the effect of foreign exchange rate
fluctuations on our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries.

Non-designated Hedges

Foreign currency gains or losses associated with derivatives that are not designated as hedging instruments for accounting purposes are recorded
within other income (expense) in our consolidated statements of operations.

For further information on derivatives and hedging activities, see Note 7.
Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of our cash equivalents held in money market funds and the carrying value of our derivative instruments represent their fair
values. The carrying values of our cash equivalents held in time deposits and the carrying values of our accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued
expenses and accrued property, plant and equipment approximate their fair values primarily due to the short-term maturity of the related instruments.
The fair value of short-term investments held in time deposits is estimated by considering obsenable market prices of similar instruments. The fair value
of our debt traded in the public debt market is based on quoted market prices. The fair value of our debt which is not publicly traded is estimated by
considering our credit rating, current rates available to us for debt of the same remaining maturities and terms. The fair value of our loan receivable is
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estimated by discounting the contractual cash flows of the loan, using indicative pricing from third parties for similar instruments and asset-specific yield
adjustments for elements such as credit risk.

Fair Value of Non-Financial Assets and Liabilities

We also follow the accounting standard for the measurement of fair value for certain non-financial assets and liabilities on a nonrecuring basis.
These include:

* Non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities initially measured at fair value in a business combination or other new basis ewvent, but not
measured at fair value in subsequent reporting periods;

* Reporting units and non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities measured at fair value for goodwill impairment tests;
+ Indefinite-lived intangible assets measured at fair value for impairment assessments;

* Non-financial long-lived assets or asset groups measured at fair value for impairment assessments or disposal;

»  Asset retirement obligations initially measured at fair value but not subsequently measured at fair value; and

+ Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale measured at fair value less costs to sell and reported at the lower of the carrying amounts or the
fair values less costs to sell.

For further information on fair value measurements, see Note 8.
Leases

We enter into lease arrangements primarily for land, data center spaces, office spaces and equipment. At its inception, we determine whether an
arrangement is or contains a lease. We recognize a right-of-use ("ROU") asset and lease liability on the consolidated balance sheet for all leases with a
term longer than 12 months, including renewal options that we are reasonably certain to exercise.

ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease payments
arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are classified and recognized at the commencement date. When there is a lease modification or
a change in lease term triggered by a reassessment event, we reassess its classification and remeasure the ROU asset and lease liability.

Lease liabilities are measured based on the present value of fixed lease payments ower the lease term. ROU assets consist of (i) initial
measurement of the lease liability, (ii) lease payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received and
(iii) initial direct costs incurred by us. Lease payments may vary because of changes in facts or circumstances occuring after the commencement,
including changes in inflation indices. Variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate (such as the Consumer Price Index or a market
interest rate) are included in the measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities using the index or rate at the commencement date. Subsequent
changes to lease payments based on changes to the index and rate are accounted for as variable lease payments and recognized in the period they are
incurred. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are excluded from the measurement of ROU assets and lease liabilities and
are recognized in the period in which the obligation for those payments is incurred. Since most of our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use our
own incremental borrowing rate ("IBR") on a collateralized basis in determining the present value of lease payments. We utilize a market-based approach
to estimate the IBR. The approach requires significant judgment. Therefore, we utilize different data sets to estimate IBRs via an analysis of (i) sovereign
rates, (i) yields on our outstanding public debt and (iii) indicative pricing on both secured and unsecured debt received from banking partners. We also
apply adjustments to account for considerations related to (i) tenor and (ii) country credit ratings that may not be fully incorporated by the
aforementioned data sets.

The majority of our lease arrangements include options to extend the lease. If we are reasonably certain to exercise such options, the periods
cowered by the options are included in the lease term. The depreciable lives of certain fixed assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the
expected lease term. We hawe certain leases with a term of 12 months or less. For such leases, we elected not to recognize any ROU asset or lease
liability on the consolidated balance sheet. We hawe lease agreements with lease and non-lease components. We elected to account for the lease and
non-lease components as a single lease component for all classes of underlying assets for which we hawe identified as lease arrangements.
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As described abowe, we perform a review of all long-lived assets, including ROU assets, at the asset group level for impairment by assessing events
or changes in circumstances that indicate the camrying amount of an asset group may not be recowerable. Recowerability of asset groups to be held and
used is assessed by comparing the carrying amount of an asset group to estimated undiscounted future net cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset group. If the carrying amount of the asset group exceeds its estimated undiscounted future cash flows, an impairment charge is recognized by the
amount by which its camying amount exceeds its fair value. We recorded $38 million of impairment charges related to our operating lease ROU assets
during the year ended December 31, 2024. No impairment charges were recorded during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. For further
information on leases, see Note 9.

Revenue
Revenue Recognition

We derive more than 90% of our revenues from recumming revenue streams, consisting primarily of (1) colocation, which includes the licensing of
cabinet space and power; (2) interconnection offerings; (3) managed infrastructure solutions and (4) other revenues consisting of rental income from
tenants or subtenants. The remainder of our revenues are from non-recurring revenue streams, such as installation revenues, professional senice fees
including from our joint ventures, contract settlements and equipment sales. Revenues by product lines and geographic regions are included in segment
information in Note 18.

Revenues are recognized when control of these products and senices is transferred to its customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration it
expects to be entitled to in exchange for the products and senices. Rewvenues from recuring revenue streams are generally billed monthly and
recognized ratably over the term of the contract, generally 1 to 5 years for IBX data center colocation customers. Non-recurring installation fees, although
generally paid upfront upon installation, are deferred and recognized ratably over the contract term. Professional senice fees and equipment sales are
recognized in the period when the senices were provided. For the contracts with customers that contain multiple performance obligations, we account for
individual performance obligations separately if they are distinct or as a series of distinct obligations if the individual performance obligations meet the
series criteria. Determining whether products and senices are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately
versus together may require significant judgment. The transaction price is allocated to the separate performance obligation on a relative standalone
selling price basis. The standalone selling price is determined based on owerall pricing objectives, taking into consideration market conditions,
geographic locations and other factors. Other judgments include determining if any variable consideration should be included in the total contract value of
the arrangement such as price increases.

Revenue is generally recognized on a gross basis as a principal versus on a net basis as an agent, as we are primarily responsible for fulfilling the
contract, bear inventory risk and have discretion in establishing the price when selling to the customer. To the extent we do not meet the criteria for
recognizing revenue on a gross basis, we record the revenue on a net basis. Revenue from contract settlements, when a customer wishes to terminate
their contract early, is treated as a contract modification and recognized ratably over the remaining term of the contract, if any.

We guarantee certain senice lewels, such as uptime, as outlined in individual customer contracts. If these senice lewels are not achieved due to any
failure of the physical infrastructure or offerings, or in the event of certain instances of damage to customer infrastructure within our IBX data centers, we
would reduce revenue for any credits or cash payments given to the customer. Historically, these credits and cash payments have not been significant.

We enter into revenue contracts with customers for data centers and office space that contain both lease and non-lease components. We elected to
adopt the practical expedient which allows lessors to combine lease and non-lease components, by underlying class of asset, and account for them as
one component if they have the same timing and pattem of transfer. The combined component is accounted for in accordance with the current lease
accounting guidance ("Topic 842") if the lease component is predominant, and in accordance with the current revenue accounting guidance ("Topic 606")
if the non-lease component is predominant. In general, customer contracts for data centers are accounted for under Topic 606 and customer contracts
for the use of office space are accounted for under Topic 842, which are generally classified as operating leases and are recognized on a straight-line
basis over the lease term.
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As part of our ongoing involvement in our xScale™ joint venture equity method investments, we enter into certain contracts with these ventures to
provide our data center expertise in exchange for professional senice fee revenue. Such senices include development and construction management,
sales and marketing, facilities management, asset management and procurement. In general, the revenue is recognized as the senices are performed.
Rewenue for certain senices, such as sales and marketing, are recognized at a point in time. In addition, the revenue for the sales and marketing fees
may be recognized seweral years in advance of payment from the xScale joint ventures, as payment is often tied to deployment of the customer.

Certain customer agreements are denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of the parties involved. Under applicable accounting
rules, we are deemed to hawe foreign currency forward contracts embedded in these contracts. We assessed these embedded contracts and concluded
them to be foreign currency embedded derivatives (see Note 7). These instruments are separated from their host contracts and held on our consolidated
balance sheet at their fair value. The majority of these foreign curency embedded derivatives arise in certain of our subsidiaries where the local currency
is the subsidiary's functional currency and the customer contract is denominated in the U.S. dollar. For certain contracts, we use these forward
contracts embedded within our customer agreements to hedge against the effect of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our net investment in our
foreign subsidiaries. Please see Note 7 for further discussion of these hedges. For all other customer contracts containing embedded derivatives,
changes in their fair values are recognized within revenues in our consolidated statements of operations.

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections result in accounts receivables, contract assets and deferred revenues. A receivable is
recorded at the inwice amount, net of an allowance for credit losses and is recognized in the period when we hawe transferred products or provided
senices to our customers and when its right to consideration is unconditional. Payment terms and conditions vary by contract type, although terms
generally include a requirement of payment within 30 to 45 days. In instances where the timing of revenue recognition differs from the timing of inwoicing,
we hawe determined that our contracts generally do not include a significant financing component. We assess collectability based on a number of
factors, including past transaction history with the customer and the credit-worthiness of the customer. We generally do not request collateral from our
customers although in certain cases we obtain a security interest in a customer's equipment placed in our IBXdata centers or obtain a deposit. We also
maintain an allowance for estimated losses on a lifetime loss basis resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments for which we
had expected to collect the revenues in accordance with the credit loss guidance accounting guidance ("Topic 326"). If the financial condition of our
customers were to deteriorate or if they became insolvent, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, greater allowances for credit
losses may be required. We specifically analyze current economic news, conditions and trends, historical loss rates, customer concentrations,
customer credit-worthiness, changes in customer payment terms and any applicable long-term forecast when evaluating revenue recognition and the
adequacy of our resenes for our accounts receivable. Any amounts that were previously recognized as revenue and subsequently determined to be
uncollectible are charged to bad debt expense included in sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statements of operations. A specific bad
debt resene of up to the full amount of a particular inwice value is provided for certain problematic customer balances. An additional resene is
established for all other accounts based on an analysis of historical credits issued. Delinquent account balances are written off after management has
determined that the likelihood of collection is not probable.

A contract asset exists when we hawe transferred products or provided senices to our customers but customer payment is conditioned on reasons
other than the passage of time, such as upon the satisfaction of additional performance obligations. Certain contracts include terms related to price
arrangements such as price increases and free months. We recognize revenues ratably over the contract term, which could potentially give rise to
contract assets during certain periods of the contract term. Contract assets are recorded in other current assets and other assets in the consolidated
balance sheet.

Deferred revenue (a contract liability) is recognized when we have an unconditional right to a payment before we transfer the products or senices to
customers. Deferred revenue is included in other current liabilities and other liabilities, respectively, in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Contract Costs

Direct and indirect incremental costs solely related to obtaining revenue contracts are capitalized as costs of obtaining a contract, when they are
incremental and if they are expected to be recovered. Such costs consist primarily of commission fees and sales bonuses, as well as indirect related
payroll costs. In 2024, contract costs were amortized over the estimated period of approximately 7 years on a straight-line basis. We elected to apply
the practical expedient which allows us to expense contract costs when incurred, if the amortization period is one year or less.

For further information on revenue recognition, see Note 2 below.
Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on
the future tax consequences attributable to differences that exist between the financial statement camrying amounts of assets and liabilities and their
respective tax bases, as well as tax attributes such as net operating loss, capital loss and tax credits carryforwards on a taxing jurisdiction basis.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the year in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled, and the tax attributes to be utilized. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in
tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are established when necessary to reduce
deferred tax assets to the amounts that are expected more likely than not to be realized in the future. A tax benefit from an uncertain income tax
position may be recognized in the financial statements only if it is more likely than not that the position is sustainable, based solely on its technical
merits and consideration of the relevant taxing authority's widely understood administrative practices and precedents. Recognized income tax positions
are measured at the largest amount that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized. Any subsequent changes in recognition or
measurement are reflected in the period in which the change in judgment occurs.

We elected to be taxed as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning with our 2015 taxable year. As a result, we may deduct the
dividends distributed to our stockholders from taxable income generated by us and that of our qualified REIT subsidiaries ("QRSs"). Our dividends paid
deduction generally eliminates the U.S. federal taxable income of our REIT and QRSs, resulting in no U.S. federal income tax due. Howewer, our
domestic taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs") are subject to the U.S. corporate income taxes on any taxable income generated by them. In addition, our
foreign operations are subject to local income taxes regardless of whether the foreign operations are operated as QRSs or TRSs for U.S. income tax
purposes.

Our qualification and taxation as a REIT depend on our satisfaction of certain asset, income, organizational, distribution, stockholder ownership and
other requirements on a continuing basis. Our ability to satisfy quarterly asset tests depends upon our analysis and the fair market values of our REIT
and non-REIT assets. For purposes of the quarterly REIT asset tests, we estimate the fair market value of assets within our QRSs and TRSs using a
discounted cash flow approach, by calculating the present value of forecasted future cash flows. We apply discount rates based on industry benchmarks
relative to the market and forecasting risks. Other significant assumptions used to estimate the fair market value of assets in QRSs and TRSs include
projected revenue growth, projected operating margins, and projected capital expenditures.

For further information on income taxes, see Note 13 below.
Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation cost is measured at the grant date for all stock-based awards made to employees and directors based on the fair value
of the award. We generally recognize stock-based compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite senice period of the awards, which
is generally the vesting period. However, for awards with market conditions or performance conditions, stock-based compensation expense is recognized
on a straight-line basis ower the requisite senice period for each westing tranche of the award. We elected to estimate forfeitures based on
historical forfeiture rates.

We grant restricted stock units ("RSUs") or restricted stock awards ("RSAs") to our employees and these equity awards generally have only a
senice condition. We grant RSUs to our executives that generally have a senice and performance condition or a senice and market condition.
Performance conditions contained in an equity award are
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generally tied to our financial performance. We assess the probability of meeting these performance conditions on a quarterly basis. The majority of our
RSUs west ower four years, although certain equity awards for executives vest over a range of two to four years. Our RSAs west ower three years. The
valuation of RSUs and RSAs with only a senice condition or a senice and performance condition requires no significant assumptions as the fair value for
these types of equity awards is based solely on our stock price on the date of grant. We use a Monte Carlo simulation option-pricing model to determine
the fair value of RSUs with a senice and market condition.

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of our employee stock purchase plan ("ESPP"). The determination of the
fair value of shares purchased under the ESPP is affected by assumptions regarding a number of complex and subjective variables including our
expected stock price wolatility over the term of the awards and actual and projected employee stock purchase behaviors. We estimated the expected
wolatility by using the average historical volatility of its common stock that it believed was best representative of future volatility. The risk-free interest rate
used was based on U.S. Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining terms similar to the expected term of the equity awards. The expected dividend
rate used was based on awerage dividend yields and the expected term used was equal to the term of each purchase window.

The accounting standard for stock-based compensation does not allow the recognition of unrealized tax benefits associated with the tax deductions
in excess of the compensation recorded (excess tax benefit) until the excess tax benefit is realized (i.e., reduces taxes payable). We record the excess
tax benefits from stock-based compensation as income tax expense through the statement of operations. For further information on stock-based
compensation, see Note 12 below.

Foreign Currency Transactions

Foreign exchange gains or losses resulting from foreign currency transactions, including intercompany foreign currency transactions that are
anticipated to be repaid within the foreseeable future, are reported within other income (expense) on our accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. For additional information on the impact of foreign currencies to our consolidated financial statements, see "Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss" in Note 11.

The financial position of foreign subsidiaries is translated using the exchange rates in effect at the end of the period, while income and expense
items are translated at average exchange rates during the period. Gains or losses from translation of foreign operations where the local currency is the
functional currency are included as other comprehensive income (loss). The net gains and losses resulting from foreign currency transactions are
recorded in net income in the period incurred and recorded within other income (expense). Certain intercompany balances are designated as loans of a
long-term investment-type nature. Accordingly, exchange gains and losses associated with these long-term intercompany balances are recorded as a
component of other comprehensive income (loss), along with translation adjustments.

Earnings Per Share

We compute basic and diluted EPS for net income. Basic EPS is computed using net income and the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed using net income and the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding plus any dilutive potential
common shares outstanding. Dilutive potential common shares include the assumed vesting and issuance activity of employee equity awards using the
treasury stock method. For further information on eamings per share, see Note 4 below.

Treasury Stock

We account for treasury stock under the cost method. When treasury stock is re-issued at a higher price than its cost, the difference is recorded as
a component of additional paid-in capital to the extent that there are gains to offset the losses. If there are no treasury stock gains in additional paid-in
capital, the losses are recorded as a component of retained eamings.

Changes to Prior Period

We conwerted the presentation of disclosures from thousands to millions in the first quarter of 2024. Certain rounding adjustments have been made
to prior period disclosed amounts.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Accounting Standards Not Yet Adopted

In November 2024, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2024-03: Disaggregation of
Income Statement Expenses ("DISE"). The ASU requires additional disclosure of the nature of expenses included in the income statement. The ASU is
effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2026 and interim reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2027. The
requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. We are currently evaluating the extent
of the impact of this ASU on disclosures in our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes ("Topic 740"): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures. This ASU is intended to
enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures by requiring (i) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of
information in the rate reconciliation and (jii) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2024. The requirements will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. Early adoption is permitted. We are
currently evaluating the extent of the impact of this ASU on disclosures in our consolidated financial statements.

Accounting Standards Recently Adopted
Segment Reporting

In November 2023, FASB issued ASU 2023-07, Segment Reporting (“Topic 280"): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosure. The ASU is
intended to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant segment expenses. The ASU
is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2024, with early
adoption permitted and retrospective adoption required. We adopted this ASU for the 2024 annual reporting period. Refer to Note 18 for disclosures
required by this ASU.

Supplier Finance Programs

In September 2022, FASB issued ASU 2022-04, "Liabilities-Supplier Finance Programs (Subtopic 405-50): Disclosure of Supplier Finance Program
Obligations". This guidance requires annual and interim disclosures for entities that use supplier finance programs in connection with the purchase of
goods and senices. The ASU is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted, except for the amendment on
roll forward information, which is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023. On January 1, 2023, we adopted this ASU and the adoption
of this standard did not have an impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Reference Rate Reform

In March 2020, FASB issued ASU 2020-04, Reference Rate Reform ("Topic 848"): Facilitation of the Effects of Reference Rate Reform on Financial
Reporting. In addition, FASB issued ASU 2021-01, Reference Rate Reform ("Topic 848"), which clarifies the scope of Topic 848. Collectiwely, the
guidance provdes optional expedients and exceptions for applying GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by
reference rate reform if certain criteria are met. ASU 2021-01 is effective upon issuance and ASU 2020-04 was effective for all entities as of March 12,
2020, and together remained effective through December 31, 2022. In December 2022, FASB issued ASU 2022-06, Reference Rate Reform ("Topic
848"): Deferral of the Sunset Date of Topic 848. Because the current relief in Topic 848 may not cover a period of time during which a significant number
of modifications may take place, the amendments in this Update defer the sunset date of Topic 848 from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2024,
after which entities will no longer be pemmitted to apply the relief in Topic 848. We adopted these ASUs upon their respective issuances and there was
no impact on our consolidated financial statements as a result of adopting the guidance. We will evaluate our debt, derivative and lease contracts that
may become eligible for modification relief and may apply the elections prospectively as needed.
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Debt with Conversion and Other Options

In August 2020, FASB issued ASU 2020-06: Debt-Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic 470-20) and Derivatives and Hedging-Contracts
in Entity’s Own Equity (Subtopic 81540). The ASU simplifies the accounting for convertible instruments by reducing the number of accounting models
for convertible debt instruments and conwvertible preferred stock and modifies the disclosure requirement for the convertible instruments. Additionally, this
ASU improwes the consistency of EPS calculations by eliminating the use of the treasury stock method to calculate diluted EPS for conwertible
instruments and clarifies certain areas under the current EPS guidance. The ASU is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2021, with early adoption permitted at the beginning of the fiscal year after December 15, 2020. On January 1,
2022, we adopted this ASU on a prospective basis and the adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

Business Combinations

In October 2021, FASB issued ASU 2021-08 Business Combinations ("Topic 805"): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers. The ASU requires contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured
by the acquirer on the acquisition date in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, as if it had originated the contracts. Under
the current business combinations guidance, such assets and liabilities were recognized by the acquirer at fair value on the acquisition date. The ASU is
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. On April 1,
2022, we early adopted this ASU and the adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

2. Revenue
Contract Balances

The following table summarizes the opening and closing balances of our accounts receivable, net; contract assets, current; contract assets, non-
current; deferred revenue, current; and deferred revenue, non-current (in millions):

Accounts Contract assets, Contract assets, Deferred rev%ersﬁgiccl)n-
receivable, net () current non-current revenue, current current
Beginning balances as of January 1, 2024 $ 1,04 $ 52 § 86 $ 125 $ 154
Closing balances as of December 31, 2024 949 102 113 123 150
Increase (Decrease) $ (55) $ 5 $ 27 $ 2 $ 4
Beginning balances as of January 1, 2023 $ 855 §$ 28 $ 55 §$ 132 $ 155
Closing balances as of December 31, 2023 1,004 52 86 125 154
Increase (Decrease) $ 149 § 24 % 31 $ @ $ (1)

() The net change in our allowance for credit losses was insignificant during the year ended December 31, 2024.

The difference between the opening and closing balances of our accounts receivable, net, contract assets and deferred revenues primarily results
from revenue growth and the timing difference between the satisfaction of our performance obligation and the customer's payment during the years ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023. The amounts of revenue recognized during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 from the opening deferred
revenue balance were $88 million, $95 million and $83 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, no impairment loss
related to contract balances was recognized in the consolidated statement of operations.

Contract Costs

The ending balances of net capitalized contract costs as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were $436 million and $423 million, respectively, which
were included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheet. $122 million, $103
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million, and $96 million of contract costs were amortized during years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectiwely, which were included in
sales and marketing expense in the consolidated statement of operations.

Remaining Performance Obligations

As of December 31, 2024, approximately $11.0 billion of total revenues, including deferred installation revenues, are expected to be recognized in
future periods. Most of our revenue contracts hawe an initial term varying from one to five years, and thereafter, automatically renew in one-year
increments. Included in the remaining performance obligations are contracts that are either under the initial term or under one-year renewal periods. We
expect to recognize approximately 70% of our remaining performance obligations as revenues over the next two years, with more revenues expected to
be recognized in the first year due to the impact of contract renewals. The remainder of the balance is generally expected to be recognized over the next
three to five years. We estimate our remaining performance obligations at a point in time. Actual amounts and timing of revenue recognition may differ
from these estimates due to changes in actual deployments dates, contract modifications, renewals and/or terminations.

The remaining performance obligations do not include variable consideration related to unsatisfied performance obligations such as the usage of
metered power, senice fees from xScale data centers that are based on future events or actual costs incurred in the future, or any contracts that could
be terminated without any significant penalties including the majority of interconnection revenues. The remaining performance obligations above include
revenues to be recognized in the future related to arrangements where we are considered the lessor.

3. Acquisitions
Pending Acquisition
Acquisition of TIM Data Centers (the "TIM Acquisition")

On July 20, 2024, we entered into an agreement to acquire three data centers in the Philippines from Total Information Management (“TIM”), a
leading technology solutions provider in the market, for a stated purchase price of $180 million subject to certain adjustments. The acquisition is
expected to close in the first half of 2025, subject to customary closing conditions. Upon the close of the acquisition, the operating results of the
acquired business will be reported in the Asia-Pacific region. The TIM Acquisition supports our ongoing expansion to meet customer demand in the
owerall Asia market.

2022 Acquisitions
Acaquisition of Entel Chile Data Centers (the "Entel Chile Acquisition") and Entel Peru Data Center (the "Entel Peru Acquisition”)

On May 2, 2022, we further expanded in Latin America through an acquisition of four data centers in Chile from Entel, a leading Chilean
telecommunications provder, for a total purchase consideration of $638 million at the exchange rate in effect on that date. On August 1, 2022, we
completed the acquisition of a data center in Peru from Entel for a total purchase consideration of $80 million at the exchange rate in effect on that date.
The Entel Chile Acquisition and Entel Peru Acquisition support our ongoing expansion to meet customer demand in the Latin American market.

Acquisition of MainOne (the "MainOne Acquisition")

On April 1, 2022, we completed the acquisition of all outstanding shares of MainOne, which consisted of four data centers as well as a subsea cable
and terrestrial fiber network. We acquired MainOne and its assets for a total purchase consideration of $278 million. The MainOne Acquisition supports
our ongoing expansion to meet customer demand in the West African market.

Purchase Price Allocation

Each of the acquisitions noted abowe constitute a business under the accounting standard for business combinations and, therefore, were accounted
for as business combinations using the acquisition method of accounting. Under this method, the total purchase price is allocated to the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed measured at fair value on the date of acquisition, except where altemative measurement is required under GAAP.
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During the year ended December 31, 2023, we completed the detailed valuation analysis and the final allocation of purchase price for the Entel Chile,
Entel Peru, and MainOne Acquisitions.

A summary of the final allocation of total purchase consideration is presented as follows (in millions):

Entel Chile Entel Peru MainOne

Cash and cash equivalents $ — $ — $ 33
Accounts receivable — — 9
Other current assets 12 — 22
Property, plant and equipment 81 13 239
Intangible assets 153 10 55
Goodwill 381 46 111
Deferred tax and other assets 12 11 6

Total assets acquired 639 80 475
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities — — (19)
Other current liabilities (1) — — (13)
Mortgage and loans payable — — (26)
Deferred tax and other liabilities (1) (1) — (139)

Net assets acquired $ 638 $ 80 $ 278

™ For the MainOne Acquisition, other current liabilities includes $10 million of deferred revenue, current and deferred tax and other liabilities includes $95
million of deferred revenue, non-current.

Property, plant and equipment

The fair values of property, plant and equipment acquired from these three acquisitions were estimated by applying the cost approach, with the
exception of land, which we estimated by applying the market approach. The key assumptions of the cost approach include replacement cost new,
physical deterioration, functional and economic obsolescence, economic useful life, remaining useful life, age and effective age.

Intangible assets

The following table presents certain information on the acquired intangible assets (in millions):

. Weighted-average
Estimated Useful Estimated Useful Lives

Intangible Assets Fair Value Lives (Years) (Years) Discount Rate
Entel Chile:

Customer relationships (1) $ 153 12.0-15.0 14.0 8.5% - 9.5%
Entel Peru:

Customer relationships (1) 10 15.0 15.0 7.0 %
MainOne:

Customer relationships (1) 52 10.0-15.0 14.0 1.5 %

Trade names @ 3 5.0 5.0 11.5 %

™ The fair value was estimated by calculating the present value of estimated future operating cash flows generated from exsting customers less costs to
realize the revenue and/or by using benchmarking. The rates reflect the nature of the assets as they relate to the risk and uncertainty of the estimated future
operating cash flows, as well as the risk of the country within which the acquired business operates.

@ Tpe faé}r value of the MainOne frade name was estimated using the relief from royalty method under the income approach. We applied a relief from royalty rate
of 1.0%.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
Goodwill is primarily attributable to the workforce of the acquired business
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and the projected revenue increase expected to arise from future customers after the acquisition. Goodwill from the Entel Chile and Entel Peru
acquisitions is attributable to the Americas region. Goodwill from the Entel Chile acquisition is amortizable for local tax purposes, while goodwill from the
Entel Peru acquisition is not expected to be amortizable for local tax purposes. Goodwill from the MainOne Acquisition is attributable to the EMEA
region and is generally not deductible for local tax purposes.

Revenues and net income from operations

The operating results of the Entel Peru and Entel Chile acquisitions are reported in the Americas region and the operating results of the MainOne
Acquisition are reported in the EMEA region following the date of acquisition. During the year of acquisition, our results of operations from these
acquisitions included $90 million of revenues and $8 million of income from operations.

Transaction costs

During the year of acquisition, the transaction costs for the Entel Chile and Entel Peru acquisitions were $7 million and the transaction costs for the
MainOne acquisition were not significant.

4. Earnings Per Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted eamings per share ("EPS") for the years ended December 31 ($ in millions except
per share data; share data in thousands):

2024 2023 2022
Net income $ 814 $ %9 $ 705
Net loss attributable to non-controlling interests 1 — —
Net income attributable to common stockholders $ 815 § %9 $ 705
Weighted-average shares used to calculate basic EPS 95,457 93,615 91,569
Effect of dilutive securities:

Employee equity awards 370 394 259
Weighted-average shares used to calculate diluted EPS 95,827 94,009 91,828
EPS attributable to common stockholders:

Basic EPS $ 854 $ 1035 $ 7.69
Diluted EPS $ 850 $ 1031 $ 7.67

The following table sets forth potential shares of common stock that are not included in the diluted EPS calculation above because to do so would
be anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2024 2023 2022
Common stock related to employee equity awards and other 359 68 582
Total 359 68 582

5. Equity Method Investments

We hold various equity method investments, primarily interests in joint venture partnership arrangements, in order to invest in certain entities that are
in line with our business dewelopment objectives, including the dewvelopment and operation of xScale data centers. Some of these joint ventures are
classified as Variable Interest Entities ("VIES").
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The following table summarizes our equity method investments, which were included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31 (in millions):

Investee Ownership Percentage 2024 2023

EMEA 1 Joint Venture 20% $ 131 $ 150
VIE Joint Ventures (1) 20% 374 308
Other Various 14 10
Total $ 519 § 468

™ Includes investments in the following xScale joint ventures in each of our three regions: "Asia-Pacific 1 Joint Venture", "Asia-Pacific 2 Joint Venture", "Asia-
Pacific 3 Joint Venture", "EMEA 2 Joint Venture", "AVER 1 Joint Venture" and "AVER 2 Joint Venture" (defined below). These investments share a similar
purpose, design and nature of assets.

Non-VIE Joint Venture
EMEA 1 Joint Venture

The EMEA 1 Joint Venture is not a VIE given that both equity investors' interests have the characteristics of a controlling financial interest and it is
sufficiently capitalized to sustain its operations, requiring additional funding from its partners only when expanding operations. Our share of income and
losses of equity method investments from this joint venture was insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 and was included in
other income (expense) on the consolidated statement of operations.

We committed to make future equity contributions to the EMEA 1 Joint Venture for funding its future development. As of December 31, 2024, we had
future equity contribution commitments of $39 million.

VIE Joint Ventures

The VIE Joint Ventures are considered VIEs because they do not hawe sufficient funds from operations to be self-sustaining. While we provide
certain management senices to their operations and eam fees for the performance of such senices, the power to direct the activities of these joint
ventures that most significantly impact economic performance is shared equally between us and our partners. These activities include data center
construction and operations, sales and marketing, financing, and real estate purchases or sales. Decisions about these activities require the consent of
both Equinix and our partners. We concluded that neither party is deemed to have predominant control over the VIE Joint Ventures and neither party is
considered to be the primary beneficiary. Our share of losses of equity method investments from these joint ventures were $24 million, $12 million and $9
million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and were included in other income (expense) on the consolidated
statement of operations.

AMER 1 Joint Venture

In March 2023, we invested in the AMER 1 Joint Venture. Upon formation of the joint venture, we sold the assets and liabilities of the Mexico 3
("MX3") data center, which were included within our Americas region, for total consideration of $75 million. Consideration included $64 million of net cash
proceeds, a20% partnership interest in the AMER 1 Joint Venture with a fair value of $8 million, and $3 million of receivables. We recognized an
insignificant loss on the sale of the MX3 data center.

AMER 2 Joint Venture

On April 10, 2024, we invested in a joint venture to develop and operate an xScale data center in the Americas region (the “AMER 2 Joint Venture”).
At closing, we sold the assets and liabilities of the Silicon Valley 12 (“SV12”) data center site, which were included within our Americas region, for total
consideration of $293 miillion, which was comprised of $246 million of net cash proceeds, a 20% partnership interest in the AMER 2 Joint Venture with a
fair value of $26 million, and $21 million of receivables. We recognized a gain of $18 million on the sale of the SV12 data center.
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The following table summarizes our maximum exposure to loss related to the VIE Joint Ventures as of December 31, 2024 (in millions):

VIE Joint Ventures
Equity Investment $ 374
Outstanding Accounts Receivable 50
Other Receivables 46
Contract Assets 125
Loan Commitment (1) 392
Future Equity Contribution Commitments ) 66
Maximum Future Payments under Debt Guarantees ©) 246
Total $ 1,299

(™ Concurrent with the closing of the AVER 2 Joint Venture, we entered into a loan agreement with the AVER 2 Joint Venture, as a lender, further discussed in
Note 15.

@ The joint ventures' partners are required to make additional equity contributions proportionately upon certain occurrences, such as a shortfall in capital
necessary to complete construction or to make interest payments on their outstanding debt.

®  In connection with our 20% equity investment in the EMEA 2 Joint Venture, we provided the lenders with our guarantees covering 20% of all payments of
principal and interest due under EMEA 2 Joint Venture's credit facility agreements. A portion of the guarantees relates to our AVER 1 Joint Veenture. Refer to
Note 14.

AMER 3 Joint Venture

On October 1, 2024, we entered into an agreement to form a joint venture to dewelop and operate xScale data centers in the Americas region (the
"AMER 3 Joint Venture"), subject to regulatory approval and other closing conditions which were satisfied on October 30, 2024. As of December 31,
2024 there have been no equity contributions made to the AMER 3 Joint Venture and its closing had no impact on the consolidated financial statements.

6. Balance Sheet Components
Cash, Cash Equivalents and Short-Term Investments

Cash and cash equivalents and short-term investments consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Cash $ 565 $ 492
Cash equivalents:
Money market funds 2,401 1,364
Time deposits 115 240
Total cash and cash equivalents 3,081 2,096
Short-term investments:
Time deposits 527 —
Total short-term investments 527 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments $ 3,608 $ 2,09

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, cash and cash equivalents included investments which were readily conwertible to cash and generally had
original maturities of 3 months or less. The maturities of time deposits classified as short-term investments were one year or less as of December 31,
2024.

F-26



Table of Contents
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Accounts Receivable

Trade accounts receivable are recorded at the inwoiced amount and generally do not bear interest. Accounts receivable, net, consisted of the
following as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023

Accounts receivable $ 268 $ 1,021

Allowance for credit losses (19) (17)
Accounts receivable, net $ M9 $ 1,004

The following table summarizes the activity of our allowance for credit losses (in millions):

Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 12
Provision for credit losses 7
Net write-offs @)

Balance as of December 31, 2022 12
Provision for credit losses 15
Net write-offs 9)
Impact of foreign currency exchange (1)

Balance as of December 31, 2023 17
Provision for credit losses 21
Net write-offs (20)
Impact of foreign currency exchange 1

Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 19

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):
2024 2023

Derivative assets, cumrent $ 2% $ 44

Taxes receivable 223 167

Other receivables (1) 106 80

Contract assets, current 102 52

Prepaid expenses, current 91 100

Other @ 72 25
Total other current assets $ 80 $ 468

M Includes receivables due from our joint ventures. See Note 15.
@ Includes an insignificant amount of restricted cash, current.
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Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
Property, plant and equipment, net consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Core systems $ 12,890 $ 12,604
Buildings 9,475 8,972
Construction in progress 2,204 1,918
Intemal-use software 2,149 1,936
Leasehold improvements 1,980 2,045
Land 1,652 1,407
Personal property 373 320
30,723 29,202
Less accumulated depreciation (11,474) (10,601)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 19,249 § 18,601
Goodwill and Other Intangibles
The following table presents goodwill and other intangible assets, net, for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in millions):
2024 2023
Goodwill:
Americas $ 2,559 $ 2,631
EMEA 2,349 2,467
Asia-Pacific 59 639
$ 5504 $ 5,737
Intangible assets, net:
Intangible assets - customer relationships $ 2,745 $ 2,892
Intangible assets - trade names 16 13
Intangible assets - in-place leases 27 30
Intangible assets - licenses 10 10
Intangible assets - at-the-money lease contracts 55 59
Intangible assets - other 8 8
2,861 3,012
Less accumulated depreciation (1,444) (1,307)
Total intangible assets, net $ 1,417 § 1,705
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Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by geographic regions are as follows (in millions):

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 2210 $ 2473 $ 689 $ 5,372
Purchase of MainOne — 111 — 111
Purchase of Entel Chile 381 — — 381
Purchase of Entel Peru 46 — — 46
Impact of foreign currency exchange 6) (206) (44) (256)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 2,631 2,378 645 5,654
Impact of foreign currency exchange — 89 6) 83
Balance as of December 31, 2023 2,631 2,467 639 5,737
Impact of foreign currency exchange (72) (118) (43) (233)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 2559 $ 2,349 §$ 506 $ 5,504

Changes in the net book value of intangible assets by geographic regions are as follows (in millions):

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ 1,328 $ 432 % 176 $ 1,936
Entel Chile acquisition 153 — — 153
Entel Peru acquisition 10 — — 10
MainOne acquisition — 55 — 55
Amortization of intangibles (138) (52) (15) (205)
Impact of foreign currency exchange 4) (33) (14) (51)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 1,349 402 147 1,898
Other asset acquisitions 7 — 1 8
Amortization of intangibles (140) (54) (14) (208)
Impact of foreign currency exchange — 10 (3) 7
Balance as of December 31, 2023 1.216 358 131 1,705
Impairment charges (1) (29) — — (29)
Amortization of intangibles (140) (54) (14) (208)
Impact of foreign currency exchange (25) (16) (10) (51)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 1,022 $ 288 $ 107 $ 1,417

™ Refer to Note 17.

Goodwill and intangible assets which are denominated in currencies other than the U.S. Dollar are subject to foreign currency fluctuations. Our
foreign currency translation gains and losses, including goodwill and intangibles, are a component of other comprehensive income (loss).
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Estimated future amortization expense related to these intangibles is as follows (in millions):

Years ending:

2025 194

2026 193

2027 192

2028 190

2029 170

Thereafter 478

Total 1,417
Other Assets
Other assets consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):
2024 2023

Equity method investments $ 519 468
Contract costs 436 423
Derivative assets, non-current 295 213
Loan receivable 258 —
Prepaid expenses, non-current 171 134
Deferred CCA implementation costs 115 105
Contract assets, non-current 113 86
Deposits 60 60
Deferred tax assets, net 48 62
Debt issuance costs, net 3 5
Other (1) 31 35

Total other assets $ 2,049 1,591
(M Includes an insignificant amount of restricted cash, non-current.
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):
2024 2023

Accrued compensation and benefits $ 421 438
Accrued taxes () 196 161
Accrued utilities and security 164 178
Accounts payable 133 162
Accrued interest 9% 90
Other 183 158

Total accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 1,193 1,187

(M Accrued taxes included income taxes payable of $109 million and $81 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
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Other Current Liabilities

Other current liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

Deferred revenue, current
Derivative liabilities, current
Customer deposits
Dividends payable, current

Asset retirement obligations, current

Other

Total other current liabilities

Other Liabilities

Other liabilities consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

Deferred tax liabilities, net
Deferred revenue, non-current

Asset retirement obligations, non-current

Derivative liabilities, non-current

Accrued taxes

Dividends payable, non-current
Other non-current liabilities

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2021
Additions

Adjustments (1)

Accretion expense

Impact of foreign currency exchange

Total other liabilities

The following table summarizes the activities of our asset retirement obligations ("ARO") (in millions):

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2022

Additions
Adjustments ()
Accretion expense

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2023

Additions

Adjustments ()

Accretion expense

Impact of foreign currency exchange

Asset retirement obligations as of December 31, 2024

Wl

The ARO adjustments are primarily due to lease amendments and acquisition of real estate assets.
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7. Derivatives and Hedging Instruments
Derivatives and Nonderivatives Designated as Hedging Instruments
Net Investment Hedges

Foreign Currency Debt: We are exposed to the impact of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on the value of investments in our foreign subsidiaries
whose functional currencies are other than the U.S. Doallar. In order to mitigate the impact of foreign currency exchange rates, we hawe entered into
various foreign currency debt obligations, which are designated as hedges against our net investments in foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2024
and 2023, the total principal amounts of foreign currency debt obligations designated as net investment hedges were $1.0 billion and $1.5 billion,
respectively.

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: We use foreign currency forward contracts, designated as net investment hedges, to hedge against the effect
of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries. We use the spot method to assess hedge effectiveness and
recognize fair value changes from spot rates in other comprehensive income (loss). We exclude forward points from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness and amortize the initial value of the excluded component through interest expense. The difference between fair value changes from the
excluded component and the amount amortized is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Embedded Derivatives: Certain of our customer agreements that are priced in currencies different from the functional or local currencies of the
parties involved are deemed to hawve foreign curmrency forward contracts embedded in them. These embedded derivatives are separated from their host
contracts and carried on our balance sheet at their fair value. The majority of these embedded derivatives arise as a result of our foreign subsidiaries
pricing their customer contracts in U.S. Dollars. We use these forward contracts embedded within our customer agreements to hedge against the effect
of foreign exchange rate fluctuations on our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the total
remaining contract value of such customer agreements outstanding under this hedging program was $213 million and $223 million, respectively.

Cross-currency Interest Rate Swaps: We also use cross-currency interest rate swaps, designated as net investment hedges, which effectively
conwert a portion of our U.S. dollar-denominated fixed-rate debt to foreign currency-denominated fixed-rate debt, to hedge the currency exposure
associated with our net investment in our foreign subsidiaries. We use the spot method to assess hedge effectiveness and recognize fair value changes
from spot rates in other comprehensive income (loss). We exclude time value and cross currency basis spread from the assessment of hedge
effectiveness and recognize the excluded component in interest expense through the swap accrual process. The difference between fair value changes of
the excluded component and the amount amortized is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Cash Flow Hedges

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: We enter into intercompany foreign currency forward contracts ("intercompany derivatives") with our wholly-
owned subsidiaries in our EMEA region in order to hedge certain forecasted revenues and expenses denominated in currencies other than the U.S.
Dollar (primarily the British Pound and the Euro). Simultaneously, we enter into foreign cumrency forward contracts with unrelated third parties to
externally hedge the net exposure created by such intercompany derivatives. We designate the intercompany derivatives as cash flow hedges. We do
not exclude any components from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and the change in fair value of these derivatives is recognized in other
comprehensive income (loss) until the hedged transaction occurs.

As of December 31, 2024, our foreign currency forward contracts had maturity dates ranging from January 2025 to December 2026 and we had a net
gain of $38 million recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to revenues and expenses for cash flow hedges
that will mature in the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2023, our foreign currency forward contracts had maturity dates ranging from January 2024
to December 2025 and we had a net loss of $7 million recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to revenues
and expenses for cash flow hedges that will mature in the next 12 months.

Cross-currency Interest Rate Swaps: We use cross-currency swaps, which are designated as cash flow hedges, to manage the foreign currency
exposure associated with a portion of our foreign currency-denominated
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variable-rate debt and our U.S. dollar-denominated fixed-rate debt issued by our foreign subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2024, our cross-currency
interest rate swaps had maturity dates ranging from March 2026 to June 2034. We had a net gain of $13 million recorded within accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to interest expense in the next 12 months. As of December 31, 2023, our cross-currency interest rate
swaps had maturity dates of March 2026. We had an insignificant net gain recorded within accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to be
reclassified to interest expense in the next 12 months. We use the spot method to assess hedge effectiveness. Fair value changes from spot rates are
recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) initially and immediately reclassified to eamings to offset the gain or loss from remeasuring the
associated debt. We exclude time value and cross cumrency basis spread from the assessment of hedge effectiveness and recognize the excluded
component in interest expense through the swap accrual process. The difference between fair value changes of the excluded component and the amount
amortized is recognized in other comprehensive income (loss).

Interest Rate Locks: We hedge the interest rate exposure created by anticipated fixed-rate debt issuances through the use of treasury locks and
swap locks (collectively, interest rate locks), which are designated as cash flow hedges. As of both December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no interest
rate locks outstanding. When interest rate locks are settled, any gain or loss from the transactions is deferred and included as a component of other
comprehensive income (loss) and is amortized to interest expense over the term of the forecasted hedged transaction which is equivalent to the term of
the interest rate locks. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had a net gain of $3 million and $1 million, respectively, recorded within accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) to be reclassified to interest expense in the next 12 months for interest rate locks.

Derivatives Not Designated as Hedging Instruments

Foreign Currency Forward Contracts: We also use foreign currency forward contracts to manage the foreign exchange risk associated with certain
foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities. As a result of foreign currency fluctuations, the U.S. Dollar equivalent values of our foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities change. Gains and losses on these contracts are included in other income (expense), on a net
basis, along with the foreign currency gains and losses of the related foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities associated with these
foreign currency forward contracts.

Cross-currency Interest Rate Swaps: We may, from time to time, elect to de-designate a portion of our cross-currency interest rate swaps previously
designated as hedging instruments. Gains and losses subsequent to the de-designation are recognized in other income (expense).

F-33



Table of Contents

EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Notional Amounts and Fair Value of Derivative Instruments

The following table presents the composition of derivative instruments recognized in our consolidated balance sheets, excluding accrued interest, as

of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023
Fair Value Fair Value
Notional Notional
Amount ( Assets 2 Liabilities Amount ( Assets @ Liabilities
Designated as hedging instruments:
Net investment hedges
Foreign currency forward contracts $ %6 $ 39 $ 17 $ 887 $ 3 93 17
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,986 189 1 3,121 132 —
Cash flow hedges
Foreign currency forward contracts 1,365 53 — 1,154 2 14
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,030 48 — 280 36 —
Total designated as hedging 5,347 329 18 5,442 173 31
Not designated as hedging instruments:
Foreign currency forward contracts 3,536 80 9 3,053 4 70
Cross-currency interest rate swaps 1,395 182 45 1,061 80 —
Total not designated as hedging 4,931 262 54 4,114 84 70
Total Derivatives $ 10,278 $ 51 $ 72 % 9,556 $ 257§ 101
™ Excludes embedded derivatives.
@ As presented in our consolidated balance sheets within other current assets and other assets.
® As presented in our consolidated balance sheets within other current liabilities and other liabilities.

Impact on Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The pre-tax gains (losses) from hedging instruments recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December

31 were as follows (in millions):

Net investment hedges:

Foreign currency debt

Foreign currency forward contracts (included component)

Foreign currency forward contracts (excluded component)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps (included component)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps (excluded component)
Total

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Cross-currency interest rate swaps (excluded component)
Interest rate locks
Total

2024 2023 2022
68 $ (54) 160
66 ) 27
2 3 @
149 (73) 277
4 1 (36)
289 $ (132) 426
65 $ (17) ©)
(17) (@) @
1) ) 49
47 % (24) 38
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Impact on Earnings

The gains (losses) from derivative instruments recognized in eamings, and location of such gains (losses) in the consolidated statements of
operations for the years ended December 31 were as follows (in millions):

Net investment hedges:

Foreign currency forward contracts (excluded
component)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps (excluded
component)

Total

Cash flow hedges:
Foreign currency forward contracts
Foreign currency forward contracts

Cross-currency interest rate swaps (excluded
component)

Cross-currency interest rate swaps (included
component)

Interest rate locks
Total

Non designated hedges:

Embedded derivatives ()

Foreign currency forward contracts (1)
Foreign currency forward contracts
Cross-currency interest rate swaps

Total

Location of gain (loss) 2024 2023 2022
Interest expense $ 10 $ 2 $ —
Interest expense 27 45 50
$ 37 % 47 3 50
Revenues $ 11 3 © $ 148
Costs and operating expenses (6) 15 (72)
Interest expense 8 (1) 1)
Other income (expense) 29 17 22
Interest Expense 1 1 —
$ 43 3 23 % 97
Revenues $ — $ — $ (1)
Revenues — — (1)
Other income (expense) 154 (20) 138
Other income (expense) 18 6 —
$ 172 $ (14) $ 136

() Embedded derivatives were designated as net investment hedges beginning March 31, 2022. Prior to March 31, 2022, we entered into foreign currency
forward contracts to economically hedge these embedded derivatives.

Offsetting Derivative Assets and Liabilities

We enter into master netting agreements with our counterparties for transactions other than embedded derivatives to mitigate credit risk exposure to
any single counterparty. Master netting agreements allow for individual derivative contracts with a single counterparty to offset in the event of default. For
presentation on the consolidated balance sheets, we do not offset fair value amounts recognized for derivative instruments or the accrued interest related
to cross-currency interest rate swaps under master netting arrangements. The following table presents information related to these offsetting

arrangements, inclusive of accrued interest, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 (in millions):

December 31, 2024
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities

December 31, 2023
Derivative assets
Derivative liabilities
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Gross Amounts Gross Amounts Not
Offset in the Balance Offset in the Balance
Gross Amounts Sheet Net Amounts Sheet Net
605 $ 605 $ (75) $ 530
79 79 (75) 4
282 $ 282 $ (56) $ 226
112 112 (56) 56
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8. Fair Value Measurements

We perform fair value measurements in accordance with ASC 820, Fair Value Measurement, which establishes three lewels of inputs that we use to

measure fair value:

* Lewel 1: quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

* Lewel 2: obsenable inputs (e.g., spot rates and other data from the third-party pricing vendors for our derivative instruments, credit rating and
current prices of similar debt instruments that are publicly traded for our debt instruments) other than quoted market prices included within Level 1

that are obsenable, either directly or indirectly, for the assets or liabilities.

 Lewel 3: unobsenable inputs to the valuation methodology that are significant to the measurement of the fair value of assets or liabilities, including

indicative pricing from third parties for similar instruments and asset-specific yield adjustments for elements such as credit risk.

The fair value of certain financial assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 were as follows (in millions):

December 31, 2024

December 31, 2023

Fair Value Fair Value
Measurement Using Measurement Using
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2
Assets:
Money market funds (1) $ 2401 $ 2401 $ — $ — 3% 1,364 $ 1,364 $ —
Time deposits @ 642 115 527 — 240 240 —
Loan receivable @ 280 — — 280 — — —
Derivative instruments ) 591 — 591 — 257 — 257
Total $ 3914 § 2516 $ 1,118 $ 280 $ 1,861 $ 1,604 $ 257
Liabilities:
Derivative instruments 4 $ 72 % — $ 72 $ — $ 101 $ — $ 101
Mortgage and loans payable ) 654 — 654 — 684 — 684
Senior notes ©) 13,342 12,851 491 — 11,740 11,166 574
Total $ 14,068 $ 12,851 $ 1,217  $ — 3 12,525 $ 11,166 $ 1,359

832

cost.

NG

measured at fair value. Refer to Note 7.

®  Include current and non-current portions and are measured at amortized cost. Refer to Note 10.
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9. Leases
Significant Lease Transactions

The following table summarizes the significant lease transactions during the year ended December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Net Incremental (2

Renewal/Termination Options
Lease Quarter Transaction excluded (1 Lease Classification ROUassets ROU liabilities

TV AS! ; Finance Lease $ 109 $ 109
gglt(gg;r?tér-{ggs?e) new Q3 ygg‘; It(;?r?]e witha20- gy 10-year renewal options ~ —-==--==-mmmmmsmmmmn oo m e oo oo 1

Operating Lease 53 53

(™ These renewal/termination options are notincluded in determining the lease terms as we are not reasonably certain to exercise them at this time.

(2) The net incremental amounts represent the adjustments to the right-of-use ("ROU") assets and liabilities recorded during the quarter that the transactions
were entered.

Lease Expenses
The components of lease expenses are as follows (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Finance lease cost
Amortization of right-of-use assets (! $ 181 $ 167 $ 161
Interest on lease liabilities 113 113 112
Total finance lease cost 24 280 273
Operating lease cost 229 243 214
Variable lease cost 79 62 4
Total lease cost $ 602 $ 585 $ 528

(M Amortization of right-of-use assets is included within depreciation expense, and is recorded within cost of revenues, sales and marketing and general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.

In addition, we recorded impairment charges of $38 million on operating lease right-of-use assets in the Asia-Pacific region during the fourth quarter
of 2024 as described in Note 17.
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Other Information

Other information related to leases is as follows (in millions, except years and percent):

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 100 $ 110 §$ 110

Operating cash flows from operating leases 231 231 197

Financing cash flows from finance leases 140 149 134
Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations: (1)

Finance leases $ 213§ 209 $ 294

Operating leases 194 211 355

As of December 31,
2024 2023

Weighted-average remaining lease term - finance leases @ 14 years 14 years
Weighted-average remaining lease term - operating leases @ 12 years 12 years
Weighted-average discount rate - finance leases 6 % 6 %
Weighted-average discount rate - operating leases 5% 5%
Finance lease right-of-use assets () $ 2158 $ 2,184

(W Represents all non-cash changes in right-of-use assets.

@ 1Includes lease renewal options that are reasonably certain to be exercised.

() As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we recorded accumulated amortization of finance lease right-of-use assets of $964 million and $870 million, respectively.
Finance lease assets are recorded within property, plant and equipment, net on the consolidated balance sheets.

Maturities of Lease Liabilities

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024 are as follows (in millions):

Year ended December 31, Operating Leases Finance Leases Total
2025 210 301 511
2026 217 256 473
2027 197 260 457
2028 169 249 418
2029 139 240 379
Thereafter 1,097 2,004 3,101
Total lease payments 2,029 3,310 5,339
Less imputed interest (554) (1,035) (1,589)
Total $ 1,475 $ 2275 $ 3,750

We entered into agreements with various landlords primarily to lease data center spaces and ground leases which hawe not yet commenced as of
December 31, 2024. These leases will commence between 2025 and 2026, with lease terms of 2 to 30 years and total lease commitments of
approximately $210 million.
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10. Debt Facilities
Mortgage and Loans Payable
As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, our mortgage and loans payable consisted of the following (in millions):

2024 2023

Term loans $ 628 $ 643
Mortgage payable and other loans payable 21 29
649 672
Less amount representing unamortized debt discount and debt issuance cost — (1)
649 671
Less current portion (5) (8)
$ 644 $ 663

Senior Credit Facility and Refinancing

In 2022, we entered into a credit agreement (the "2022 Credit Agreement") with a group of lenders for a senior unsecured credit facility, comprised of
a $4.0 billion senior unsecured multicurrency revolving credit facility (the "2022 Revolving Facility") and a £500 million senior unsecured term loan facility
(the "2022 Term Loan Facility" and, together with the 2022 Rewvolving Facility, collectively, the "2022 Credit Facilities"). The total debt issuance costs for
the 2022 Rewolhving Facility and 2022 Term Loan Facility are $7 million and $1 million, respectively. We borrowed the full £500 million available under the
2022 Term Loan Facility, or approximately $677 million at the exchange rate in effect on that date.

The 2022 Credit Facilities have a maturity date of January 7, 2027. We may borrow, repay and reborrow amounts under the 2022 Rewolving Facility
until the Maturity Date, at which time all amounts outstanding under the 2022 Revolving Facility must be repaid in full. The term loan made under the
2022 Term Loan Facility has no scheduled principal amortization and must be repaid in full on the maturity date. The 2022 Rewolving Facility provides for
extensions of credit in U.S. Dollars as well as certain other foreign currencies. Borrowings under the 2022 Rewvolving Facility bear interest at a rate based
on the daily Secured Ovemight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), term SOFR, an altemative currency daily rate, or an altemative currency term rate plus a
spread adjustment, plus a margin that can vary from 0.555% to 1.200%. Borrowings under the 2022 Term Loan Facility bear interest at a rate based on
the daily Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), plus a spread adjustment, plus a margin that can vary from 0.625% to 1.450%. We are also
required to pay a quarterly letter of credit fee on the face amount of each letter of credit, which fee is based on the same margin that applies from time to
time to SOFR-indexed borrowings under the rewolving credit line. The margin is dependent on either our consolidated net leverage ratio or our credit
ratings. We are also required to pay a quarterly facility fee ranging from 0.07% to 0.25% per annum. The 2022 Credit Agreement contains customary
cowvenants, including financial ratio covenants that are required to be maintained as of each quarter end.

As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the total amounts outstanding under the 2022 Term Loan Facility, net of debt issuance costs, were $625 million
and $636 million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2024, we had 43 irevocable letters of credit totaling $69 million issued and outstanding under the 2022 Rewvolving Facility, with
approximately $3.9 billion remaining available to borrow under the 2022 Rewohing Facility. As of December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
unamortized debt issuance costs for the 2022 Rewolving Facility of $3 million and $5 million, respectively, were presented in other assets in the
consolidated balance sheets.
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Senior Notes

Our senior notes consisted of the following as of December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023

Senior Notes Issuance Date Maturity Date Amount Hfective Rate Amount Hfective Rate
2.625% Senior Notes due 2024 Novenber 2019 Novenrber 2024 $ — — % $ 1,000 279 %
1.250% Senior Notes due 2025 June 2020 July 2025 500 146 % 500 146 %
1.000% Senior Notes due 2025 October 2020 Septerrber 2025 700 118 % 700 118 %
1.450% Senior Notes due 2026 May 2021 May 2026 700 164 % 700 164 %
2.900% Senior Notes due 2026 Novenber 2019 Novenrber 2026 600 304 % 600 3.4 %
0.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2027 March 2021 March 2027 518 045 % 552 045 %
1.800% Senior Notes due 2027 June 2020 July 2027 500 196 % 500 196 %
1.550% Senior Notes due 2028 October 2020 March 2028 650 167 % 650 167 %
2.000% Senior Notes due 2028 May 2021 May 2028 400 221 % 400 221 %
2.875% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due
2028 Septerrber 2023 Septerrber 2028 331 3.05 % 357 3.05 %
1.558% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due
2029 Septerrber 2024 Septerrber 2029 110 179 % — — %
3.200% Senior Notes due 2029 Novenber 2019 Noverrber 2029 1,200 330 % 1,200 3.30 %
2.150% Senior Notes due 2030 June 2020 July 2030 1,100 227 % 1,100 227 %
3.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2031 Novenber 2024 March 2031 673 346 % — — %
2.500% Senior Notes due 2031 May 2021 May 2031 1,000 265 % 1,000 265 %
3.900% Senior Notes due 2032 April 2022 April 2032 1,200 4.07 % 1,200 4.07 %
1.000% Euro Senior Notes due 2033 March 2021 March 2033 622 1.18 % 662 1.18 %
3.650% Euro Senior Notes due 2033 Septerrber 2024 Septerrber 2033 622 378 % — — %
5.500% Senior Notes due 2034 May 2024 June 2034 750 574 % — — %
3.625% Euro Senior Notes due 2034 Novenber 2024 Noverrber 2034 518 375 % — — %
2.000% Japanese Yen Series A Notes due
2035 March 2023 March 2035 239 207 % 267 207 %
2.130% Japanese Yen Series CNotes due
2035 March 2023 March 2035 A 220 % 105 220 %
2.370% Japanese Yen Series B Notes due
2043 March 2023 March 2043 65 242 % 72 242 %
2.570% Japanese Yen Series D Notes due
2043 March 2023 March 2043 29 262 % 32 262 %
2.570% Japanese Yen Series ENotes due
2043 February 2023 March 2043 64 262 % 71 262 %
3.000% Senior Notes due 2050 June 2020 July 2050 500 3.09 % 500 3.09 %
2.950% Senior Notes due 2051 October 2020 September 2051 500 3.00 % 500 3.00 %
3.400% Senior Notes due 2052 May 2021 February 2052 500 350 % 500 350 %

14,685 13,168
Less anmount representing unanortized debt discount and debt issuance cost (123) (108)

14,562 13,060
Less current portion (1,199) (998)

$ 13,363 $ 12,062

2.000% Japanese Yen Senior Notes Series A due 2035, 2.370% Japanese Yen Senior Notes Series B due 2043, 2.130% Japanese Yen Senior Notes
Series C due 2035, 2.570% Japanese Yen Senior Notes Series D due 2043 and 2.570% Japanese Yen Senior Notes Series E due 2043 (collectively,
the "Japanese Yen Senior Notes")

On February 16, 2023, we issued ¥10.0 billion, or approximately $75 million, at the exchange rate in effect on that date, aggregate principal amount
of 2.570% senior notes due March 8, 2043.
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On March 8, 2023, and at the exchange rate in effect on that date, we issued ¥37.7 billion, or approximately $275 million, aggregate principal
amount of 2.000% senior notes due March 8, 2035, ¥10.2 billion, or approximately $75 million, aggregate principal amount of 2.370% senior notes due
March 8, 2043, ¥14.8 billion, or approximately $108 million, aggregate principal amount of 2.130% senior notes due March 8, 2035 and ¥4.6 billion, or
approximately $34 million, aggregate principal amount of 2.570% senior notes due March 8, 2043.

Interest on the notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on March 8 and September 8 of each year, commencing on September 8, 2023. Total debt
issuance costs related to the Japanese Yen Senior Notes were $4 million.

2.875% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due 2028

On September 12, 2023, we issued CHF300 million, or approximately $337 million, at the exchange rate in effect on that date, aggregate principal
amount of 2.875% senior notes due September 12, 2028 (the "2028 CHF Notes"). Interest on the notes is payable annually in arrears on September 12
of each year, commencing on September 12, 2024. Total debt issuance costs related to the 2028 CHF Notes were $3 million.

5.500% Senior Notes due 2034

On May 30, 2024, we issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 5.500% senior notes due June 15, 2034 (the "2034 Notes"). Interest on the
notes is payable semi-annually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, commencing on December 15, 2024. Total debt discount and debt
issuance costs related to the 2034 Notes were $14 million.

3.650% Euro Senior Notes due 2033

On September 3, 2024, we issued €600 million, or approximately $664 million, at the exchange rate in effect on that date, aggregate principal
amount of 3.650% senior notes due September 3, 2033 (the "2033 Euro Notes"). Interest on the notes is payable annually in arrears on September 3 of
each year, commencing on September 3, 2025. Total debt discount and debt issuance costs related to the 2033 Euro Notes were $6 million.

1.558% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due 2029

On September 4, 2024, we issued CHF100 million, or approximately $118 million, at the exchange rate in effect on that date, aggregate principal
amount of 1.558% senior notes due September 4, 2029 (the "2029 CHF Notes"). Interest on the notes is payable annually in arears on September 4 of
each year, commencing on September 4, 2025. Total debt issuance costs related to the 2029 CHF Notes were insignificant.

3.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2031 and 3.625% Euro Senior Notes due 2034

On November 22, 2024, we issued €650 million, or approximately $706 million, at the exchange rate in effect on that date, aggregate principal
amount of 3.250% senior notes due March 15, 2031 (the "2031 Euro Notes") and €500 million, or approximately $543 million, at the exchange rate in
effect on that date, aggregate principal amount of 3.625% senior notes due November 22, 2034 (the "2034 Euro Notes"). Interest on the 2031 Euro Notes
is payable annually in arrears on March 15 of each year, commencing on March 15, 2025. Interest on the 2034 Euro Notes is payable annually in arrears
on November 22 of each year, commencing on November 22, 2025. Total debt discounts and debt issuance costs related to the 2031 and 2034 Euro
Notes were $8 million and $6 million, respectiwely.

All of our senior notes are unsecured and rank equal in right of payment to our existing or future senior indebtedness and senior in right of payment
to our existing and future subordinated indebtedness. Interest on the senior notes is paid semi-annually in arrears, with the exception of our Euro senior
notes and Swiss Franc notes which are paid annually in arrears. The senior notes are effectively subordinated to all of the existing and future secured
debt, including debt outstanding under any bank facility or secured by any mortgage, to the extent of the assets securing such debt. They are also
structurally subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities (including trade payables) of any of our subsidiaries.

Each series of senior notes is governed by an indenture and a supplemental indenture, or a purchase agreement between us and a trustee or a note
registrar. These supplemental indentures contain covenants that limit our ability and the ability of our subsidiaries to, among other things:
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* incur liens;

* enter into saleleaseback transactions; and
* merge or consolidate with any other person.

As of December 31, 2024, we are in compliance with all covenants. Subject to compliance with the limitations described abowve, we may issue an
unlimited principal amount of additional notes at later dates under the same indenture as the senior notes.

We are not required to make any mandatory redemption with respect to the senior notes; however, upon the event of a change in control, we may be

required to offer to purchase the senior notes.
Optional Redemption

With respect to the notes listed below, we may redeem at our election, at any time or from time to time, some or all of the notes of any series before
they mature. The redemption price will equal the sum of (1) an amount equal to 100% of the principal amount of the notes being redeemed plus accrued
and unpaid interest up to, but not including, the redemption date and (2) a make-whole premium. If the notes are redeemed on or after the date listed in

EQUINIX, INC.
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the table below (the "First Par Call Date"), the redemption price will not include a make-whole premium for the applicable notes.

Senior Notes Description

Arst Par Call Date

1.250% Senior Notes due 2025

1.000% Senior Notes due 2025

1.450% Senior Notes due 2026

2.900% Senior Notes due 2026

0.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2027
1.800% Senior Notes due 2027

1.550% Senior Notes due 2028

2.000% Senior Notes due 2028

2.875% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due 2028
1.558% Swiss Franc Senior Notes due 2029
3.200% Senior Notes due 2029

2.150% Senior Notes due 2030

3.250% Euro Senior Notes due 2031
2.500% Senior Notes due 2031

3.900% Senior Notes due 2032

1.000% Euro Senior Notes due 2033
3.650% Euro Senior Notes due 2033
5.500% Senior Notes due 2034

3.625%% Euro Senior Notes due 2034

2.000% Japanese Yen Series A Notes due 2035
2.130% Japanese Yen Series C Notes due 2035
2.370% Japanese Yen Series B Notes due 2043
2.570% Japanese Yen Series D Notes due 2043
2.570% Japanese Yen Series E Notes due 2043

3.000% Senior Notes due 2050
2.950% Senior Notes due 2051
3.400% Senior Notes due 2052
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June 15, 2025
August 15, 2025
April 15, 2026
September 18, 2026
January 15, 2027
May 15, 2027
January 15, 2028
March 15, 2028
June 12, 2028
June 4, 2029
August 18, 2029
April 15, 2030
January 15, 2031
February 15, 2031
January 15, 2032
December 15, 2032
June 3, 2033
March 15, 2034
August 22, 2034
March 8, 2035
March 8, 2035
March 8, 2043
March 8, 2043
March 8, 2043
January 15, 2050
March 15, 2051
August 15, 2051
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Maturities of Debt Instruments

The following table sets forth maturities of our debt, including mortgage and loans payable, and senior notes, gross of debt issuance costs and debt
discounts, as of December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Years ending:
2025 1,205
2026 1,305
2027 1,648
2028 1,385
2029 1,315
Thereafter 8,476
$ 15,334
Interest Charges

The following table sets forth total interest costs incurred, and total interest costs capitalized for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Interest expense $ 457 § 402 $ 356
Interest capitalized 36 26 18
Interest charges incurred $ 493 § 428 $ 374

Total interest paid in cash, net of capitalized interest, during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $486 million, $445 million and
$412 million, respectively.

11. Stockholders' Equity

Our authorized share capital is 300,000,000 shares of common stock and 100,000,000 shares of preferred stock, of which 25,000,000 is designated
Series A, 25,000,000 is designated as Series A-1 and 50,000,000 is undesignated. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, we had no preferred stock
issued and outstanding.

Common Stock

In October 2020, we established an "at the market" equity offering program (the "2020 ATM Program"), under which we could, from time to time, offer
and sell shares of our common stock to or through sales agents up to an aggregate of $1.5 billion. In February 2022, we entered into a forward sale
amendment to the 2020 ATM Program, under which we could, from time to time, offer and sell shares under the equity distribution agreement pursuant
to forward sale transactions (the "Equity Forward Amendment"). In November 2022, we established a successor ATM program, also with substantially
the same terms as the Equity Forward Amendment noted abowve, under which we may, from time to time, offer and sell on a spot or forward basis up to
an aggregate of $1.5 billion of our common stock to or through sales agents in "at the market" transactions (the "2022 ATM Program").

In October 2024, we established a program to succeed the 2022 ATM Program, under which we may, from time to time, offer and sell on a spot or
forward basis up to an aggregate of $2.0 billion of our common stock to or through sales agents in "at the market" transactions (the "2024 ATM
Program"). The forward sale agreements provide three settlement altematives to us: physical settlement, cash settlement or net share settlement. In
accordance with ASC 815, the forward sale agreements are classified as equity for balance sheet purposes.
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Forward sale activity under the 2020, 2022 and 2024 ATM Programs is summarized as follows ($ in millions except per share data; shares in
thousands):

Weighted
Contractual Maturity Average Price
Dates Execution Date Number gf Shares per Share @ Settlemgnt Value
February 2023 to
Qutstanding, December 31, 2022 November 2023 458 $ 657.75 $ 302
February2024 to May 2023 to December
Forward Sale Agreements Executed December 2024 2023 1,208 76712 926
February 2023 to March February 2023 to
Forward Sale Shares Physically Settled 2024 November 2023 (1,023) 718.59 735
Qutstanding, December 31, 2023 November 2024 643 $ 77623 $ 499
November 2024 to
Forward Sale Shares Physically Settled December 2024 September 2024 (643) 79041 509
Outstanding, December 31, 2024 November 2024 — $ — $ —

(™ For agreements settled, the amount represents the actual number of shares issued. For agreements executed and outstanding, the amount represents the
number of shares that we would issue upon physical settlement.

(@  For agreements settled, the value represents the actual weighted average settlement value, net of commissions and other offering expenses. For
agreements executed and outstanding, the value represents the forward amount that we would receive upon physical settlement as of that date and will be
subject to adjustments for a discount rate factor equal to a specified benchmark rate less a spread minus scheduled dividends during the terms of the
agreements.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, we sold 569,382 shares on a spot basis under the 2022 ATM Program for approximately $467 million,
net of commissions and other offering expenses, and we sold 755,298 shares on a spot basis under the 2024 ATM Program for approximately $697
million, net of commissions and other offering expenses.

As of December 31, 2024, we fully utilized the remaining common stock awailable for sale under the 2020 and 2022 ATM Programs and had
approximately $1.3 billion of common stock available for sale under the 2024 ATM Program.

As of December 31, 2024, we had resened the following authorized, but unissued shares of common stock for future issuances (in thousands):

Common stock options and restricted stock units 3,290
Common stock employee purchase plans 2,197
Total 5,487

Redeemable Non-controlling Interest

On April 3, 2023, we issued additional shares in our Indonesian operating entity to a third party investor for $25 million, which resulted in the third
party investor owning a 25% interest in the entity.

The Indonesian operating entity is a VIE because it does not hawe sufficient funds from its operations to be self-sustaining. We provide certain
management senices to the entity and eam fees for the performance of such senices. We hawe the power to direct the activities that most significantly
impact the economic performance of the entity and have concluded that we are its primary beneficiary.

Under the terms of the shareholders’ agreement, the investor may put its 25% ownership stake in the entity to us for a maximum exercise price of
$25 million, subject to certain contingent conditions. Accordingly, we present the investor's contingently redeemable non-controlling interest ("NCI")
outside of permanent equity at the higher of its maximum redemption amount of $25 million and its balance after attribution of gains and losses in the
consolidated balance sheets. There were no changes in the carrying value of the redeemable NCI for the year ended December 31, 2024.
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The following table presents the assets and liabilities of the Indonesian VIE, which were included in other assets and other liabilities on the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31 (in millions):

Balance Sheet 2024 2023
Cash and cash equivalents $ 16 $ 20
Property, plant and equipment, net 25 8
Other 5 2
Total assets $ 46 $ 30
Total liabilities $ 5 ¢ 8

The income and losses attributable to us as well as to the redeemable NCI from the Indonesian VIE were insignificant for the year ended
December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, by components are as follows (in millions):

December 31, Net December 31, Net December 31, Net December 31,

2021 Change 2022 Change 2023 Change 24
Foreign currency translation adjustment ("CTA") gain (loss) $ (1,068) $ (770) $ (1,838) $ 250 $ (1,588) $ (772) $ (2,360)
Unrealized gain (loss) on cash flow hedges ® (6) 40 34 (19) 15 32 47
Net investment hedge CTA gain (loss) (10) 426 416 (132) 284 295 579
Net actuarial loss on defined benefit plans @ (1) — (1) — (1) — (1)
$ (1,085) $ (304 $ (1,389 $ P $ (1,290) $ (445) $ (1,735)

Q) Refer to Note 7 for a discussion of the amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss to netincome.
@ We have two defined benefit pension plans cowvering all employees in two countries where such plans are mandated by law. We do not have any defined
benefit plans in any other countries.

Changes in foreign currencies can have a significant impact to our consolidated balance sheets (as evidenced abowe in our cumulative foreign
currency translation loss), as well as our consolidated results of operations, as amounts in foreign currencies are generally translated into more U.S.
dollars when the U.S. dollar weakens or less U.S. dollars when the U.S. dollar strengthens. As of December 31, 2024, the U.S. dollar was generally
stronger relative to certain of the currencies of the foreign countries in which we operate as compared to December 31, 2023. Because of this, the U.S.
dollar had an owerall unfavorable impact on our consolidated financial position because the foreign denominations translated into fewer U.S. dollars as
evidenced by an increase in foreign currency translation loss for the year ended December 31, 2024 as reflected in the abowe table. The wolatility of the
U.S. dollar as compared to the other currencies in which we operate could hawe a significant impact on our consolidated financial position and results of
operations including the amount of revenue that we report in future periods.

Dividends

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, our Board of Directors declared quarterly dividends whose treatment for federal income
tax purposes were as follows:

Nonqualified Ordinary Total Distribution

Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Total Distribution Dividend @ Amount
(per share) (in millions)
Fiscal 2024

2/14/2024 2/28/2024 3/20/2024 $ 4260000 $ 4260000 $ 402
5/8/2024 5/22/2024 6/19/2024 4.260000 4.260000 405
8/7/2024 8/21/2024 9/18/2024 4.260000 4.260000 405
10/30/2024 11/13/2024 12/11/2024 4.260000 4.260000 412

Total $ 17.040000 $ 17.040000 $ 1,624
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Fiscal 2023
2/15/2023 3/7/2023 3/22/2023 $ 3410000 $ 3410000 $ 319
5/3/2023 5/24/2023 6/21/2023 3.410000 3.410000 319
8/2/2023 8/23/2023 9/20/2023 3.410000 3.410000 319
10/25/2023 11/15/2023 12/13/2023 4.260000 4.260000 402
Total $ 14.490000 $ 14490000 $ 1,359
Fiscal 2022
2/16/2022 3/7/2022 3/23/2022 $ 3.100000 $ 3.100000 $ 282
4/27/2022 5/18/2022 6/15/2022 3.100000 3.100000 282
7/27/2022 8/17/2022 9/21/2022 3.100000 3.100000 286
11/2/2022 11/16/2022 12/14/2022 3.100000 3.100000 287
Total $ 12400000 $ 12400000 $ 1,137

M

@

Common stock dividends are characterized for federal income tax purposes as nonqualified ordinary dividend, qualified ordinary dividend, capital gains or
return of capital. During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we did not classify any portion of the distributions as qualified ordinary
dividend, capital gains or return of capital.

Al nonqualified ordinary dividends are eligible for the 20% deduction generally allowable to non-corporate shareholders under Internal Revenue Code
Section 199A

In addition, as of December 31, 2024, we recorded a short-term dividend payable of $16 million and a long-term dividend payable of $13 million
related to RSUs that have not yet vested. As of December 31, 2023, we recorded a short-term dividend payable of $14 million and a long-term dividend
payable of $12 million related to RSUs that have not yet vested.

12. Stock-Based Compensation

Equity Compensation Plans

As of December 31, 2024, our equity compensation plans included:

2004 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2004 Purchase Plan"): The 2004 Purchase Plan pemmits eligible employees to purchase common
stock on favorable terms via payroll deductions of up to 15% of the employee's cash compensation, subject to certain share and statutory dollar
limits. Two owerlapping offering periods commence during each calendar year, on each of February 15 and August 15 or such other periods or
dates as determined by the Talent, Culture and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the "Compensation Committee") from time
to time, and the offering periods last up to 24 months with a purchase date every 6 months. The price of each share purchased is 85% of the
lower of a) the fair value per share of common stock on the last trading day before the commencement of the applicable offering period or b) the
fair value per share of common stock on the purchase date.

2020 Equity Incentive Plan: In 2020, both our Board of Directors and our stockholders approved the 2020 Equity Plan, which provides for the
grant of stock options, including incentive stock options and nonqualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, RSAs, RSUs, other stock-
based incentive awards, dividend equivalents, and cash-based incentive awards. The 2020 Equity Plan's awards may be granted to employees,
non-employee members of the Board and consultants. Equity awards granted under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan generally vest over four
years. The maximum numbers of shares of our common stock available for issuance under the 2020 Equity Plan is equal to the sum of 4 million
shares and the shares transferred from the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan.
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The Equity compensation plans are administered by the Compensation Committee, which may terminate or amend these plans, with approval of the
stockholders as may be required by applicable law, at any time. As of December 31, 2024, shares reserved and available for issuance under the equity
compensation plans were as follows (in thousands):

Shares reserved Shares available for

grant
2004 Purchase Plan 5,392 2,197
2020 Equity Incentive Plan 3,290 1,858
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
We provide the following disclosures for the 2004 Purchase Plan as of December 31 (shares in thousands):
2024 2023 2022

Weighted-average purchase price per share $ 626.35 $ 57259 $ 568.29
Weighted-average grant date fair value per award for shares purchased $ 204.93 $ 206.83 $ 202.61
Number of shares purchased 148 152 144

We use the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of shares under the 2004 Purchase Plan with the following assumptions
during the years ended December 31:

2024 2023 2022
Range of dividend yield 1.98% - 2.10% 1.69% - 1.78% 1.48% - 1.55%
Range of risk-free interest rate 3.89% - 5.27% 4.57% - 5.30% 0.72% - 3.06%
Range of expected wolatility 21.31% - 29.82% 26.02% - 34.93% 25.73% - 37.20%
Weighted-average expected wolatility 26.88 % 30.48 % 30.34 %
Weighted-average expected life (in years) 1.17 1.06 1.06

Restricted Stock Units

Since 2008, we primarily grant RSUs to our employees, including executives and non-employee directors. We generally grant RSUs that hawe a
senice condition only or have both a senice and performance condition. Each RSU is not considered issued and outstanding and does not have voting
rights until it is converted into one share of our common stock upon vesting. RSU activity is summarized as follows:

Weighted

Number of Shares Average Grant Weighted Average

OutstandIi{cig(in Date Fair Value  Remaining Contractual regate Intrinsic

thousands) per Share Life (in years) Value (7 (in millions)
RSUs outstanding, December 31, 2021 1,358 $ 504.27
RSUs granted 912 661.43
RSUs released, vested (669) 576.62
RSUs canceled (155) 624.98
RSUs outstanding, December 31, 2022 1,446 641.51
RSUs granted 991 699.07
RSUs released, vested (681) 644.90
RSUs canceled (204) 640.68
RSUs outstanding, December 31, 2023 1,552 676.89
RSUs granted 842 884.10
RSUs released, vested (688) 714.66
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RSUs canceled 274 738.15
RSUs outstanding, December 31, 2024 1432 $ 768.84 122 $ 1,350

U] The intrinsic value is calculated based on the closing market value of the stock as of December 31, 2024.

The total fair value of RSUs vested and released during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $594 million, $498 million and $462
million, respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

The following table presents, by operating expense, our stock-based compensation expense recognized in our consolidated statement of operations
for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Cost of revenues $ 58 $ 48 $ 45
Sales and marketing 94 86 83
General and administrative 310 273 276
Total $ 462§ 407§ 404

Our stock-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statement of operations was comprised of the following types of equity
awards for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
RSUs $ 438 § 387 % 360
RSAs — 2 10
Employee stock purchase plan 24 18 34
Total $ 462 $ 407 $ 404

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, we capitalized $77 million, $60 million and $46 million, respectiwely, of stock-based
compensation expense as construction in progress in property, plant and equipment.

As of December 31, 2024, the total stock-based compensation cost related to unvested equity awards not yet recognized, net of estimated
forfeitures, totaled $850 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.17 years.

13. Income Taxes

Income before income taxes is attributable to the following geographic locations for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Domestic $ 147 $ 2718 % 334
Foreign 828 846 495
Income before income taxes $ 975 $ 1,124 $ 829
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The tax expenses for income taxes consisted of the following components for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022

Current:
Federal $ 18 — s 2
State and local 3) — 6]
Foreign (189) (150) (83)
Subtotal (191) (150) (82)
Deferred:
Federal — — (16)
State and local 2 — (5)
Foreign 28 (5) (21)
Subtotal 30 (5) 42)

Income tax expense $ (161) $ (155) $ (124)

State and foreign taxes not based on income are included in general and administrative expenses and the aggregate amounts were not significant for
the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Income tax benefit (expenses) for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 differed from the amounts computed by applying the U.S.
federal income tax rate of 21% to pre-tax income as a result of the following for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 (" 2022

Federal tax at statutory rate $ (205) $ (236) $ (174)
State and local tax expense (1) — (6)
Foreign income tax rate differential (12) (14) (12)
Non-deductible expenses (10) (6) (6)
Stock-based compensation expense 8) ) 8)
Change in valuation allowance (72) (32) (59)
Foreign financing activities 2 @) ©)
Uncertain tax positions resene 11 21 45
Tax adjustments related to REIT 130 132 107
Change in deferred tax adjustments 1 (3) —
Effect of tax rate change on deferred tax assets — 2 3)
Other, net 7 (2) (2)

Total income tax expense $ (161) $ (155) $ (124)

™ The prior year amounts presented in the table above have been reclassified to conform with the current year presentation, The rate reconciliation item
'Deferred tax assets generated in current year not benefited' has been grouped with 'Change in valuation allowance'.

Our accounting policy is to treat any tax on Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income ("GILTI") inclusions as a current period cost included in the tax
expense in the year incured. We estimate the GILTI inclusion provision will result in no material financial statement impact provided we satisfy our REIT
distribution requirement with respect to the GILTI inclusions.

As a result of our conwersion to a REIT effective January 1, 2015, it is no longer our intent to indefinitely reinvest undistributed foreign
eamings. However, no deferred tax liability has been recognized to account for this change because the expected recowery of the basis difference will not
result in material U.S. taxes in the post-REIT conwersion periods due to the fact that the majority of our foreign subsidiaries are either QRSs or owned
directly by our REIT and QRSs, and the foreign withholding tax effect would be immaterial. We continue to assess the foreign
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withholding tax impact of our current policy and do not believe the distribution of our foreign eamings would trigger any significant foreign withholding
taxes, as the majority of the foreign jurisdictions where we operate do not impose withholding taxes on dividend distributions to a corporate U.S. parent.

The types of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of our deferred tax assets and liabilities are set out below as of December 31
(in millions):

2024 2023
Deferred tax assets:
Stock-based compensation expense $ 10 $ 9
Net unrealized losses 12 1
Operating lease liabilities 217 221
Finance lease liabilities — 14
Deferred revenue 11 17
Loss carryforwards and tax credits 253 232
Others, net 25 7
Gross deferred tax assets 528 511
Valuation allowance (277) (221)
Total deferred tax assets, net 251 290
Deferred tax liabilities:
Finance lease liabilities (13) —
Property, plant and equipment (200) (253)
Right-of-use assets (220) (224)
Deferred income (5) (26)
Goodwill (17) 3)
Intangible assets (87) (116)
Total deferred tax liabilities (542) (622)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ 91) $ (332)

The tax basis of REIT assets, excluding investments in TRSs, is greater than the amounts reported for such assets in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet by approximately $3.1 billion as of December 31, 2024.

Our accounting for deferred taxes inwolves weighing positive and negative evidence conceming the realizability of our deferred tax assets in each
taxing jurisdiction. After considering evidence such as the nature, frequency and severity of curent and cumulative financial reporting losses, the sources
of future taxable income, taxable income in camyback years permitted by the tax laws and tax planning strategies, we concluded that valuation
allowances were required in certain jurisdictions. The operations in most of the jurisdictions for which a valuation allowance has been established hawe a
history of significant losses as of December 31, 2024. As such, we do not believe these operations have established a sustained history of profitability
and that a valuation allowance is, therefore, necessary. We also provided a valuation allowance against certain gross deferred tax assets in certain
taxing jurisdictions as these deferred tax assets are not expected to be realizable in the foreseeable future.

F-50



Table of Contents
EQUINIX, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - (Continued)

Changes in the valuation allowance for deferred tax assets for the years ended December 31 are as follows (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 21 $ 167 $ 101
Amounts from acquisitions — 10 13
Amounts recognized into income 6 2 23
Current increase 57 44 37
Impact of foreign currency exchange (7) 2 (7)
Ending balance $ 2717 $ 21§ 167

Our net operating loss camryforwards for federal, state and foreign tax purposes which expire, if not utilized, at various intenals from 2025, are
outlined below (in millions):

Expiration Date Federal State Foreign (3 Total

2025 $ 19 — ¢ 8 $ 9
2026 to 2028 2 — 50 52
2029 to 2031 — — 26 26
2032 to 2034 — — 49 49
2035 to 2037 3 — 20 23
2038 to 2040 — 4 55 59
Thereafter 239 92 570 901

$ 245 $ % 9 78 3 1,119

™ In certain jurisdictions, the net operating loss carryforwards can only be used to offset a percentage of taxable income in a given year.
@ If certain substantial changes in the entity's ownership occur, there may be a limitation on the amount of the carryforwards that can be utilized.

As of December 31, 2024, we had tax credit camyforwards of $6 million, which expire if not utilized, from 2025 to 2031. We also had capital losses of
$7 million, which can be carried forward indefinitely.

The beginning and ending balances of our unrecognized tax benefits are reconciled below for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 70 $ 89 $ 148
Gross increases related to prior year tax positions — 3 1
Gross decreases related to prior year tax positions (12) (17) 43)
Gross increases related to current year tax positions 7 5 7
Decreases resulting from expiration of statute of limitation (7) (10) (12)
Decreases resulting from settlements (1) — (12)
Ending balance $ 57 % 70 $ 89

We recognize interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations.
We accrued $5 million, $7 million, and $7 million for interest and penalties as of December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The unrecognized tax benefits of $57 million as of December 31, 2024, if subsequently recognized, will affect our effective tax rate favorably at the
time when such a benefit is recognized.

Due to various tax years open for examination and the ongoing tax audits and inquiries by the tax authorities in different jurisdictions, it is reasonably
possible that the balance of unrecognized tax benefits could significantly
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increase or decrease owver the next 12 months as we may be subject to additional examinations by the tax authorities, conclude tax settlements or
experience a lapse in a statute of limitations. We are currently unable to estimate the range of possible adjustments to the balance of unrecognized tax
benefits.

In general, our income tax retums for the years from 2021 through the current year remain open to examination by federal and state taxing
authorities. In addition, our tax years of 2018 through the current year remain open and subject to examination by local tax authorities in certain foreign
jurisdictions in which we have major operations.

14. Commitments and Contingencies
Purchase Commitments

As a result of our various IBX data center expansion projects, as of December 31, 2024, we were contractually committed for approximately $2.9
billion of unaccrued capital expenditures, primarily for IBX infrastructure equipment not yet delivered and labor not yet provided, in connection with the
work necessary to open these IBX data centers and make them available to our customers for installation. We also had numerous other, non-capital
purchase commitments in place as of December 31, 2024, such as commitments to purchase power in select locations through 2025 and thereafter,
and other open purchase orders for goods or senices to be delivered or provided during 2025 and thereafter. Such other miscellaneous purchase
commitments totaled approximately $2.1 billion as of December 31, 2024. For further information on our equity method investment commitments and
lease commitments, see Note 5 and Note 9, respectively, abowe.

Contingent Liabilities

We estimate our exposure on certain liabilities, such as indirect and property taxes, based on the best information available at the time of
determination. With respect to real and personal property taxes, we record what we can reasonably estimate based on prior payment history, assessed
value by the assessor's office, current landlord estimates or estimates based on current or changing fixed asset values in each specific municipality, as
applicable. However, there are circumstances beyond our control whereby the underlying value of the property or basis for which the tax is calculated on
the property may change, such as a landlord selling the underlying property of one of our IBX data center leases or a municipality changing the
assessment value in a jurisdiction and, as a result, our property tax obligations may vary from period to period. Based upon the most current facts and
circumstances, we make the necessary property tax accruals for each of our reporting periods. However, revisions in our estimates of the potential or
actual liability could materially impact our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Our indirect and property tax filings in various jurisdictions are subject to examination by local tax authorities. Although we believe that we hawe
adequately assessed and accounted for our potential tax liabilities, and that our tax estimates are reasonable, there can be no certainty that additional
taxes will not be due upon audit of our tax retums or as a result of further changes to the tax laws and interpretations thereof. For example, we are
currently undergoing several indirect tax audits and appealing tentative assessments in Brazil and Loudoun County, Virginia. The final settlement of the
audits and the outcomes of the appeals are uncertain and may not be resolved in our favor. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes
resulting from these examinations and appeals that would affect the adequacy of our tax accruals for each of the reporting periods. If any issues arising
from the tax examinations and appeals are resolved in a manner inconsistent with our expectations, the revision of the estimates of the potential or
actual liabilities could materially impact our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows.

We are and may continue to be party to certain legal and regulatory proceedings with respect to various matters. We evaluate the likelihood of an
unfavorable outcome of all legal and regulatory proceedings to which we are a party. Contingent liabilities are accrued when it is probable that future
expenditures will be made and such expenditures can be reasonably estimated. These judgments are subjective based on the status of the legal or
regulatory proceedings, the merits of our defenses and consultation with in-house and extemal legal counsel. Loss contingencies are generally recorded
in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and legal costs are expensed as incurred and are recorded in general and administrative
expenses in the consolidated statement of operations.

On March 20, 2024, the Company received a subpoena from the U.S. Attomey’s Office for the Northem District of Califomia. On April 30, 2024, the
Company received a subpoena from the Securities and Exchange Commission. The Company is cooperating fully with both govermment agencies.
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On May 2, 2024, a putative stockholder class action was filed against the Company and certain of our officers in the United States District Court for
the Northem District of Califomia. The named plaintiff alleges violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Securities and Exchange Commission
Rule 10b-5, and Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, on the basis that the defendants allegedly made false and misleading statements about our
business, results, intemal controls, and accounting practices between May 3, 2019 and March 24, 2024. The lawsuit seeks, among other relief, a
determination that the alleged claims may be asserted on a class-wide basis, unspecified damages, attomeys' fees, other expenses and costs. We filed
a motion to dismiss the lawsuit on October 10, 2024. The motion was granted in part on January 6, 2025. We intend to continue to defend the lawsuit.

These matters are subject to uncertainties, and we cannot predict the outcome, nor reasonably estimate a range of loss or penalties, if any, relating
to these matters.

In the opinion of management, there are no other pending claims for which the outcome is expected to result in a material adverse effect in the
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Employment Agreements

We hawe entered into a severance agreement with certain of our executive officers that provides for a severance payment equal to 100% of the
executive officer's annual base salary and maximum bonus in the event his or her employment is terminated for any reason other than cause or he or
she voluntarily resigns under certain circumstances as described in the agreement, or 200% of the executive officer's annual base salary and maximum
bonus in the ewent this occurs after a change-in-control of our company. For certain other executive officers, these benefits are only triggered after a
change-in-control of our company, in which case the officer is entitled to 200% of the executive officer's annual base salary and maximum bonus. In
addition, under these agreements, the executive officer is entitled to the payment of his or her monthly health care premiums under the Consolidated
Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act for up to 24 months.

Indemnification and Guarantor Arrangements

As permitted under Delaware law, we have agreements whereby we indemnify our officers and directors for certain events or occurrences while the
officer or director is, or was sening, at our request in such capacity. The term of the indemnification period is for the officer's or director’s lifetime. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, in the event
of a legal action, we have purchased insurance that could limit our exposure, depending upon the details of the claim and the cowerage provided. As a
result, our estimated fair value of these indemnification agreements is minimal. We have no liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31,
2024.

We enter into standard indemnification agreements in the ordinary course of business. Pursuant to these agreements, we may agree to indemnify,
hold harmless, and reimburse the indemnified party for losses suffered or incurred by the indemnified party, generally a business partner or a customer,
in connection with matters such as any U.S. patent, or any copyright or other intellectual property infringement claim by any third party with respect to
our offerings; a breach of confidentiality obligations and certain other contractual warranties; our gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud,
misrepresentation, or violation of law; and/or if we cause tangible property damage, personal injury or death. The term of any such indemnification
agreement is generally perpetual after execution of the agreement. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make
under these indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we have never incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemnification agreements. In addition, in the event of a legal action, we have purchased insurance that could limit our exposure, depending upon the
details of the claim and the cowverage provided. As a result, our estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. We do not hawe significant liabilities
recorded for these agreements as of December 31, 2024.

We enter into arrangements with certain business partners, whereby the business partner agrees to provide senices as a subcontractor for our
installations. Accordingly, we enter into standard indemnification agreements with our customers, whereby we indemnify them for certain acts, such as
personal property damage, by our subcontractors. The maximum potential amount of future payments we could be required to make under these
indemnification agreements is unlimited; however, we hawe newer incurred material costs to defend lawsuits or settle claims related to these
indemnification agreements. In addition, in the event of a legal action, we have purchased insurance that could limit our exposure, depending upon the
details of the claim and the coverage provided. As a
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result, our estimated fair value of these agreements is minimal. We do not hawe significant liabilities recorded for these agreements as of December 31,
2024.

We hawe senice level commitment obligations to certain of our customers. As a result, senice interruptions or significant equipment damage in our
IBX data centers, whether or not within our control, could result in obligations to these customers. While we have purchased insurance that could limit
our exposure, our liability insurance may not be adequate to cover those expenses. In addition, any loss of senice, equipment damage or inability to
meet our senice level commitment obligations could reduce the confidence our customers hawe in us, and could consequently impair our ability to obtain
and retain customers, which would adwersely affect both our ability to generate revenues and our operating results. We generally hawe the ability to
determine such senice lewel credits prior to the associated revenue being recognized. We do not hawe significant liabilities in connection with senice
level credits as of December 31, 2024.

Concurrent with the closing of the EMEA 2 Joint Venture, the EMEA 2 Joint Venture entered into credit facility agreements with a group of lenders
under which it could borrow up to approximately $1.3 billion in total at the exchange rate in effect on December 31, 2024, with such facilities maturing in
2025 and 2026. In connection with our 20% equity investment in the EMEA 2 Joint Venture, we provided the lenders with guarantees covering 20% of all
payments of principal and interest due and payable by the EMEA 2 Joint Venture under these credit facilities, up to a limit of $283 million in total at the
exchange rate in effect on December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2024, the maximum potential amount of our future payments under these
guarantees was approximately $246 million, at the exchange rates in effect on that date. We and our co-investor entered into an ancillary agreement to
allocate funding under the credit facility agreement for use by our AMER 1 Joint Venture. As of December 31, 2024, $9 miillion of the guarantees related
to the AMER 1 Joint Venture. Our estimated fair value of these guarantees is minimal as the likelihood of making a payout under the guarantees is
remote.

15. Related Party Transactions
Joint Venture Related Party Transactions

Concurrent with the closing of the AMER 2 Joint Venture, we entered into a loan agreement (the "AMER 2 Loan") with the AMER 2 Joint Venture, as
a lender, with a maximum commitment of $392 million and a maturity date of April 10, 2028. We received an upfront fee of $4 million in connection with
the origination of the loan, and eam interest at a contractual rate of 10% per annum on the drawn portion plus an unused commitment fee of 0.75% per
annum on the undrawn portion, each payable quarterly. The term of the loan may be extended at the option of the borrower for one additional year
subject to an extension fee, and may be prepaid subject to a penalty if such prepayment occurs within the first 18 months of issuance. The AMER 2
Loan is secured by the assets of the AMER 2 Joint Venture, including the SV12 data center site. The equity partners of the AMER 2 Joint Venture have
provided limited guarantees in connection with the AMER 2 Loan, which require payments to the lender proportionately upon certain occurrences, such
as a shortfall in capital necessary to complete construction or to make interest payments. Additionally, the equity partners may be liable for repayment
of up to the entire debt balance upon the occurrence of certain adverse acts such as a non-permitted transfer of the SV12 data center site. The AMER 2
Loan was negotiated at arm's length. We have assessed the credit risk associated with the AMER 2 Loan to be low and the allowance for credit loss as
of December 31, 2024 is insignificant. The maximum amount of credit loss we are exposed to is the outstanding principal, plus accrued interest and
unused commitment fees. As of December 31, 2024, the total amount outstanding under the AMER 2 Loan, net of the unamortized upfront fee, was
$258 million. Additional amounts may be drawn down by the borrower periodically as needed for the continuation of development and other working
capital needs.

We hawe lease arangements and provide various senices to the EMEA 1 Joint Venture and the VIE Joint Ventures (collectively, the "Joint
Ventures") through multiple agreements, including sales and marketing, development management, facilities management, asset management and
procurement senice agreements. These transactions are generally considered to have been negotiated at arm's length.
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The following table presents the income and expenses from these arrangements with the Joint Ventures in our consolidated statements of
operations (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
Related Party Nature of Transaction 2024 2023 2022
EMEA 1 Joint Venture Income $ 27 $ 29 $ 39
EMEA 1 Joint Venture Expenses (1) 16 18 8
VIE Joint Ventures @) Income @ 257 107 40

™ Primarily consists of rent expenses for a sub-lease agreement with the EMEA 1 Joint Venture for a London data center with a remaining lease term of
approximately 15-years as of December 31, 2024.

@ Expenses from transactions with VIE Joint Ventures were insignificant for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

® Primarily consists of revenues related to lease and senices arrangements as described above and also includes interest income earned on the AVER 2
Loan for the year ended December 31, 2024 of $17 million.

We hawe also sold certain data center facilities to our Joint Ventures and recognized gains or losses on asset sales as described in Note 5.

The following table presents the assets and liabilities from related party transactions with the Joint Ventures in our consolidated balance sheets (in
millions):

EMEA 1 Joint Venture VIE Joint Ventures
As of December 31, As of December 31,
Balance Sheet 2024 2023 2024 2023
Accounts receivable, net $ 4 3 19 % 5 $ 23
Other current assets (1) 19 19 128 43
Property, plant and equipment, net @ 145 97 74 72
Operating lease right-of-use assets 2 2 2 2
Other assets @) — — 302 21
Other current liabilities 5 9 10 6
Finance lease liabilities 164 111 78 75
Operating lease liabilities 2 2 2 2
Other liabilities “) 48 50 11 —

(™ The balance primarily relates to contract assets and other receivables.

@ The balance relates to finance lease right-of-use assets.

3 As of December 31, 2024, the balance primarily relates to the AVER 2 Loan receivable. As of December 31, 2023, the balance primarily relates to contract
assets and other receivables.

4 The balance primarily relates to the obligation to pay for future construction for certain sites sold as a part of the EMEA 1 Joint Venture transaction.

Other Related Party Transactions

]

We hawe seweral significant stockholders and other related parties that are also customers and/or vendors. Our other related party transaction
activity was as follows (in millions):

Years ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Revenues $ 218 $ 310 $ 236
Costs and senices 18 38 59
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As of December 31,
2024 2023
Accounts receivable, net $ 15 $ 33
Accounts payable 4 —

16. Restructuring and Other Exit Activities
Q4 2024 Restructuring Plan

In November 2024, we initiated a restructuring plan to realign the organization and enable further investment in key priority areas (the "Q4 2024
Restructuring Plan"), resulting in costs of $27 million being incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024. The activities under the Q4 2024
Restructuring Plan were substantially completed by December 31, 2024.

Equinix Metal Wind Down

In November 2024, we announced the decision to make Equinix Metal no longer commercially available as a product and to wind down operations
that support this product by June 2026 (the "Equinix Metal Wind Down"). As a result of the Equinix Metal Wind Down, we expect to incur costs of
approximately $10 million to $14 million, with $4 million of these costs incurred during the year ended December 31, 2024. We expect substantially all
costs under this plan to be incurred and paid by the end of the fourth quarter of 2026. The actual amounts and timing of incremental costs and cash
payments may differ from these estimates should we make further decisions which impact the execution of these actiuties. In addition, we recorded an
impairment charge of $160 million associated with the Equinix Metal Wind Down during the year ended December 31, 2024, as described in Note 17.

The following table summarizes costs incurred under the Q4 2024 Restructuring Plan and the Equinix Metal Wind Down, which are included in
restructuring charges in our Consolidated Statements of Operations, during the year ended December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Q4 2024 Equinix Metal Wind
Nature of expense Restructuring Plan Down Total
Sewerance and other employee costs $ 19 $ 4 3 23
Stock-based compensation expense 3 — 3
Other exit costs 5 — 5
Total $ 27 3 4 $ 31

™ Total restructuring charges were incurred in each of our three regions with $21 million in the Americas, $6 million in EMEAand $4 million in Asia-Pacific.

The following table summarizes the activity in our restructuring accrual, included in other current liabilities in our Consolidated Balance Sheets, for
the year ended December 31, 2024 (in millions):

Q4 2024 Equinix Metal Wind
Restructuring Plan Down Total
Beginning balance $ — $ — 3 —
Charges () 24 4 28
Cash payments (11) (2) (13)
Ending balance $ 13 % 2 5 15

™ Excludes stock-based compensation expense which represents non-cash transactions.

We had no restructuring activity during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.
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17. Impairment Charges
Equinix Metal Wind Down

During the fourth quarter of 2024, we identified an indicator that certain assets supporting the sale of our Equinix Metal products may be impaired
due to the Equinix Metal Wind Down as described in Note 16. We evaluated the fair value of the asset group, which consisted primarily of hardware,
intemal-use software, and customer relationships, by determining the fair value in exchange for each class of assets and determined that the carrying
amount exceeded the fair value. The significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimate of fair value include broker estimates and liquidation value
assumptions. These measurements were classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as they are not obsenvable. We recorded impairment charges
of $131 million and $29 million on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, respectively, during the fourth quarter of 2024. These impairment
charges were recorded in each of our three regions with $127 million in the Americas, $19 million in EMEA and $14 miillion in Asia-Pacific.

Hong Kong IBX

During the fourth quarter of 2024, we identified an indicator that an IBX asset group in the Asia-Pacific region may be impaired due to current and
projected future losses at the site. We evaluated the fair value of the asset group, which consisted primarily of operating lease right-of-use assets,
leasehold improvements, and personal property, and determined that the carrying amount exceeded the fair value. The fair value of the right-of-use assets
were determined using the income approach. The significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimates of fair value include market rent and
sublease rental adjustments. The fair values of the leasehold improvements and personal property were determined based on their fair values in
exchange. The significant inputs and assumptions used in the estimate of fair value include broker estimates and liquidation value assumptions. These
measurements were classified within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as they are not obsenable. We recorded impairment charges of $38 million and
$35 million on operating lease right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment, respectively, in the Asia-Pacific region during the fourth quarter of
2024.

18. Segment Information

While we have one primary line of business, which is the design, build-out and operation of IBX data centers, we havwe determined that we have three
reportable segments comprised of our Americas, EMEA and Asia-Pacific geographic regions. Each of our three reportable segments are managed by
regional presidents and require unique strategies due to the varying microeconomic and macroeconomic conditions within each region. Our chief
executive officer is our chief operating decision maker and evaluates performance, makes operating decisions and allocates resources primarily based
on our revenues and adjusted EBITDA, both on a consolidated basis and for these three reportable segments. Intercompany transactions between
segments are excluded for management reporting purposes.

We define adjusted EBITDA, our measure of segment profit or loss, as net income excluding income tax expense, interest income, interest
expense, other income or expense, gain or loss on debt extinguishment, depreciation, amortization, accretion, stock-based compensation expense,
restructuring charges, impairment charges, transaction costs and gain or loss on asset sales. The accounting policies of the three segments are the
same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies, except that segment expenses exclude depreciation, amortization and
accretion expense and stock-based compensation expense, consistent with the definition of adjusted EBITDA.

The following tables present segment information, including revenue information disaggregated by product lines and segment adjusted EBITDA, and
a reconciliation to total consolidated income before income taxes (in millions):

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total
Colocation (1) $ 2474 $ 2235 $ 1,349 $ 6,058
Interconnection 885 340 29 1,519
Managed infrastructure 261 138 68 467
Other (1) 27 99 14 140
Recurring revenues 3,647 2,812 1,725 8,184
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Non-recurring revenues

Total revenues @
Less:
Segment cost of revenues
Other segment items ©)
Segment adjusted EBITDA
Reconciliation to income before income taxes:
Depreciation, amortization and accretion expense
Stock-based compensation expense
Transaction costs
Restructuring charges
Impairment charges
Gain on asset sales
Interest income
Interest expense
Other expense
Loss on debt extinguishment

Income before income taxes

™ Includes some leasing and hedging activities.

215

155

194

3,862

2,967

$

1,919

1,158
995

1,190
399

635
274

1,709

1,378

1,010

(2) Total revenues attributed to the U.S. were $3.3 billion. There was no other country from which we derived revenues that exceeded 10% of our total revenues
and no single customer accounted for 10% or greater of our accounts receivable or revenues as at or for the year ended December 31, 2024.
() Other segment items for each reportable segment are comprised of general and administrative and sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based

compensation expense and depreciation, amortization and accretion expense.

cation (1)
connection

aged infrastructure
(1)

Jming revenues
recurring revenues
| revenues 2
egment cost of revenues
ther segment items ()
nent adjusted EBITDA

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total

2,364 2,$12 1,289 5,765
821 308 266 1,395
250 130 72 452
22 98 13 133
3,457 2,648 1,640 7,745
160 190 93 443
3,61% 2,838 1,738 8,188
1,047 1,199 624 2,870
956 388 272 1,616
1,614 1,251 837 3,702
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nciliation to income before income taxes:

epreciation, amortization and accretion expense (1,844)
tock-based compensation expense (407)
ansaction costs (13)
ain on asset sales 5
terest income 94
terest expense (402)
ther expense (11)
me before income taxes $ 1,124

(™ Includes some leasing and hedging activities.

(2) Total revenues attributed to the U.S. and the United Kingdom were $3.1 billion and $822 million, respectively. There was no other country from which we
derived revenues that exceeded 10% of our total revenues and no single customer accounted for 10% or greater of our accounts receivable or revenues as
at or for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(3) Other segment items for each reportable segment are comprised of general and administrative and sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based
compensation expense and depreciation, amortization and accretion expense.

Year Ended December 31, 2022

Americas EMEA Asia-Pacific Total

cation () $ 2,18% 1,844 1,158 5,083
connection 756 268 244 1,268
aged infrastructure 218 119 78 415
i (1) 21 75 9 105
Jrring revenues 3,183 2,206 1,482 6,871

recurring revenues 166 136 90 392

| revenues @ $ 3,34% 2,342 1,572 7,263
egment cost of revenues 9 866 574 2,434
ther segment items ©) 833 368 258 1,459
nent adjusted EBITDA 1,522 1,108 740 3,370

nciliation to income before income taxes:

gpreciation, amortization and accretion expense (1,740)
tock-based compensation expense (404)
ansaction costs (22)
)SSs on asset sales 4)
terest income 36

terest expense (356)
ther expense (51)
me before income taxes $ 829

™ Includes some leasing and hedging activities.

(2) Total revenues attributed to the U.S. were $2.9 billion. There was no other country from which we derived revenues that exceeded 10% of our total revenues
and no single customer accounted for 10% or greater of our accounts receivable or revenues as at or for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(3) Other segment items for each reportable segment are comprised of general and administrative and sales and marketing expenses, excluding stock-based
compensation expense and depreciation, amortization and accretion expense.
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We provide the following additional segment disclosures for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022

Depreciation and amortization:
Americas $ 1,119 $ 1,001 $ 933
EMEA 530 501 458
Asia-Pacific 360 343 346
Total $ 2,009 $ 1,845 $ 1,737

Capital expenditures:

Americas $ 1,838 $ 1,627 $ 1,139
EMEA 808 77 751
Asia-Pacific 420 437 388
Total $ 3,066 $ 2,781 $ 2,278

Our long-lived assets, including property, plant and equipment, net and operating lease right-of-use assets, were located in the following geographic
regions as of December 31 (in millions):

Property, plant and equipment, net Operating lease right-of-use assets

2024 2023 2024 2023
Americas (1) $ 9,193 $ 8611 $ 389 $ 421
EMEA 6,405 6,321 398 368
Asia-Pacific 3,651 3,669 632 660
Total $ 19,249 $ 18,601 $ 1,419 $ 1,449

™ Property, plant and equipment, net of $7.2 billion and $6.7 billion and operating lease right-of-use assets of $368 million and $398 million were located in
the U.S. as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

19. Subsequent Events
Declaration of dividends

On February 12, 2025, we declared a quarterly cash dividend of $4.69 per share, which is payable on March 19, 2025 to our common stockholders
of record as of the close of business on February 26, 2025.
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Americas:

AT1 ATLANTA (MVETRO)
AT4 ATLANTA (MVETRO)
BG1 BOGOTA (VETRO),
COLOVBIA

BG2 BOGOTA (VETRO),
COLOVBIA

BO2 BOSTON (MVETRO)
CH1 CHCAGO (MVETRO)
CH2 CHCAGO
CH3 CHCAGO
CH4 CHCAGO
CH? CHCAGO (METRO)
QL1 CALGARY (METRO),
CANADA

L

METRO

—— o~ —
\_gv

G2 CALGARY (METRO),
CANADA

QL3 CALGARY (MVETRO),
CANADA

DA11 DALLAS (METRO)

INFOVART BULDING DALLAS
(METRO)

DC3 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)
DCA WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO
DC5 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)
DO6 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)
DC7 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

EQUINIX, INC.
Schedule Il - Schedule of Real Estate and Accumulated Depreciation
As of December 31, 2024
(in millions)

Costs Capitalized

Subsequerll_te to Acquisition or

Initial Costs to Company ase @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?s?tign or
Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements @  Depreciation Lease ®

$— $— $— $— $309 $— $309 $(116) 2010
— 5 20 — 31 5 51 (21) 2017
— — 9 1 1 1 20 ®) 2017
— 4 — — 4% 4 46 ©) —
— 3 30 (1) 44 2 74 (25) 2017
— — — — 122 — 122 (90) 1999
— — — — 90 — 20 (37) 2005
— 10 — — 357 10 357 (184) 2006
— — — — 148 — 148 (32) 2009
— 1 11 — 11 1 22 9) 2017
— 12 — 6 18 ©) 2020
— 14 = 3 17 9) 2020
— 7 69 — 55 7 124 (25) 2020
— 1 38 — 7 1 45 (24) 2017
— 1 48 — 17 1 65 (30) 2017
— 1 37 — 16 1 53 (23) 2017
— 1 28 — 39 1 67 (22) 2017
— — — — 74 — 74 (45) 2000
— — — — 84 — 84 (43) 2010
— — — — 103 — 103 (53) 2010
— — — — 18 — 18 (13) 2010
— — 21 — 191 — 212 (76) 2012
— — — — 33 — 33 (25) 2015
— 1 15 — 9 1 24 (11) 2017
— — — 69 440 69 440 (48) 2018

24 338 4 U 28 372 (74) 2018
. _ _ - 6 _ 6 4) 1999
— — — 5 191 5 191 (L) e
— — 37 — 57 — % (©2) 2004
- 2 7 — 42 2 49 (30) 2005
— 1 5 — 47 1 52 (29) 2005
— 1 5 — 9% 1 100 (67) 2005
o . . o 18 . 18 (17) 2010
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DC10 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DC11 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO

DC12 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DC13 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DC14 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO

DC15 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DC16 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DC21 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO

DC97 WASHNGTON, D.C.
(METRO)

DE1 DENVER (METRO)
DE2 DENVER (METRO)
HO1 HOUSTON (METRO)
KA1 KAMLOOPS (VETRO),
CANADA

LA1LOS ANGALES
LA2 LOS ANGHLES

MX1 MEXICO CITY (MVETRO),
VEXICO

NY 13 NEA YORK (METRO)

Costs Capitalized

Subsequent to Acquisition or

Initial Costs to Company Lease @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?siti?)n or
Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements ®  Depreciation Lease ®
. _ e _ o _ - (101) 2011
— 1 5 — 189 1 194 (98) 2005
— — 102 — 8 — 186 {22 2L
— 6 25 — 2 6 54 (23) 2017
— 3 3 — 19 3 53 &) U
— 2 — 2 210 4 210 (45) 2018
. _ _ . " . a1 (1) 2022
- 2 — — 324 2 324 @7 2019
. _ B . . . = ?) 2017
— — — — 1 — 1 ) 2010
— 2 — 37 60 @n 2017
— 1 24 — 38 1 62 (25) 2017
— — — — 112 — 112 (88) 1999
— — — — 1 — 1 (10) 2000
— — 35 4 2 4 57 (52) 2005
— 19 138 — 63 19 201 (105) 2009
— 8 4 — 58 8 ) (29) 2017
— 5 9 — 5 5 14 ) 2022
— 19 127 — 218 19 5 (120) 2017
— — — — 2 — 2 (18) 2010
— — — — 35 — 35 @n 2012
— 23 — 14 5 37 (17) 2017
— — 3 — 12 — 15 @ 2020
— — 77 4 72 3 149 C) 2020
— 3 58 _ 37 3 % (13) 2022
— 1 54 — 53 1 107 2) 2020
— 1 16 — 118 1 134 (14) 2020
— — — — 75 — 75 (56) 1999
— — — 18 209 18 209 (144) 2000
— — — 38 391 38 391 (15) 2022
— — — — 387 — 387 (243) 2006
- - - - 324 — 324 (139) 2010
— — — — 104 — 104 (34) 2010
- - 25 - 149 - 174 (141) 2010
— — — — 59 — 59 32 2010
- 2 59 - 141 2 200 (44) 2017
— — 32 8 7 8 39 (25) 2017
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OT1 OTTAWA (VETRO),
CANADA

P PHLADE_PHA (METRO)
RJ1 RO DE JANBRO (METRO),
BRAZIL

RJ2 RIO DE JANERO (METRO),
BRAZIL

RJ3 RIO DE JANHRO (METRO),
BRAZIL

SE2 SEATTLE (METRO)
SE3 SEATILE (METRO)
SE4 SEATTLE (METRO)
SJ1 SAINT JOHN (VETRO),
CANADA

SP1 SA0 PAULO (VETRO),
BRAZIL

SP2 SA0 PAULO (VETRO),
BRAZIL

(VETRO),
(VETRO),

SP3 SAOPAULO
BRAZIL

SP4 SAOPAULO
BRAZIL

ST1 SANTIAGO (METRO)

ST2 SANTIAGO (METRO), CHLE
ST3 SANTIAGO (METRO)

SV10 SILICON VALLEY
(VETRO)

SV11 SLICONVALLEY
(VETRO)

SV14 SILICONVALLEY
(METRO)

SV15 SILICON VALLEY
(VETRO)

SV16 SILICON VALLEY
(METRO)

SV17 SILICON VALLEY
(VETRO)

TR1 TORONTO (VETRO),
CANADA

TR2 TORONTO (VETRO),
CANADA

TR4 TORONTO (VETRO),
CANADA

TRS MARKHAM (VETRO),
CANADA

TR6 BRAMPTON (VETRO),
CANADA

TR7 BRAMPTON (VETRO),
CANADA

VA1 BURNABY (METRO),
CANADA

Wi WINNIPEG (VETRO),
CANADA

OTHERS ®

Costs Capitalized

Subsequerli_teto Acquisition or
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Initial Costs to Company ase @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?sitign or

Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Depreciation Lease ©
1 39 _ 3 1 42 (11) 2020
— — — 45 — 45 (28) 2010
_ _ _ 20 _ 20 (16) 2011
— 2 1 85 1 87 (31) 2012
o) 49 — — & 49 - 2018
— — — 31 — 31 (28) 2010
— 2 — 102 — 104 (83) 2011
4 13 — 85 4 98 (23) 2017
— 14 — 2 _ 16 (4) 2020
_ 10 _ 2% _ U (23) 201
_ _ 3 48 3 48 (34) 2011
7 73 — 172 7 245 (72) 2017
— 2 6 2 6 114 £3) 2
2 25 — 13 2 38 (6) 2022
2 12 — 38 2 50 3) 2022
1 10 — 9 1 19 (4) 2022
— 5 — 7 — 12 2) 2022
— — 16 153 16 153 (113) 1999
— — — 161 — 161 (120) 2003
— — 82 — 82 (51) 1999
— — — 113 — 113 (43) 2005
6 9 — 109 6 208 (118) 2010
— — — 158 — 158 (61) 2010
13 124 — 97 13 21 (79) 217
— _ _ 235 _ 25 (28) 2019
4 6 — 4 4 10 ®) 2017
8 23 _ 7 8 30 (15) 2017
4 15 _ 4 4 19 (10) 2017
_ 17 _ 3 _ 20 (19) 2017
_ _ _ 81 _ 81 (39) 2010
— 21 o 145 o 166 (50) 2015
_ 14 _ 4 _ 18 (14) 2020
_ 25 _ 2 _ 27 (14) 2020
9 59 2 o7 11 156 (15) 2020
9 72 — 28 9 100 (29) —
_ 5 _ 6 _ 1 (5) 2020
_ 57 _ 6 _ 63 (8) 2020

87 55 154 337 241 392 (70) Various
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Costs Capitalized
Subsequent to Acquisition or

Initial Costs to Company Lease @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?sitign or
Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Depreciation @ Lease ®

BVIEA:
AB1 ABIDJAN (VETRO), COTE _ —
BN : - - 1 5 6 (1) 2022
AC1 ACCRA (METRO), GHANA — — 1 — 7 — 8 2 2022
AD1 ABU DHABI (VETRO), _ _ _ _ —
UNTED ARAB RATES) 76 76 (34) 2017
_IA_|_|\|/IE1 AMSTERDAM(METRO), — — — — 85 — 85 (53) 2008
% AMSTERDAM(METRO), — — — — 78 — 78 (39) 2008
%_I\l/EBANS'I'ERDAM METRO), — — 27 — 121 — 148 (79) 2011
% AMSTERDAM (METRO), — — — — 206 — 206 (64) 2016
%_I\l/EBANS'I'ERDAM METRO), _ — 92 — 8 — 100 (46) 2016
%_I\l/EBANS'I'ERDAM METRO), _ 7 51 — 91 7 142 (50) 2016
%_I\l/EV AMSTERDAM (METRO), _ _ 7 3 153 3 160 (49) 2016
%_I\l/EBANS'I'ERDAM METRO), — — — — 12 — 12 (8) 2016
%_I\E'] ANSTERDAM(NEIRO), — — 6 — 13 — 19 (7 2019
géA1 BARCELO\IA (METRO), — — 9 — 28 — 37 (25) 2017
éléZPAIEARCE_O\IA (METRO), — 8 52 — — 8 52 — 2021
E&ﬁ&mux (METRO), _ 2 4 — 95 2 99 (6) 2020
DB1 DUBLIN (METRO), IRELAND — — — 3 25 3 25 (6) 2016
DB2 DUBLIN (METRO), IRELAND — — 12 1 21 1 33 (16) 2016
DB3 DUBLIN (METRO), IRELAND — 3 54 — 25 3 79 (35) 2016
DB4 D:BLIN(NEI'R(J) IRELAND — — 27 7 20 7 47 (16) 2016
DU1 IJJSSELDG?F(NEI'RO), _ — — 7 4 7 34 (19) 2000
DX1 IJBA NEFRO
ARAB EM ), INTED - — — — 96 = 9% (66) 2008
DX2 DUBAI NEI'RO, _ _ — — —
ARAB EMIRATES ) 1 1 (1) 2017
DX3 DUBAI (VETRO), UNITED _ — —
ARAB EVIRATES v 74 7 74 (5) 2020
BNt EI\SO-,\E[%E(NEI'RO), THE _ _ — — 39 — 39 (25) 2008
FR2 FRA;WMFLRF (VETRO), = — — 17 582 17 582 (207) 2007
FR4 FRANYI\KFLRT(NEI'RO), — 11 9 . 102 1 111 (51) 2009
FR5 FRANKFURT (VETRO),

W ( ) 30 — — . o 13 252 (82) 2012
FR6 FRANKFURT (MVETRO),
AR ( ) — — — _ 133 — 133 (54) 2016
FR7 FRANYI\mRT (METRO), _ — 44 . 47 — 91 (47) 2016
FR8 FRANKFURT (VETRO),
AAEANY ( ) — 19 58 _ 172 19 230 (17) 2020
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Costs Capitalized
Subsequent to Acquisition or

Initial Costs to Company Lease @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acquias?tign or
Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements ©  Depreciation® Lease ®

FR13 FRANKFURT (VETRO),
GERVANY ( ) - — - — 105 - 105 ®) 2021
G\1 GENOA (VETRO), ITALY — — 2 — 20 — 2 1) 2020
GV1 GENEVA (VETRO),
STIEREARD ) - - - — 27 - z (16) 2004
G2 CENEYA (VETFO), _ _ _ B - — 83 (33) 2009
HE3 I-E_SII\KI(NEI'RO), FINLAND — — — — 16 — 16 (1) 2016
HE4 HELSINKI (VETRO), FINLAND — — 29 — 6 — 35 (28) 2016
HES HELSINKI (VETRO), FINLAND — — 8 5 19 5 27 (1) 2016
HE5 HELSINKI (VETRO), FINLAND — — 17 1 38 1 55 (23) 2016
HE7 HELSINKI (VETRO), FINLAND — 7 7 1 66 8 73 (16) 2018
HH1 HAVBURG (METRO), — 4 5 _ 7 4 7 (13) 2018
IL2 ISTANBUL (VETRO), TURKEY — 14 39 — 73 14 112 (24) 2017
IL4 ISTANBUL (VETRO), TURKEY — — 60 — 2 — 62 ) 2017
JN1 JOHANNESBURG (VETRO
ARG e ) - - - - 5 - 5 - 2024
L3 LONDON (METRO), UNITED
Kncoon - (VETFO) - - - — 2 - 2 (7 2000
LD4 LONDON (METRO), UNITED
el ), — — 23 . o — 189 (83) 2007
LD5 LONDON UNTED
120 LDON (VETRO), — — 16 . 205 — 21 (121) 2010
LD6 LONDON (METRO), UNITED
e ( ), — — — _ 159 = 159 (67) 2013
LD7 LONDON UNTED
Koo VETFO) - - - 2 291 2 21 (56) 2018
LD8 LONDON (VETRO), UNITED
Faary T ), — — 108 = e 57 334 (75) 2016
LD9 LONDON (METRO), UNITED _ _ _
LD0 LNDON( ) 181 . o 423 (142) 2016
LD10 LONDON (VETRO), UNTED
I Do ) — — 40 . e — 278 (50) 2017
LG1 & LG2 LAGOS (MVETRO),
Ny ( ) _ 1 12 _ 3 1 50 8) 2022
LS1 LISBON (MVETRO),
FORTA ) - - 7 3 % 3 4“ © 2017
VA1 MANCHESTER (VETRO),

W ( ) — — — . 21 — 21 (12) 2016
VA3 MANOHESTER (VETRO),
R KEo ) - - 45 — 2 - 67 (38) 2016
VA4 MANCHESTER (VETRO),
UNTED KD T - - 7 — 1 — 18 (1) 2016
A5 MANCHESTER (VETRO),
jliore =2 ( ) = 4 7 _ 131 4 138 (13) 2020
VD1 MADRD (VETRO), SPAN — — 8 — 9 — 17 ©) 2017
VD2 MADRD (VETRO), SPAN — — M 19 103 19 144 (56) 2017
VDS MADRD (VETRO), SPAN — — — — 4 — 2 @) 2022
M2 MLAN (VETRO), ITALY — — — — 27 — 27 1) 2016
VL3 MLAN (VETRO), TALY — — — 3 45 3 45 (19) 2016
ML5 MLAN (VETRO), ITALY — 6 21 — 105 6 126 (16) 2019
MU1 MUNICH (VETRO),
A MO ) — — — . . — 35 (23) 2007
U3 MUNICH (VETRO),
S vt ) - - - — 6 - 6 “ 2010
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MHA MUNICH (METRO),
GERVANY

PA2 & PA3 PARS (METRO),
FRANCE

PA4 PARS (VETRO), FRANCE
PAS5 PARS (VETRO), FRANCE
PAG PARS (VETRO), FRANCE
PA7 PARS (VETRO), FRANCE
PA10 PARS (METRO), FRANCE
SK1 STOCKHOLM (VETRO),
SWEDEN

SK2 STOCKHOLM (METRO),
SWEDEN
SK3 STOCKHOLM (METRO),
SWEDEN

SO1 SOFIA (MVETRO),
BULGARA

SO2 SOFIA (MVETRO),
BULGARA

WA1 WARSAW (VETRO),
POLAND

WA2 WARSAW (VETRO),
POLAND

WA3 WARSAW (VETRO),
POLAND

ZH2 ZURICH '\%\/E RO),
SWITZERLA

ZHA ZURICH '\%\/EI'RO),
SWITZERLA

ZH5 ZURICH '\BNEI'RO),
SWITZERLA

ZW1 ZWOLLE (METRO), THE
NETHERLANDS

OTHERS ©

Asia-Pacific:

AE1 ADH AIDE (VETRO),
AUSTRALIA

BR1 BRISBANE (METRO),
AUSTRALIA

CA1 CANBERRA (VETRO),
AUSTRALIA

HK1 HONG KONG (METRO),
CHNA

HK2 HONG KONG (METRO),
CHNA

HK3 HONG KONG (METRO),
CHNA

HK4 HONG KONG (METRO),
CHNA

HK5 HONG KONG (METRO),
CHNA

JH1 JOHOR (METRO),

MALAYSIA

KL1 KUALA LUVPUR (METRO),
MALAYSIA

MB1 MUVBAI (METRO), INDIA
VB2 MUVBAI (METRO), INDIA
VB4 MUVBAI (METRO), INDIA
VE1 VH BOURNE (METRO),
AUSTRALIA

VE2 VH BOURNE (MVETRO),
AUSTRALIA

VE4 VH BOURNE (VETRO),
AUSTRALIA

Costs Capitalized

Subsequent to Acquisition or

Initial Costs to Company Lease @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?sitign or

Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements ®  Depreciation Lease ®
— 1 35 _ 83 1 118 (12) 2020
— — 30 2 314 21 344 (158) 2007
— 1 10 — 225 1 235 (110) 2011
— — 17 — 9 — 26 (12) 2016
— — — — 89 — 89 (48) 2016
— — — — 30 — 30 (22) 2016
— — — — 166 — 166 (12) 2021
— — 15 _ 53 — 68 (19) 2016
— — 80 3 61 3 141 (50) 2016
— — — . 48 — 48 (12) 2016
— — 5 _ 4 — 9 (5) 2016
— ) — _ 27 3 27 (5) 2017
— — 6 _ 2% — 32 (18) 2016
— — 5 _ 10 — 15 (8) 2016
— 2 — 1 67 3 67 (11) 2017
— — — _ 6 — 6 (5) 2002
— — 11 o 56 — 67 (40) 2009
= = = 8 253 8 253 (63) 2009
— — —_ . 1 —_ 1 (10) 2008

— 56 18 272 381 328 399 (46) Various
— 2 1 o 3 2 4 2) 2018
— 5 1 o 4 & 5 2 2018
e — 18 o 5 — 23 (6) 2018
- - - — 327 = 327 (148) 2003
— — — . 244 — 244 (202) 2010
— — — . 191 — 191 (122) 2012
— — —_ o 10 —_ 10 — 2012
— — 70 o 48 — 118 (47) 2017
— 3 37 o 5 3 42 (1) 2024
— — 31 _ 15 — 46 2) 2023
— — 26 — 8 — 34 9) 2021
— — 57 18 (11) 18 46 (12) 2021
— — 18 — 1 — 19 2) 2024
— 13 — _ 89 13 89 (38) 2013
— — — _ 128 — 128 (21) 2018
— & 84 _ 4 & 88 (36) 2018
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Costs Capitalized Subsequent

Initial Costs to Company to Acquisition or Lease @ Total Costs
Date of
Buildings and Buildings and Buildings and Accumulated Acqu?siti?)n or

Encumbrances Land Improvements © Land Improvements © Land Improvements ®  Depreciation Lease ®
VE5 VELBOURNE (VETRO),
NES VL BOURNE( ) — 6 4 _ 8 6 12 ) 2018
0S1 OSAKA (VETRO), JAPAN — — 15 — 78 — 93 (51) 2013
0S3 OSAKA (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 190 — 190 (42) 2020
PE1 PERTH (VETRO),
SN ) — 1 1 - B 1 4 ) 2018
PE2 PERTH (VETRO),
VRN ) — — 16 o 15 — 31 (13) 2018
PE3 PERTH (VETRO),
S ) — — — - o5 — 55 (11 2020
SG1 SINGAPORE (VETRO) — — — — 297 — 297 (156) 2003
SG2 SINGAPORE (VETRO) — — — — 342 — 342 (265) 2008
SG3 SINGAPORE (VETRO) — — 35 — 250 — 285 (116) 2013
SG4 SINGAPORE (VETRO) — — 55 — 154 — 209 (56) 2019
SG5 SINGAPORE (VETRO) — — — — 348 — 18 (61) 2019
SH2 SHANGHAI (VETRO),
S ( ) — — — . g — 8 6) 2012
SH3 SHANGHAI (VETRO),
by ( ) — — 7 . 1 — 21 (10) 2012
SH5 SHANGHAI (VETRO),
SR ( ) — — 11 . o — 36 (22) 2012
SHB SHANGHAI (VETRO),
by ( ) — — 17 . u — 51 (15) 2017
SL1 SEOUL (METRO), SOUTH
o ) — — 29 . o — 56 (28) 2019
SL4 SEOUL (METRO), SOUTH
REREEOUL ( ) — — 2 . 5 — 27 &) 2024
SY1 SYDNEY (METRO),
AT VEFO) - - - 73 38 3 3 29 2003
SY2 SYDNEY (METRO),
AUSTRALIA ( ) - - 3 _ 24 — 27 (22) 2008
SY3 SYDNEY (METRO),
ATRAA ¢ ) - - 9 — 128 - 157 (5) 2010
SY4 SYDNEY (METRO),
AUSTRAIA ¢ ) - — - — 162 - 162 (80) 2014
SY5 SYDNEY (METRO),
e ) — 72 — - 3 72 343 (45) 2018
SY6 SYDNEY (METRO),
MEYEY ( ) — 8 64 o % 8 100 (22) 2018
SY7 SYDNEY (METRO),
RILaRE ) — 2 47 - 5 2 49 (14) 2018
TY1 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 28 — 28 (20) 2000
TY2 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 100 — 100 (54) 2006
TY3 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 56 — 56 (38) 2010
TY4 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 63 — 63 (39) 2012
TY5 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — — — 45 — 45 (15) 2014
TY6 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — 38 — 13 — 51 (42) 2015
TY7 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — 13 — 11 — 24 (16) 2015
TY8 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — 54 — 10 — 64 (34) 2015
TY9 TOKYO (METRO), JAPAN — — 93 — — — 93 (74) 2015
TY10 TOKYO (METRO),
e ( ) — — 66 . ’ — 67 (32) 2015
TY11 TOKYO (METRO),
PE ( ) — — 2 . 207 — 229 (45) 2018
TY15 TOKYO (METRO),
ST ( ) _ _ 109 _ - — 220 ) 2024
OTHERS © — — 2 76 225 76 227 (27) Various
TOTAL LOCATIONS $30 $590 $5,053 $1,072 $21,194 $1,662 $26,247 $(9,639)
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() Theinitial cost was $0 if the lease of the respective IBXwas classified as an operating lease.
@ Costs capitalized subsequent to acquisition or lease are net of impairments and include the impact of allocations between land and buildings and
improvements following the purchase of previouslyleased assets.
Building and improvements include all fixed assets except for land.
Buildings and improvements are depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful live as described in Note 1 within the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
Date of lease or acquisition represents the date we leased the facility or acquired the facility through purchase or acquisition.
Includes various IBXs that are under initial development and costs incurred at certain central locations supporting various IBX functions.

S

clc!

The aggregate gross cost of our properties for federal income tax purpose approximated $34.0 billion (unaudited) as of December 31, 2024.

The following table reconciles the historical cost of our properties for financial reporting purposes for each of the years ended December 31, 2024,
2023 and 2022 (in millions):

2024 2023 2022
Gross Fixed Assets:
Balance, beginning of period $ 26,614 $ 23,803 $ 21,906
Additions (including acquisitions and improvements) 3,266 3,117 3,251
Disposals (626) (589) (544)
Impairment charges (1) (302) — —
Foreign currency transaction adjustments and others (1,043) 283 (810)
Balance, end of year $ 27,909 $ 26614 $ 23,803
Accumulated Depreciation:
Balance, beginning of period $ (9,089) $ (8,095) $ (7,275)
Additions (depreciation expense) (1,413) (1,317) (1,268)
Disposals 317 413 230
Impairment charges (1) 186 — —
Foreign currency transaction adjustments and others 360 (90) 218
Balance, end of year $ (9.639) $ (9,089) $ (8,095)

(1) Refer to Note 17 within the Consolidated Financial Statements.



